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COMPANY PROFILE
/NS bl

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (collectively refer to as the “Group”
or “We”), is one of the largest private provider of higher
education in China. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
enrollment of 65,496 students in aggregate and employed 4,353
employees in aggregate.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group owned and operated ten
schools in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”),
six of them are higher education schools, namely Chongging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology, Dianchi
College of Yunnan University, Pass College of Chongging
Technology and Business University, Chongqing Vocational
College of Applied Technology, Inner Mongolia Fengzhou
Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) and Chongging
Electronic Information College; two of them are secondary
vocational schools, namely Laoling Minsheng Secondary
Vocational School and Laoling Secondary Vocational and
Technical School which has been managed and operated
under an entrustment management arrangement; and two of
them are high schools, namely Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng
Education Group. Through these schools, the Group primarily
offer formal higher education, including formal undergraduate
education and junior college education.

Through over 10 years of operation in the field of formal higher
education, we believe that we have established a strong
reputation in the relevant parts of China, which helps us attract
high-quality students and teachers and pave the way for our
success. We intend to maintain and strengthen our market
position in the formal higher education industry in China.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NYER
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MATION (Continued)

LEGAL ADVISOR

As to Hong Kong law:

Luk & Partners

In Association with Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

TC Capital International Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

PRC

Room 301, Full Tower

No. 9 Dongsanhuan Zhonglu
Chaoyang District

Beijing, PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
RTEH(#)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3202A, 32/F., Tower 1, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway Road

Admiralty

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Chongging Heyang Branch

STOCK CODE

1569

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.minshengedu.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
VBBE

AEERBEREMBFENLEECEER
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A summary of the audited results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

below:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 WEG{VI=Kl]
ARET T ARBTE AR®ETT AR®TT PGLERES
Revenue Wz 402,515 426,317 444 997 477,780 623,143
Cost of revenue U 25 A AR (146,811)  (164,653) (186,391) (199,092) (289,775)
Gross profit EF 255,704 261,664 258,606 278,688 333,368
Profit before tax FR 75 Al s A 222,266 246,679 251,358 262,962 348,276
Profit for the year FE = 196,327 213,457 249,749 260,847 332,828
As at 31 December
R12A318

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000 WGLVI=Kl]
ARET T ARBTE AR®TT AR®TTI PGLERPS
Non-current assets EREEE 943,523 970,711 1,067,152 1,761,935 5,046,451
Current assets MENVEE 1,357,314 1,038,757 1,156,718 2,459,910 1,578,021
Current liabilities nENBE 320,349 354,157 520,943 773,755 1,507,081
Net current assets mEVEEFE 1,036,965 684,600 635,775 1,686,155 70,940

Total assets less BEERRBEE
current liabilities 1,980,488 1,655,311 1,702,927 3,448,090 5,117,391
Non-current liabilities  FERBIAE 62,775 236,370 132,015 301,407 1,587,996
Net assets BEFE 1,917,713 1,418,941 1,570,912 3,146,683 3,529,395
Total equity farER 1,917,713 1,418,941 1570,912 3,146,683 3,529,395

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Minsheng Education Group Company Limited,
| am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Period”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2018 has been a fruitful year for the Group and
the management team as the Group has been expanding its
school network and numbers of student through investment
and acquisition of school in China and overseas. During year
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ETRRE (8)

2018, the Group announced the acquisition of four schools,
namely Shouguang Bohai Experimental School, Dianchi College
of Yunnan University (“Dianchi College”), Hebei University
of Technology City College and Qufu Fareast Vocational and
Technical College (“Fareast College”). During the Reporting
Period, the transactions in relation to Shouguang Bohai
Experimental School and Dianchi College were completed
and were fully takenover, and their financial results have
been consolidated in the financial results of the Group under
the prevailing accounting principles. Furthermore, during the
Reporting Period, the first batch of students enrolled by Laoling
Minsheng Secondary Vocational School and Laoling Senior
High School Affiliated with Minsheng Education Group (both
of which were invested in and established by the Company)
commenced the school year in September 2018. In terms of
overseas expansion, In May 2018, we (as the cornerstone
investor) have invested in Top Education Group Ltd. (Stock
Code: 1752), a private higher education provider in Australia
offering accredited undergraduate and postgraduate award
courses in business and law, which was listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 11 May 2018. Our total
student enrollment increased from 41,120 as at 31 December
2017 to 65,496 as at 31 December 2018. Our revenue has
increased from approximately RMB477.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB623.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and profit of the year
increased from approximately RMB260.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB332.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PROSPECTS

Going forward, with a series of policies and documents in
favour to the higher education segment promulgated by the
PRC government, we intend to further expand our school
network coverage, with an aim to promote the integration of
enterprises into vocational schools and universities. We aim to
achieve such goal by carefully selecting suitable acquisition
targets and/or establishing new schools. Meanwhile, we intend
to expand the scale of our business operations in the existing
schools and diversify our revenue primarily through optimizing
major offerings, offering undergraduate studies to graduates

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ITRES(E)

of junior college programs, upon the approvals from the
relevant government authorities. Leveraging on the extensive
experience accumulated in the education industry and with its
aim at cultivating sophisticated talents with application-oriented
skills, the Group will strengthen the integration of enterprises
with vocational schools and universities and deepen school-
enterprise cooperation by taking advantage of the opportunities
brought by governmental policies, and further expand the
Group’s school network and student number through mergers
and acquisitions of quality undergraduate schools and higher
vocational junior colleges.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank our management and all the staff of the
Group for their loyalty and dedication. | would also like to thank
our shareholders and business partners for their trust and
confidence in the Board and management of the Group. With
the concerted efforts of all staffs, | believe the business of the
Group will continue to thrive and generate greater return for our
shareholders.

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

=R PRl

»v
BUS

ESS OVERVIEW

Our primary focus is to provide high-quality private higher
education and vocational education in China dedicated
to nurturing application-oriented professionals. We offer a
comprehensive range of diverse majors and courses, including
through our collaborative relationships and cooperative
education programs with local businesses and government
agencies, through which we strive to improve our students’
theoretical literacy, practical technique and career prospects
As a result, we have achieved high graduate employment rates
for our graduates from the schools we own and/or operate. We
attribute the relatively high graduate employment rates to the
effectiveness of our education programmes, which we believe
will continue to elevate our brand reputation and help us attract
talented students.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 BB SR ER A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

On 22 March 2017, the Company launched a public offering
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), becoming the first listed private higher education
group in China. The Company is one of the largest private
higher education providers in China, as measured by total
number of student enrollment. Benefitting from the continuous
implementation of external mergers and acquisitions, the
Group had enrollment of 65,496 students in aggregate as at 31
December 2018, representing a significant increase of 59.28%
as compared with that as at 31 December 2017. The Group
currently manages and/or operates 10 schools, in addition
to the five existing schools operated in Chongging and Inner
Mongolia, the PRC, the Group has acquired or agreed to
acquire new schools in Yunnan, Shandong and Hebei in 2018,
further increasing the number of the Group’s schools and
expanding the Group’s coverage. Our 10 school include:

(i) Six higher education schools — Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology, Dianchi College of
Yunnan University, Pass College of Chongqging Technology
and Business University, Chongqging Vocational College
of Applied Technology, Chongging Electronic Information
College and Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College
(Qingcheng Branch);

(i) Two secondary vocational schools - Laoling Minsheng
Secondary Vocational School and Laoling Secondary
Vocational and Technical School which has been managed
and operated under an entrustment management
arrangement; and

(i) Two high schools - Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with
Minsheng Education Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS REVIEW DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the Group gained significant
achievement in terms of external mergers and acquisitions,
investment in and establishment of new schools and expansion
of financing channels, which have laid down a solid foundation
for the future development of the Group.

1. Mergers and Acquisitions

The Group mainly adopts a merger and acquisition strategy
to achieve its goal of growth. During the Reporting Period,
the Group announced the acquisition of four schools,
namely Shouguang Bohai Experimental School, Dianchi
College, Hebei University of Technology City College
and Fareast College. During the Reporting Period, the
transactions in relation to Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Dianchi College of Yunnan University were
completed and were fully takenover, and their financial
results have been consolidated in the financial results of
the Group under the prevailing accounting principles.

Please refer to the sections headed “Acquisition
Completed during the Reporting Period” and “Acquisition
in Progress during the Reporting Period” in this annual
report for details.

2. Investment in and Establishment of New Schools

During the Reporting Period, the first batch of students
enrolled by Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School
and Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng
Education Group (both of which were invested in and
established by the Company) commenced the school year
in September 2018.

In May 2018, we (as the cornerstone investor) have
invested in Top Education Group Ltd. (Stock Code: 1752),
a private higher education provider in Australia offering
accredited undergraduate and postgraduate award
courses in business and law, which was listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 11 May 2018.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BERESHmR DT (8)

Please refer to the section headed “Investments in and
Newly Established Schools during the Reporting Period” in
this annual report for details.

3. Expansion of Financing Channels

On 23 August 2018, the Company entered into the
comprehensive strategic cooperation agreement with
The Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Chongging Branch (“ICBC”) in order to build a long-
term and stable comprehensive strategic cooperation
relationship between ICBC and the Company. Subject to
credit approval, ICBC intends to provide the Company
with the indicative overall financing credit of no less than
RMB10 billion in the next three years.

On 28 December 2018, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with CICC Capital
Management Co., Ltd. regarding an education industry
merger and acquisition fund. Both parties intend to
cooperate with each other via the merger and acquisition
fund with a total size of approximately RMB10 billion which
is to be raised in four phases.

Please refer to the section headed “Expansion of Financing
Channels during the Reporting Period” in this annual report
for details.

ACQUISITION COMPLETED DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Dianchi College of Yunnan University

Dianchi College is an independent college located in Yunnan,
the PRC, offering undergraduate courses. As at 31 December
2018, there were 18,948 students enrolled in Dianchi College.
According to the Notice of the Yunnan Provincial Department
of Education on the 13th Five-Year Plan for the Development
of Ordinary Higher Education Scales issued by the Yunnan
Provincial Department of Education on 13 January 2017, the
Yunnan Provincial Department of Education has set a “Goal
Guidance of Development Scale for General Higher Education
2020 (B @™ £ 520204 # £ % & 75 8 B 1%)” for Dianchi
College which shall target to reach 28,000 students in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

On 20 August 2018, Minsheng Vocational Education Company
Limited (“Minsheng Vocational”’), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and with the relevant vendors entered
into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition of 51% of the issued
share capital of Leed International Education Group Inc.
(“Leed International”) (the “Acquisition”), pursuant to which
Minsheng Vocational conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
relevant vendors conditionally agreed to sell 51% of the share
capital of Leed International at the consideration of RMB582.5
million equivalent USD. The consideration was mainly financed
by the internal resources of the Group. In addition to the
consideration, pursuant to the terms of the Share Purchase
Agreement, Minsheng Vocational shall be responsible to repay
on behalf of Leed International a debt in the amount of the USD
equivalent of RMB231.0 million to a third party.

Further, on 20 August 2018, Leed International, Minsheng
Vocational and the relevant vendors entered into an entrustment
agreement, pursuant to which Minsheng Vocational would be
entrusted to manage, among others, Leed International and
its subsidiaries in certain aspects, and the remaining 49% of
the issued share capital of Leed International (the “Equity
Entrustment Agreement’), with effect from the date of
completion of the Share Purchase Agreement.

As a condition precedent to the payment of the first instalment
of the consideration, on 20 August 2018, among others,
Minsheng Vocational, Chongaging Huizhi Education Services
Company Limited* (EEEE# B R%BER Q7)) (“Chongqing
Huizhi”), Yunnan Dianjiao Asset Management Company
Limited* (EEEH & E & 2 A R 2 7)) (“Dianjiao AM Co”)
and Dianchi College entered into an entrusted management
agreement, pursuant to which, the entire management of
Dianjiao AM Co and Dianchi College is entrusted to Minsheng
Vocational and Chongqging Huizhi (“Dianchi College
Management Agreement”).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L F)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

On 20 December 2018, the Company announced that the
Acquisition had been completed. The change of the articles of
association, the board members and the legal representative
of both the school sponsor of Dianchi College and Dianchi
College have been completed and have been filed/registered
with the relevant government authorities in China.

Accordingly, the Equity Entrustment Agreement has come
into effect upon the completion. The 49% of the issued share
capital of Leed International owned by the vendors and its
corresponding equity interest and/or the school sponsor’s
interest, the business operations, assets, human resources,
financial matters of Leed International and its subsidiaries
have already been entrusted and/or delivered to Minsheng
Vocational for the Company’s control and management,
Accordingly, 100% of the financial results of Leed International
and its subsidiaries (including Dianchi College and Dianjiao AM
Co) are consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, it is agreed that,
Minsheng Vocational and/or its affiliated company would
extend loans of up to RMB400 million to the relevant vendors.
On 24 December 2018, among others, Chongging Yuecheng
Zhiyuan Education Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing
Yuecheng”), a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company, as
the lender and a borrower designated by the relevant vendors
entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which, Chongging
Yuecheng agreed to lend to the borrower, and the borrower
agreed to borrow from Chongging Yuecheng, a loan in the
principal amount of RMB200 million. For further details of the
loan, please refer to the announcement dated 26 December
2018 published by the Company and the paragraph headed
“Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in this
annual report.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the circular dated
20 December 2018 and the announcements dated 21 August
2018, 11 September 2018, 5 October 2018, 20 December 2018
and 26 December 2018, published by the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School

==

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School* (5 J # /8 B &% £
) (“Bohai Experimental School”), also known as, The
Experimental High School associated with University of Chinese
Academy of Sciences Basic Education Institute* (f B &} £
BT REEWRHE MR M EERF ) and Shanguang No. 1
Secondary School Branch School* (XM &% —H25K), which
is a high school located in Shouguang, Shandong Province,
the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, there were 2,544 students

in Bohai Experimental School.

On 10 March 2018, Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment
Management Co., Lid* (t L E=(ItF)EEEEBR A A)
(“Shiji Kuangao”) entered into a school sponsor’s interest
transfer agreement (“Interest Transfer Agreement’) with
Shouguang City Hongjing Town Development and Investment
Company Limited* (BX M A S HEERZREBR QA and
Shouguang City No.1 Middle School* (5§ ¥ ™ % — /1 £),
pursuant to which, Shiji Kuangao agreed to acquire 100% of
the school sponsor’s interest of Bohai Experimental School,
and the land, building, facilities and equipment of the east side
of the Bohai Experimental School for a total consideration of
approximately RMB151.73 million.

On 12 March 2018, Chongging Jierui Education Technology
Co., Ltd.* (EEGEHERHEAR AR (“Jierui’), a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement with the shareholder of Shiji Kuangao and Shiji
Kuangao, to acquire 100% of the equity interest of Shiji
Kuangao (“Equity Transfer Agreement”) for a consideration of
RMB4 million. Pursuant to the Interest Transfer Agreement, Shiji
Kuangao will be entitled to acquire Bohai Experimental School.

The completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement and the
Interest Transfer Agreement took place on 2 May 2018.
For details of the above transaction, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 12 March 2018, 13 April
2018 and 2 May 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

On 2 May 2018, Chongging Mengzhuo Education Technology
Co., Ltd.* (EEZ 2B RHLAR AR, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a set of contractual
arrangements in relation to Shiji Kuangao, Jierui and its
shareholders, so that the Group is able to exercise control over
Shiji Kuangao as the school sponsor of Bohai Experimental
School and the Company is able to consolidate the financial
results of Jierui, Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental School
into the Group’s results from the commencement date of the
contractual arrangements, i.e. 2 May 2018. For details of the
contractual arrangements, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 2 May 2018.

Chongqing Electronic Information College

Chongging Electronic Information College* (EEE{ZH % 20)
is a full-time ordinary higher education institution located in
Chongging city, the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, there were
6,080 students in Chongging Electronic Information College.

On 6 November 2017, Chongqging Yuecheng entered into
a capital increase agreement with Chongging Chuangsite
Technology Company Limited and Chongqging Electronic
Information College, pursuant to which Chongging Yuecheng
agreed to make a capital contribution of RMB125.0 million
to Chongqging Electronic Information College (“Capital
Contribution”). Commencing from 1 December 2017,
Chongqging Yuecheng has been entrusted to manage
Chongqing Electronic Information College and its subsidiary,
including but not limited to the aspects of the assets, business
operation, human resources, students and legal documents
of the Chongqing Electronic Information College and its
subsidiary. In return of its management services, Chongging
Yuecheng is entitled to 51% of the net profits of the Chongging
Electronic Information College. The financial results of the
Chongaging Electronic Information College and its subsidiary
were consolidated in the financial results of the Group under
the prevailing accounting principles since the commencement
of the entrustment arrangement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

On 23 February 2018, Chongging Yuecheng has completed
the Capital Contribution to Chongaging Electronic Information
College and has completed all the registration procedures
with Chongqing City Civil Affairs Bureau (2 E ™ K K ) in
relation to Chongqging Yuecheng becoming one of the school
sponsors of Chongqging Electronic Information College.
Accordingly, Chongging Yuecheng owns 51% of the school
sponsor’s interest in Chongqing Electronic Information College.
Chongqging Yuecheng has also completed all registration
procedures with Chongging City Civil Affairs Bureau in relation
to the change of the legal representative of Chongqging
Electronic Information College to the person designated by
Chongging Yuecheng.

ACQUISITION IN PROGRESS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College

Fareast College is a full-time ordinary higher education
institution located in Qufu city, Shandong province the PRC.

On 23 November 2018, Chongging Yuecheng, as purchaser,
and a third party (“Ms. Pan”), as vendor, entered into a
share transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement”),
pursuant to which Ms. Pan agreed to sell 51% of the equity
interest of Qufu Changyong Corporate Management Consulting
Company Limited (“Qufu Changyong”) to Chongqging
Yuecheng, and Chongging Yuecheng agreed to acquire the
equity interest of Qufu Changyong, at a total consideration of
RMB91.8 million. Upon the completion, Chongging Yuecheng
will hold 51% of equity interest in Qufu Changyong and
indirectly hold 51% of sponsor interest in Fareast College
through Qufu Changyong.

Subsequent to the execution of the Share Transfer Agreement,
on 23 November 2018, Chongging Yuecheng, Ms. Pan, Qufu
Changyong and Fareast College signed an entrustment
agreement (the “Fareast College Entrustment Agreement”),
pursuant to which, with effect from the date of completion of
the payment of the first instalment until the date of completion,
Fareast College will be entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng for
management. During the entrustment period, 51% of the net
profit of Fareast College will be paid to Chongging Yuecheng
as management fee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

For details, please refer to announcements dated 25 November
2018 and 15 January 2019 published by the Company.

In February 2019, the payment of the relevant first instalment
was completed, upon which, Chongqging Yuecheng has
commenced its holistic and comprehensive management
of Fareast College, including but not limited to the overall
entrustment of all aspects of Fareast College, such as seals
and certificates, businesses, assets, finance, human resources,
students, and legal matters. Chongging Yuecheng has been
therefore entitled to 51% of the net profit of Fareast College
during the term of the Fareast College Entrustment Agreement
as management fee, but the acquisition has not been
completed.

Hebei University of Technology City College

Hebei University of Technology City College* (A4t T % K £
B EkL) (“City College”) is a full time independent college
offering undergraduate studies located in Tianjin city, the PRC.

On 9 July 2018, the Company entered into a framework
agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with the
Zhangjiakou Municipal People’s Government (R X O M A B
) (the “Zhangjiakou Government’) and Hebei University
of Technology (A1t T % X&), together with the Zhangjiakou
Government, (the “Parties”) in relation to the proposed
cooperation (the “Proposed Cooperation”) regarding the
operation of the City College. Pursuant to the Framework
Agreement, with the support of Zhangjiakou Government, Hebei
University of Technology and the Company will co-operate the
City College in Zhangijiakou City of Hebei Province. By taking
advantage of the respective strengths, the Parties strive to
make the City College the best private undergraduate college
in Hebei Province and the application-oriented training base for
talents in Hebei Province through the opportunity of organizing
the 2022 Winter Olympic Games, with around 10,000
undergraduate and junior college students in total. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 July
2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

On 22 August 2018, Chongging Yuecheng entered into (i) a
cooperation agreement with Hebei University of Technology
in relation to the cooperation of sponsoring the City College;
and (ii) a framework agreement with Hebei University of
Technology in relation to the conversion of the City College
into an independently organised private undergraduate higher
education institution. On 23 August 2018, Chongging Yuecheng
entered into an agreement with the Zhangjiakou Government
and Zhangjiakou Economic Development Zone Management
Committee* (R X Q& B % [m E 1 Z 8 €) in relation the
cooperation of construction and development of City College.
For details on the above agreements, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 August 2018.

Anhui Wonder University of Information Engineering

Anhui Wonder University of Information Engineering* (& #X
# {2 B Ti22 1) (“Wonder University”) is an independently
organised private undergraduate higher education institution
located in Hefei city, Anhui province, the PRC which was
established in 2001, offering courses and programs leading to
higher education degrees.

On 30 August 2017, Chongging Yuecheng entered into an
acquisition agreement with the current school sponsor of
Wonder University pursuant to which Chongging Yuecheng
agreed to acquire 51% of the school sponsor’s interest in
Wonder University for a total consideration of RMB500.0 million.

As at 31 December 2018, the application for transferring the
school sponsorship is going through the approval procedures
of government authorities. The Company is closely following up
the progress of approval procedures and will publish further
announcements in respect of such matter pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) in due course.

INVESTMENTS IN AND NEWLY ESTABLISHED SCHOOLS
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School

The Group established Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational
School* (#pERABFEREZEEEER) in Laoling, Dezhou city,
Shandong province, the PRC on 20 September 2016. It has
completed its first phase construction and commenced the
school year in September 2018. As at 31 December 2018,
there were 261 students.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BERESHmR DT (8)

Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng
Education Group* (R£# B £ L1 B 464K +££) (“Minsheng
Laoling Senior High School”)

On 12 February 2018, Jierui entered into an agreement
and a supplemental agreement (collectively, the “Laoling
Agreements”) with the People’s Government of Laoling* (%%
pET ARBAT) (the “Laoling Government”) in relation to the
proposed establishment of a high school offering grade 10 to
grade 12 secondary education programs in Laoling, Dezhou
city, Shandong province, the PRC, namely Minsheng Laoling
Senior High School, which commenced the school year in
September 2018. As at 31 December 2018, there were 482
students.

Top Education Group Ltd.

The Group has invested in Top Education Group Ltd.
("Top Education”) (Stock Code: 1752) which is a private
higher education provider in Australia offering accredited
undergraduate and postgraduate award courses in business
and law and was listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on 11 May 2018.

On 21 April 2018, Minsheng Education Development Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a cornerstone investment agreement with Top
Education to subscribe for 209,000,000 ordinary shares at the
final offer price in the initial public offering of Top Education.

As at 31 December 2018, the shares in Top Education held by
the Group represented approximately 8.1% of the total issued
share capital of Top Education.

EXPANSION OF FINANCING CHANNELS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, the Group proactively expanded
financing channels a number of ways such as bank loans,
merger and acquisition fund, with a view to provide regular and
long-term financial support for the business development of the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

Establishment of an Education Industry Merger and
Acquisition Fund with CICC Capital Management Co., Ltd.

On 28 December 2018, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with CICC Capital Management Co.,
Ltd. (“CICC Capital”’) regarding an education industry merger
and acquisition fund (the “M&A Fund”).

Both parties intend to cooperate with each other via the M&A
Fund with a total size of approximately RMB10 billion, which
is to be raised in four phases. Both parties intend to (1) be
market-facing, conducive to development of the nation, and
promoting employment, (2) focus on investments in the private
higher education industry, and (3) promote industry-education
integration and the school-enterprise cooperation in order
to cultivate more high-skilled talents. The Company shall be
entitled to the first priority to acquire any investment project
proposed to be disposed of by the M&A Fund on the same
conditions as those offered to other purchasers.

The Comprehensive Strategic Cooperation Agreement
Entered Into with the Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Chongqing Branch

On 28 August 2018, the Company entered into a
comprehensive strategic cooperation agreement with The
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited Chongqging
Branch (“ICBC”), in order to build a long-term and stable
comprehensive strategic cooperation relationship between
ICBC and the Company.

Subject to credit approval, ICBC intends to provide the
Company with the indicative overall financing credit of no less
than RMB10 billion in the next three years to support various
funding needs of the Company in developing education and
education-related businesses, including but not limited to pre-
project loans, project loans, working capital loans, M&A loans,
M&A funds, equity financing and financial leasing.

Financing cost are in-line with the bank’s benchmark interest

rate. The strategic cooperation agreement is valid for five years
from the date of signing the strategic cooperation agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

For other financial services to be provided by ICBC to the
Company and other details of the strategic cooperation
agreement, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 27 August 2018.

OUR SCHOOLS IN CHINA

Ten schools in the PRC were managed and/or operated by the
Group as at 31 December 2018, four of which are located in
Chongqing, four are located in Shandong, one is situated in
Inner Mongolia and one in Yunnan. Through these schools, we
primarily offer higher education, including undergraduate and
junior college education. Set forth below are certain particulars
of the ten schools of the Group.

Undergraduate Schools
Chonggqging College of Humanities, Science and Technology

Chongging College of Humanities, Science and Technology
is a formal university-level higher education school located in
Chongging, the PRC. Its predecessor, Southwest University
Yucai College, was recognized by the Ministry of Education
of the PRC (the “MOE”) as an independent college in March
2003. In April 2013, the college was approved by the MOE
to convert to a private independently organised university-
level education school and was the first and one and only one
private higher education school in Chongging obtaining such
approval for conversion. Chongging College of Humanities,
Science and Technology provides undergraduate and junior
college education. In 2018, the college had 15 second-level
colleges offering 43 undergraduate majors and 1 junior college
major, covering 9 subject categories.

The tuition fee for Chongqging College of Humanities, Science
and Technology for the 2018-2019 school year is approximately
RMB12,000 to RMB18,000.

Dianchi College of Yunnan University

Dianchi College of Yunnan University is an independent
college located in Kunming, Yunnan Province, the PRC,
which was established in 2001. Dianchi College of Yunnan
University offers formal undergraduate education. In 2018, the
college offered 48 undergraduate majors, covering 8 subject
categories.
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The tuition fee for Dianchi College of Yunnan University for
the 2018-2019 school year is approximately RMB16,000 to
RMB24,500 (the tuition fee depends on the major).

Pass College of Chongqing Technology and Business
University

Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University is an independent college located in Chongging, the
PRC, which was certified by the MOE in December 2003. This
college provides undergraduate and junior college education.
In 2018, the college offered 24 undergraduate majors and 1
junior college major.

The tuition fee for Pass College of Chongging Technology
and Business University for the 2018-2019 school year is
approximately RMB12,000 to RMB16,000.

Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University officially commenced the student enroliment of adult
higher education in March 2017. The school currently offers
three undergraduate majors, namely business administration,
marketing and accounting. In December 2018, Pass College of
Chongging Technology and Business University has admitted
3,614 adult students for degree and junior college programs
and will report for the school year in March 2019.

Higher Vocational Schools

Chonggqging Electronic Information College

Chongging Electronic Information College is a full-time ordinary
higher education institution located in Chongqing city, the PRC,
providing junior college education. In 2018, the college offered
21 majors.

The tuition fee for Chongging Electronic Information College

for the 2018-2019 school year is approximately RMB8,800 to
RMB12,000 (the tuition fee depends on the major).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

Chongging Vocational College of Applied Technology

Chongging Vocational College of Applied Technology is
a full-time ordinary higher education institution located in
Chongging, the PRC, providing junior college education. This
college obtained approval as a higher vocational school by
the People’s Government of Chongaging in April 2005 and was
registered with the Civil Affairs Department of Chongging in
December 2006. In 2018, the college offered 20 majors.

The tuition fee for Chongqing Vocational College of Applied
Technology for the 2018-2019 school year is approximately
RMB9,000 to RMB9,800.

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng
Branch)

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng
Branch) is a full-time ordinary higher education institution
located in Hohhot, Inner Mongolia, the PRC, providing junior
college education. We became one of its school sponsors
and have been entitled to the entire interest in Inner Mongolia
Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) in 2008. In
the 2018-2019 school year, the college offered 12 majors.

The tuition fee for Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College
(Qingcheng Branch) for the 2018-2019 academic year is
approximately RMB7,000 (the tuition fee is applied to all
majors).

Secondary Vocational Schools
Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School

Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School is a full-
time regular specialized secondary school located in Laoling,
Shandong province, the PRC, providing secondary vocational
education, and the first batch of students enrolled has
commenced the school year in September 2018. In 2018, the
school offered 8 majors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School

Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School is a full-
time regular specialized secondary school located in Laoling,
Shandong Province, the PRC, providing secondary vocational
education. As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 10 March 2017 (“Prospectus”), pursuant to certain
cooperation agreements entered into between the Group, the
People’s Government of Laoling and the Bureau of Education
of Laoling, Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School
will be managed and operated by Laoling Minsheng Secondary
Vocational School under an entrustment management
arrangement. In 2018, the school offered 12 majors.

High Schools
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School is a high school located
in Shouguang, Shandong province, the PRC, offering grade 10
to grade 12 secondary education programs.

Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng
Education Group

Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng Education
Group is a high school located in Laoling, Shandong province,
the PRC, and the first batch of enrolled students have started
the school year in September 2018.

Our Investments in Overseas Schools

In addition to our schools in the PRC, we have invested in Top
Education in May 2018 as mentioned under the paragraph
headed “Investment in the Newly Established Schools during
the Reporting Period” above in this annual report.

The Group has also invested in Beacon International College
PTE. LTD. (“Beacon International College”) in Singapore and
Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Higher Education Limited
(“Hong Kong Nang Yan College”) in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ERBsTHR DT ()

As at 31 December 2018, we directly owned approximately
8.1% equity interest in Top Education and 25.6% equity
interest in Beacon International College, and were one of the
two members of Hong Kong Nang Yan College, which is a
company limited by guarantee established under the laws of

Hong Kong.

NUMBER OF ENROLLED STUDENTS

On 31 December 2018, the total student enrollment of the
Group amounted to 65,496, representing an increase of 59.28%
as compared to that of 31 December 2017.

Schools

2R
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= 2 408.1% A% #E K 35 AR B R 22 Br25.6% A%
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Number of Enrolled Students

Chongging College of Humanities,

Science and Technology

Dianchi College of Yunnan University
Pass College of Chongging Technology

and Business University

Chongging Electronic Information

College

Chongqing Vocational College of

Applied Technology

Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational

College (Qingcheng Branch)

Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational

School

Laoling Secondary Vocational and

Technical School

Shouguang Bohai Experimental School
Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with

Minsheng Education Group

BEAXRERZR

ERASEBEM5
BEETAABIRE SR

SEERBESR
SEEAHIRLER
NEEEHBEER(EHHBR)
SERABRERSELER
e F LR R

SIHEERSER

REHEEHANBLZESRT L

ABEEAY
20,696 19,529
18,948  N/AMNot) 7N i (i)
10,923 10,471
6,080 5,948
3,157 2,884
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Total

65,496 41,120
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

Note:

Dianchi College of Yunnan University, Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Laoling Secondary Vocational and Technical School were not
operated by the Group as at 31 December 2017. No students had been
enrolled in Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School and Laoling
Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng Education Group as at 31
December 2017.

OPERATIONAL UPDATE ON BUSINESS OF THE GROUP

1. The Group’s schools have added new enrollment
majors that meet the needs of industrial development.
17 majors include data science and big data technology,
mobile internet application technology, aged service and
management, medical inspection technology, railway
traffic operation management, network new media,
financial engineering and so on. The new majors adapt
the development of the industry, meet the need of the
market in the cultivation direction of high-end talents of
applied knowledge, is conducive to increasing enrollment
and employment, and is conducive to enhancing the core
competitiveness of the school.

2. The employment rate of the graduates of the Group is
much higher than the provincial average employment
rate the schools locate in. For example, Dianchi College
of Yunnan University’s employment rate reached around
97.44%, Chongqging Vocational College of Applied
Technology’s employment rate reached around 97.72%,
and the overall quality of our students is recognized by the
society.

3. The Group has recruited more high-quality teaching
staff. As at 31 December 2018, a total of 4,353 employees
were serving the Group, a significant increase of 2,662
employees as compared to 2017, to accommodate
the development of the school and the educational
management requirements for the increase in the number
of students.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

The Group has strengthened its management team.
Newly hired outstanding management talents with more
experience and ability. For example, Chongaging College
of Humanities, Science and Technology has adjusted the
leadership of the school-level leadership team and has
recruited the vice-principal through the open recruitment
internally and externally. Compared with last year, the
new management in schools are more capable with a
reasonable structure. The schools also set the promotion
criteria for the staff at the team and departmental levels
in order to select the talents, to increase sense of
responsibility and to improve management efficiency.

The Group has upgraded its teaching conditions
and enhanced the learning environment. In 2018, the
Group further improved the schools’ educational and
teaching hardware conditions, purchased a batch of
new experimental training equipment, and improved and
enhanced the educational environment. The construction
of the new campus of Laoling Minsheng Secondary
Vocational School has been completed and has been in
use since September 2018.

The quality of talent training in the Group’s schools
has gained a good social reputation, and was awarded
in multiple national contests. In 2018, Chongqging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology won 3
first prizes, 24 second prizes and 29 third prizes in the 4th
National Applied Talents Integrated Skills Competition ([ 58
MEZEERRE AT HEEBKEEKRE]) Dianchi College was
awarded “Role Model Chinese Higher Education Institute
in Innovation and Entrepreneurship 2018” ([2018% E &
BRI #AFHMAREER ). It also won a gold prize in the
“The National Final of China’s Internet + Innovation and
Entrepreneurship among University Students” (5 PU/J&
[EEAE+ IKBERIFRIEAEZHERE)).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

OUTLOOK

The schools of the Group are committed to cultivating
outstanding professional talents equipped with application-
oriented skills. Recently, the PRC government has
promulgated a series of policies and documents including the
Implementation Plan on National Vocational Education Reform
(BARBEHBRNEEHHE)), China’s Education Modernization
2035 ({ B # 5 R K 1£2035)) and Implementation Plan on
the Advancement of Education Modernization (2018-2022)
iR EZH B RACE 5 R (2018-20224F)) ), with an aim to
promote the integration of enterprises with vocational schools
and universities, encourage the cultivation of application-
oriented talents and operate diversified vocational schools. The
Chinese government’s work report clearly stated the reform and
improvement of the examination methods for higher vocational
colleges, and large-scale expansion of one million people this
year.

Leveraging on the extensive experience accumulated in the
education industry and with its aim at cultivating sophisticated
talents with application-oriented skills, the Group will strengthen
the integration of enterprises with vocational schools and
universities and deepen school-enterprise cooperation by
taking advantage of the opportunities brought by governmental
policies, and further expand the Group’s school network and
student number through mergers and acquisitions of quality
undergraduate schools and higher vocational (junior) colleges.
These will be financed majorly from the internal resources of
the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue represents the value of services rendered during
the Reporting Period. The Group derives revenue primarily
from tuition fees and boarding fees our schools collect from
students.

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 30.4%
from approximately RMB477.8 million in 2017 to approximately
RMB623.1 million in 2018. This increase was primarily due to
the increase of the Group’s student enrollment and average
tuition fees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEREmR DT (#)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of staff costs, depreciation and
amortization, cost of cooperative education, utilities, cost of
repairs, office expenses, student study and practice fees and
other costs.

The cost of sales increased by approximately 45.6% from
RMB199.1 million in 2017 to approximately RMB289.8 million in
2018. This increase was primarily due to (i) the increase in the
number of teachers recruited by the Group’s schools during the
Reporting Period; (ii) the increase in the teachers’ remuneration
and benefits; and (iii) the increase in depreciation costs as a
result of consolidation of the newly acquired schools into the
Group.

Gross Profit

The gross profit increased by approximately 19.6% from
approximately RMB278.7 million in 2017 to approximately
RMB333.4 million in 2018, and gross profit margin slightly
decreased by 4.8% from approximately 58.3% in 2017 to
approximately 53.5% in 2018, which was mainly due to the
increase in number and salary of teachers and the increase in
depreciation of new schools newly consolidated to the Group.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains consists primarily of government
grants, management service income, investment income from
short-term investments measured at amortised cost and short-
term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss,
available for-sale investments and investment deposits, bank
interest income and rental income.

Other income and gains increased by approximately 29.8%
from approximately RMB146.3 million in 2017 to approximately
RMB189.9 million in 2018. This increase was primarily due to (i)
the payment of 100% net profit of Dianchi College and Dianjiao
AM Co to the Group as entrustment management service fees
during the term of Dianchi College Management Agreement; (ii)
the increase in the interest income of bank deposits; and (iii)
net exchange gains was recorded during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of salaries
and other benefits for our staff who are in charge of student
recruitment and advertising, advertising expenses and student
recruitment expenses.

Selling and distribution expenses increased from approximately
RMB7.8 million in 2017 to approximately RMB16.8 million in
2018, primarily due to the increase in enrollment costs as a
result of consolidation of several newly acquired schools into
the Group during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of the salaries and
other benefits for general and administrative staff, office-related
expenses, depreciation of office buildings and equipment,
property management and environmental protection related
expenses, travel and transportation expenses and rental
expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 14.2%
from approximately RMB125.7 million in 2017 to approximately
RMB143.5 million in 2018, primarily due to (i) the increase in
share option expenses of the Group; (ii) the increase in staff
costs as a result of consolidation of several newly acquired
schools into the Group during the Reporting Period; (iii) the
increase in property management and environmental protection
related expenses; and (iv) the increase in maintenance fees
incurred by several schools of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BERESHmR DT (8)

Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses consist primarily of expenses relating to
donations made to third-party educational and other institutions,
net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Other expenses, net decreased substantially from
approximately RMB25.2 million in 2017 to approximately
RMBO0.8 million in 2018. This decrease was primarily
attributable to (i) the decrease in net loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment during the Reporting Period as
compared with 2017; and (ii) the net exchange gain recorded
in 2018 as compared with net exchange loss in 2017.

Finance Costs

Finance costs mainly represent interests on banks loans
and other borrowings interest on finance leases which were
originally borne by the schools we newly acquired through
merger and acquisition during the Reporting Period. And the
effective interest rate amortisation for a put option liability
in relation to the acquisition of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University.

Finance costs increased from approximately RMB3.0 million in
2017 to approximately RMB13.2 million in 2018, mainly due to
the increase in interests on existing loans of the Group’s newly-
consolidated schools and the interest we paid on bank loans
and other borrowings.

Loss from Investments

Loss from investments increased from approximately RMB0.3
million in 2017 to approximately RMBO0.6 million in 2018, which
was mainly due to the pro-rata recognition of its share of loss
of Beacon International College (an associated company) for
the year by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Profit for the Year

As a result of the above factors, profit for the year of 2018
of the Group increased by approximately 27.6% from
approximately RMB260.8 million in 2017 to approximately
RMB332.8 million in 2018.

Core Net Profit

The Group defines its core net profit as its profit for the year
after adjusting for those items which are not indicative of
the Group’s operating performances (as presented in the
table below). This is not an International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) measure. The Group has presented this
item because the Group considers it an important supplemental
measure of the Group’s operational performance used by the
Group’s management as well as analysts or investors. The
following table shows profit and adjusted net profit of the
Group for the years presented below:
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2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®ET T

Profit for the year FmH 332,828 260,847
Add: hn

Listing-related expenses ETRBERX - 25,738

Unrealised exchange (gain)/loss BIRE N (W) B8 (7,738) 20,468

Share option expenses AR R 13,108 3,300

Core net profit 20 % m A) 338,198 310,353

Core net profit in 2018 increased by approximately RMB27.8
million (approximately 9.0%) as compared with 2017. Core net
profit margin decreased from approximately 65.0% in 2017 to
approximately 54.3% in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION
Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current assets
of approximately RMB70.9 million, which primarily consisted
of cash and bank balances. The current assets as at 31
December 2018 decreased to approximately RMB1,578.0
million from approximately RMB2,459.9 million as at 31
December 2017. The decrease in current assets primarily
reflected that (i) the cash and bank balances decreased from
approximately RMB1,696.3 million as at 31 December 2017 to
approximately RMB1,505.8 million as at 31 December 2018,
mainly due to the cash outflows of RMB601.5 million, a result of
the acquisition of Shiji Kuangao and Leed International; and the
repayment of bank and other borrowings led to the outflows in
2018; and (ii) the available-for-sale investments and investment
deposit decreased from approximately RMB466.3 million and
RMB243.4 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2017 to
nil as at 31 December 2018, due to their maturity. The current
liabilities increased from approximately RMB773.8 million as
at 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB1,507.1 million
as at 31 December 2018, mainly reflecting (i) an increase of
approximately RMB212.3 million in contract liabilities/deferred
revenue because of the increase in tuition fee received due to
an increase in student numbers for the 2018-2019 school year
as at 31 December 2018 and the completion of acquisitions
of Shouguang Bohai Experimental School and Dianchi College
of Yunnan University in 2018; (ii) an increase of approximately
RMB100.5 million in bank and other borrowings; and (iii) an
increase of approximately RMB407.5 million in other payables
and accruals mainly due to an increase in payables for
purchase of teaching equipment, etc.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 22 March 2017. There is no
material change in the capital structure of the Company since
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report. The
capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s issued share capital
was USD40,177 and the number of its issued ordinary shares
was 4,017,720,000 of USD0.00001 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERES RO (#)

Capital Commitments

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the respective reporting period:

BAAE

AEBNBRABRERARNEAEZNT

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT

Contracted, but not provided for: E&]AEREME :

Equipment B 10,887 7,653
Buildings BF 110,595 19,364
Loans committed to a third party ME= HERENER 400,000 -
Loans committed to an associate  [A]— & QA RFARZNER - 8,359
Acquisition of private schools U i R I B2 R 591,800 500,000

1,113,282 535,316

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorised but not
contracted for.

Indebtedness

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
primarily consisted of short-term working capital loans to
supplement our working capital and finance our expenditure
and long-term project loans for the continuous development of
our school buildings and facilities.

The bank loans and other borrowings amounted to RMB458.7
million as at 31 December 2018, all dominated in Renminbi. As
at 31 December 2018, our bank loans and other borrowings bore
effective interest rates ranging from 1.2% to 24.0% per annum.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting its
financial obligations.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigations or claims
of material importance, pending or threatened against any
member of the Group (2017: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

BERESHmR DT (8)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s buildings and
land with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB342.0
million (2017: RMB284.4 million) were pledged to secure bank
loans and other borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2018, certain bank
balances were denominated in United States dollar (“US$”) and
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The Group currently does not have
any foreign currency hedging policies. The management will
continue to monitor the Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure
and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio increased to 13.0% as at 31 December
2018 from approximately 5.5% as at 31 December 2017 (the
gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total
equity and multiplying the resulting value by 100%), due to the
increase in interests on existing loans of the Group’s newly-
consolidated schools and the interest we paid on bank loans
and other borrowings.

Salary increment for Employees, Training and Development

In 2018, in order to motivate our faculty staff for better work
performance, the Group has reviewed and increased the
salaries of employees. The increment in salaries is based
on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices, with all compensation policies and packages
reviewed on a regular basis. As required by PRC laws and
regulations, we participate in various employee social security
plans for our employees that are administered by local
governments, including pension, medical, maternity, work-
related injury, unemployment insurance and housing provident
fund.

In addition, the Group provides comprehensive training
programs to its existing and newly recruited employees and/
or sponsors its employees to attend various job-related training
courses and also support some excellent teachers to study,
train and communicate with famous universities abroad.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SEREREERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun, aged 65, is the founder of our Group. Since
October 1998, Mr. Li has served as chairman of the board of
directors of Li'ang Industry. He was appointed as a Director
of the Company on 13 December 2005 and has been the
Chairman of the Board since 17 January 2006. Mr. Li has
more than 10 years of experience in the education industry,
having served as the Chairman of the Board since 2006. In
addition, Mr. Li served as the vice-chairman of the Chinese
Association for Non-Government Education* (FERERH#HE
#&) from May 2008 to November 2016 and has served as
the executive-chairman of Chongqging Association for Non-
Government Education* (EERMHAE HE) since 2014. Mr.
Li is responsible for the strategic development of our Group.
Mr. Li graduated from the CPC Central Party School* (/s
RER) with a degree in Economic Management in June 1988
through long distance learning courses. Mr. Li was a member
of the 11th and 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference* (FEIA RBUAH B REBZE
8) and a representative of Science Education Culture Health
and Sport Commission* (FEIARBUGHE @ RHBIXEEEE
@) of the 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Li was awarded as a National
Education Industry Model Worker* (2B{EHH B T1EH) by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC in September 2014. Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed companies during the
last three years.

Mr. Li is the father-in-law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, the executive
Director and the President of the Company.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREsREERE(§)

Ms. Zhang Weiping, aged 54, joined the Group in April 2007.
Ms. Zhang was appointed as a Director of our Company on
27 July 2008, and served as the Chief Operational Officer of
our Group from April 2007 to August 2016. Ms. Zhang was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
1 August 2016. Since September 2000, Ms. Zhang has held
various positions with Chongqging College of Humanities,
Science and Technology, including being appointed as
professor by Southwestern Normal University Yucai College*
(A& K2 B 4 8PFt) (a predecessor of Chongging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology) in 2004.
She currently serves as the executive principal and party
secretary of the school. Ms. Zhang has more than 15 years of
experience in the education industry and is responsible for the
overall management and operation of our Group. Ms. Zhang
graduated from Southwestern University* (FAfAKE2) (formerly
known as Southwestern Normal College* (Fara AT #3£2F%)) with a
bachelor's degree in law in 1988 and a master’s degree in law
in 1998. Ms. Zhang held various positions with Southwestern
University during the period from 1988 to 2007, where she was
appointed an associate professor in 2001 before receiving
a further promotion to the position of researcher in 2007.
Between December 2007 to December 2012, Ms. Zhang was
a representative member of Chongging Municipal People’s
Congress* (EEMARMKEZA®). She has served as a vice
president of the Higher Education Commission of the China
Non-Governmental Education Association* (FERFIHAEHE)
since 2011. Ms. Zhang was awarded the “Advance Education
Workers in Chongqing* (Jt##(E L1E#&)” award by Chongging
Municipal Education Commission in September 2007. She was
also named as an “Outstanding Party Affairs Worker* ({855
B IT{EE) by Southwestern University* (B AZ) in June
2006. Ms. Zhang did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREREER (&)

Mr. Zuo Yichen, aged 38, joined the Group in August 2016
as Vice President. Mr. Zuo was appointed as a Director of our
Company on 23 August 2016 and currently act as the President
of our Company. Mr. Zuo has more than 14 years of experience
in banking practice. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zuo was
employed by the Bank of China from July 2002 to March 2016,
and last occupied the position of head office senior manager.
Mr. Zuo graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University* (1t
FAHMNBEIREAER) in 2002 with a bachelor of arts degree, majoring
in French. Mr. Zuo did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

Mr. Zuo is the son-in-law of Mr. Li Xuechun, the executive
Director and chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, aged 42, joined the Group in May 2012
as the general manager of our investment department and was
subsequently appointed as a Director of our Company on 23
August 2016. Mr. Lam has served as the Chief Financial Officer
of our Group since 22 May 2016. Mr. Lam has more than 15
years of experience in the field of accounting, and finance.
Prior to joining our Group, He served as an audit assistant
with Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co., a firm of Certified Public
Accounts, between September 2000 and November 2003.
From November 2003 to October 2006, Mr. Lam was employed
by PricewaterhouseCoopers and last occupied the position of
senior associate. Between November 2006 and March 2007,
Mr. Lam was employed as an assistant manager at TOM Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2383) since August 2004 and was primarily responsible for
internal operational reviews. From March 2007 to May 2012,
Mr. Lam served as an advisory manager at KPMG. Mr. Lam
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 1999 with a bachelor of science
in mathematics degree. In October 2000, He obtained the
Postgraduate Certificate in Professional Accounting from the
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2004 and a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder
since 2005. Mr. Lam did not hold any directorship in other
listed companies during the last three years.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREsREERE(§)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Kaihua, aged 52, was appointed by the Board as a
non-executive Director on 28 June 2017. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in business operation and financial management.
He is an executive director and vice president of Overseas
Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Ltd.* (ZE@EH (aoM) #E=RARA
A]) (“OCT (Asia)”) (stock code: 3366), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and which holds approximately 8.26% of the issued
share capital of the Company. He also holds director positions
in certain subsidiaries of OCT (Asia) and Beijing Guangying
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (It REREHERZEARE D
A]) (an associate of OCT (Asia)), and is also the deputy general
manager of Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited (the
controlling shareholder of OCT (Asia)). Since joining Overseas
Chinese Town Enterprise Company in 1992, Mr. Lin has held
a number of positions including but not limited to the deputy
general manager and the chief financial officer of Overseas
Chinese Town (Shanghai) Land Company* (ZEEH (L&) Eit
ABR/AH]) (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the OCT
(Asia)), the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese Town Entertainment Investment Company Limited* (0%
YIZE B EBHIREEILE A 7)) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of OCT
Ltd.), chief financial officer of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese
Town Holding Company Limited* (RIIZEGB TR D B R A 7))
(currently known as OCT Ltd.), and the chief financial officer
of Shenzhen Bay Hotel* (FIIEKEJE) (currently known as
“InterContinental Shenzhen* (Zfg§#H XJEJE)"). Mr. Lin holds
a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree in accounting
and has obtained Certified Public Accountant and Senior
Accountant title.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREREER (&)

Ms. Li Yanping, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 June 2017. Ms. Li has been the Vice Principal
of Pass College of Chongqging Technology and Business
University, a school in which the Group owns 100% school
sponsor interest, since March 2016. Ms. Li has over 30 years
of experience in the financial service industry and possesses
extensive experience in management and internal audit. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Li was the Deputy Division Chief
at the Xi'an Branch of Internal Audit Bureau of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”) (f Bl T iR 17T M3 &=t
BFaE 5 E) from 2006 to 2016 and has worked as an auditor
at ICBC from 1999 to 2004. She has also worked at various
positions in ICBC from 1980 to 2004. Ms. Li has obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economics and management from the
Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China (FREM) and is a senior economist. Ms. Li is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, aged 54, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. Mr. Chan is a partner and founder of Kenny Chan
& Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has
over 30 years’ experience in accounting, taxation, auditing and
corporate finance and has been involved in several mergers,
acquisitions and initial public offering projects. Mr. Chan
holds a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales and is a member of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand, the Association of International
Accountants, CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. Chan served as president of the Hong
Kong Branch of the Association of International Accountants
in the years 2012-2015. Mr. Chan is an independent non-
executive director of Zhongyuan Bank Co., Ltd., CMIC
Ocean En-Tech Holding Co., Ltd., Hebei Construction Group
Corporation Limited and Kingland Group Holdings Limited, all
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREsREERE(§)

Mr. Yu Huangcheng, aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. From March 2009 to March 2010, Mr. Yu was
employed by the Investment Promotion Bureau of Haidian
District* (8RR ERER) and last occupied the position
of section chief (£}&). Since March 2010, Mr. Yu has served
as an investment director at Kunwu Jiuding Capital Holdings
Co., Ltd. (BEENRIKEZERAHBBRR AR, which is a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600053).
Mr. Yu graduated from Macquarie University in Australia with a
Master’'s degree in applied finance in November 2008. Mr. Yu
did not hold any directorship in other listed companies during
the last three years.

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew, aged 63, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2
March 2017. He was admitted as Solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in January 1982 and has over 30 years of
experience in the legal practice. Mr. Wang was the Head of
Legal and Compliance Department of China Development Bank
Corporation Hong Kong Branch between from August 2010
to September 2011. Before joining China Development Bank
Corporation Hong Kong, he was a Partner of the Finance &
Projects Group of DLA Piper Hong Kong from October 2006
to November 2009. Mr. Wang has also been a Notary Public
since 1992. Actively involved in public sector advisory and
statutory bodies, amongst the appointments he is the Chairman
of Appeal Tribunal Panel (Building Ordinance), and former
member of Notaries Public Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. In 2005,
he was invited by former President of the United States Bill
Clinton to participate in the Clinton Global Initiative Fund held
in New York 2005. Mr. Wang has served as an independent
non-executive director of Infinity Financial Group (Holdings)
Limited (FTBFTEB(ER) AR A7), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1152) from October 2011 to June
2017. Mr. Wang graduated from Concordia University, Canada
with a bachelor of arts degree in Communications Arts.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ESREREER (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Wei, aged 52, joined the Group in October 2005
and is currently the financial director and head of finance
department of Chongqging College of Humanities, Science
and Technology. Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience
in finance and accounting and is primarily responsible for the
finance and accounting of our Group’s schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang worked as accountant
with Beijing Zhongruicheng Lianhe Accounting Firm Chongging
Branch* (dt R imait e @5t EHMEE S FT) and Chongging
Tongguan Accounting Firm Co., Ltd.* (EEBE S:HAE%KME
fR & T2 7). Mr. Wang graduated from Jiangxi Caijing College*
(LFaBT £ 2PT) with a bachelor degree in economics in July
1989.

Mr. Li Jiandong, aged 46, joined our Group in January 2016
and is currently the deputy officer of logistics of Chongaging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology and has been
primarily responsible for the logistical support of our schools
in Chongaing. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li served as the
general manager of Shandong Dongying Jinheng Furniture
Co., Ltd.* (LRR&E&ERABRAF]), a company primarily
engaged in export and trading of furniture, between June 2010
to December 2015. From March 1999 to March 2010, Mr. Li
was employed by Shandong Shenghui Timber Co, Ltd.* (IUZR
BEAR¥EABRAR)) and last occupied the position of deputy
general manager.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Shan is the company secretary of our Company
and was appointed on 21 September 2016. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Ng is an assistant vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as SW Corporate Services Group Limited) and her major
responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTRE

The Board is pleased to present the reports and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated on 13 December 2005 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 March 2017 (the
“Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the
Group’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2018 as required by Schedule 5 to
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business and the Group’s key relationships with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the Group
and on which the Group’s success depends, is set out in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 9
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to
37. These discussions form part of this annual report. Events
affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the
financial year is set out in the section headed “Events after the
Reporting Period” on page 120.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.
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RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 155 to 312.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group believes that risk management is important to the
Group’s success. Key operational risks faced by the Group
include, among others, changes in general market conditions
and perceptions of formal higher education, changes in the
regulatory environment in the PRC education industry, the
ability of the Group to offer quality education to students, the
ability of the Group to increase student enrollment and/or raise
tuition rates, the potential expansion of the Group into other
regions in China, availability of financing to fund the Group’s
expansion and business operations and competition from other
school operators that offer similar quality of education and
have similar scale.

In addition, the Group also faces numerous market risks, such
as foreign currency risk and liquidity risks that arise in the
normal course of the Group’s business.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with
floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain
borrowings at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the Directors will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arise.

Foreign Currency Risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the Group’s
operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is not
a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China. Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may
restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit
sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other amounts
to the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings.
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting its
financial obligations.

To properly manage these risks, the Group has established risk
management structures and measures. The details are set out
on pages 135 to 137 “Risk Management and Internal Control”
of corporate governance report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for
the last five financial years are set out on page 6 “Financial
Highlights” of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group held equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income and equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2018. Details of equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income and equity investment at fair value
through profit or loss of the Group as at 31 December 2018 are
set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2018 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTION RESERVE

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 42 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 159 to 160, respectively. As at 31 December
2018, the aggregate amount of reserve available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the Company was approximately
RMB1,123,693,000 (2017: RMB1,150,992,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Policy on payment of dividend is in place setting out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to its shareholders. The Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration
and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole
discretion of the Board after taking into account the Company’s
financial performances, working capital requirements, future
prospects and other factors and the applicable regulations.
The policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to the
Board for approval if amendments are required.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the Shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (year ended 31 December 2017:
nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws
of the Cayman lIslands or under the Company’s Articles of
Association that require the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

No service provided to a single customer contributes 10% or
more of the total revenue of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 40.3% of the total purchases for in 2018 and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 21.1%
of the Group's total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the
substantial shareholders of the Company (which are disclosed
to the Directors) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. The Group maintains
a good relationship with employees, customers and suppliers.
During the Reporting Period, there were no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,
customers and/or suppliers.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Net proceeds from the Listing (including the over-allotment
option and after deducting underwriting fee and relevant
expenses) amounted to approximately HK$1,374.7 million. As
at 31 December 2018, a total amount of HK$909.2 million out
of the net proceeds had been used by the Group according to
the allocation set out in the Prospectus.

The following sets forth a summary of the utilisation of the net
proceeds:

Percentage to
total amount

Purpose

Jich= EREEAIL

Acquiring additional existing schools in
the PRC and overseas

Wi B RSN At IR 2R

Establishing new schools or expanding
the existing schools we own or
operate

BB SE R B FIER S E R
BEER

Repaying a term loan from a third-party
financial institution

BEBFE =772 REBIGHTEHER

Financing working capital and general
corporate use

REBEES RN —RARARREESR

55.0%

21.2%

14.8%

9.0%

Net proceeds

FrER IR R

LHAREREFERR

ETRTS IR F (B IE B A AR EB 0 R A&
NEREHEERRB@ARSZE)/N1,37478
EE I o 2018%F 128318 » ATSRIEF
EHE 0925 EB TEHAEERER
REEMEFOE T AZA -

TREGIFAERIFRCAYE

Utilised
amount at

31 December
2018
20184
12A31H
EBRASE
HKD

BT

(million)

(B&8T)

Unutilised
amount at

31 December
2018
20184
12A31H
MARBHEE
HKD

BT

(million)

(B&8T)

HKD
BT
(million)

(B8T)

756.1 694.8 61.3

291.4 = 291.4

203.5 162.0 41.5

123.7 52.4 71.3

Total #2&t 100.0%

1,374.7 909.2 465.5

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Acquisition
completed during the Reporting Period” and “Acquisition on
progress during the Reporting Period” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis in this annual report, the Group
did not have any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EEEHS(8)

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2018 amounted to approximately RMB834,000
(2017: approximately RMB2,629,000).

RECTIFICATION MEASURES

As disclosed in the “Business” section of the Prospectus of the
Company, the Group has certain buildings occupied by Chongging
College of Humanities, Science and Technology, Pass College of
Chongqing Technology and Business University and Inner Mongolia
Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng Branch) that had
defective titles. The Group has ceased using such buildings and
the Group is using the best efforts to promptly make appropriate
applications with the relevant government authorities to obtain the
required permits and/or acceptance checks. As at the date of this
annual report, the status of the buildings are as follows:

Total number
of buildings

with defective
titles as disclosed
in the Prospectus

Total number of
buildings which we
have obtained the
building ownership

as at the date of
this annual report

NEBENE E2018F12H31H IE F E P
TEHZE Z I/ A A AR #834,0007T (2017
F YWARME2 629,0007T) °

BYIEK
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B - BEANFREY - BFRMAT :

The number of
buildings covered by
applications with the
relevant government

authorities to obtain the
required permits and/or
acceptance checks

as at the date of

this annual report

certificates
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Chongging College of Humanities, 115 12 3
Science and Technology
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Pass College of Chongging 3 3 -
Technology and Business
University
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Vocational College
(Qingcheng Branch)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year of 2018 and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Zhang Weiping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zuo Yichen (President)

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Kaihua

Ms. Li Yanping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny
Mr. Yu Huangcheng
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Board considers
such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to
43 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material beneficial interest in,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year 2018 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year of 2018, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
had engaged in any business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group or has any conflict of interests with the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of
non-competition undertaking during the Reporting Period.
Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus. The non-competition undertakings in respect
of the controlling shareholders have become effective from the
Listing Date.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS IN RELATION TO WONDER
UNIVERSITY AND CHONGQING ELECTRONIC INFORMATION
COLLEGE

A. Background and overview

We currently hold our interest in our consolidated affiliated
entity, namely, Chongqing Electronic Information College
(the “PRC Operating School”) and will hold our interest
in our consolidated affiliated entity, namely, and Wonder
University upon the completion of the acquisition of
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Wonder University (together referred as “PRC Operating
Schools”) in the PRC through a series of contracts (the
“Structured Contracts”’) as PRC laws and regulations
generally restrict foreign ownership in the private education
industry in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations currently
restrict the operation of higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing
qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do
not hold any equity interest in our PRC Operating Schools.
The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain control
over and derive the economic benefits from our PRC
Operating School, have been narrowly tailored to achieve
our business purpose and minimize the potential conflict
with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
as set out above while availing ourselves of international
capital markets and maintaining effective control over
all of our operations, on 27 September 2017, our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Chongging Ruibo Mincheng Education
Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqing Ruibo”) entered into
various agreements that constitute the Structured Contracts
with, among others, our PRC Operating Schools and
Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Chongqing Yuecheng” or the “School Sponsor”
and together with the PRC Operating Schools, the “PRC
Operating Entities A”), under which all economic benefits
arising from the business of our PRC Operating School and
the School Sponsor are transferred to Chongaging Ruibo to
the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations
by means of service fees payable by our PRC Operating
School and our School Sponsor to Chongging Ruibo.
Although the registered shareholders are not consolidated
as part of our Group, they are parties to certain
agreements which constitute the Structured Contracts
to ensure that the Shareholders’ rights of Chongging
Yuecheng are actually controlled by Chongging Ruibo.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of
economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities A to
the Group stipulated under the Structured Contracts:
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As of the date of this annual report, we have not
encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in our plan to adopt the Structured
Contracts and the consolidated financial results of our
PRC Operating School, which engage in higher education
service, are consolidated to those of our Group.
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B. Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured
Contracts

The major provisions of the Structured Contracts are
summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation
agreement entered into between Chongging Ruibo
and Chongqging Yuecheng (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement’), Chongqging Ruibo agreed
to provide exclusive technical services to Chongging
Yuecheng, including but not limited to, technical
services, network support, business consulting, market
consulting, system maintenance and other services
necessary for the business of or as required by
Chongging Yuecheng and allowed under the PRC law.
Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
Chongging Ruibo is entitled to charge Chongqging
Yuecheng each financial year for a service fee equals
to all the amount of its net profit (after deducting all
costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year
(if required by the law) and the statutory provident
fund as required by law) for the corresponding period.
Chongging Ruibo has the right (but not the obligation)
to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference
to, among others, the actual services provided and the
actual business operations and needs of Chongging
Yuecheng, provided that any adjusted amount shall
not cause any difficulties for the operation of both of
Chongging Ruibo and Chongging Yuecheng.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered
into by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao Enterprise Management Consultant
Company Limited (“Chongqging Yugangao”) and
Chongaing Yuecheng (the “Equity Pledge Agreement
1”), Chongqging Yugangao agreed to pledge and
grant the first priority security interests over the
entire equity interest of Chongqging Yuecheng owned
by Chongging Yugangao together with all related
rights thereto to Chongqging Ruibo as security for
performance of the Structured Contracts and all direct,
indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable
loss of interest incurred by Chongging Ruibo as a
result of enforcement of the obligations of Chongqging
Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng under the
Structured Contracts until all such obligations are
discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongqging Ruibo,
Chongqging Yugangao, Mr. Li Xuechun (“Mr. Li")
and Mr. Cao Yong (“Mr. Cao”) (the “Equity Pledge
Agreement IlI”, together with the Equity Pledge
Agreement |, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”), Mr.
Li and Mr. Cao agreed to pledge and grant the first
priority security interests over the 100% equity interest
of Chongging Yugangao owned by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
in aggregate together with all related rights thereto
to Chongqging Ruibo as security for performance
of the Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect,
consequential damages and foreseeable loss of
interest incurred by Chongqging Ruibo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and
Chongging Yugangao under the Structured Contracts
until all such obligations are discharged to the
satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement
entered into by and among Chongqging Ruibo,
Chongging Yugangao and Chongqging Yuecheng (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement 1I”), Chongqging
Yugangao has irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during the
term of the Structured Contracts, acquire all or part of
the 100% equity interest of Chongqging Yuecheng held
by Chongging Yugangao at a consideration which
is the lower of the registered capital contribution by
Chongging Yugangao to Chongging Yuecheng and
nominal consideration, or otherwise at the lowest
price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws and
regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option
agreement entered into by and among Chongqging
Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao, Mr. Li and Mr. Cao (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement II”, together with
Exclusive Call Option Agreement [, the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreements”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have
irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term
of the Structured Contracts, acquire all or part of the
100% equity interest of Chongging Yugangao together
held by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao for the lower of the
registered capital contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
to Chongqging Yugangao and nominal consideration,
or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement II,
Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have irrevocably undertaken that,
subject to the PRC laws and regulations, they will
return to the Company any consideration they receive
in the event that the Company acquires the equity
interest in Chongqging Yuecheng when unwinding the
Structured Contracts.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements and

Power of Attorneys

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement | and
Power of Attorney |

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging Ruibo,
Chongging Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement I”),
Chongging Yugangao executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongqing Ruibo (the “Power of Attorney
I”) pursuant to which Chongging Yugangao has
irrevocably and unconditionally authorized Chongging
Ruibo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Chongging Yugangao and to
make decisions which Chongging Yugangao is
entitled to make as the shareholder of Chongaging
Yuecheng on behalf of Chongging Yugangao;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting
rights in Chongqging Yuecheng as granted by
the PRC law and the articles and associations of
Chongging Yuecheng, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing
in all or any of the equity interests in Chongqging
Yuecheng; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yuecheng in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yuecheng.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney |.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement I, Chongging Yugangao

guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including
the equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng) in
relation to the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or
termination of Chongqging Yuecheng, Chongging
Yugangao agrees to transfer at nil consideration
or at the lowest consideration as permitted by
the then applicable laws and regulations to

Chongging Ruibo such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongqging Ruibo,
will neither, directly or indirectly, participate or
engage in any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongqging
Yuecheng or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongqging
Yuecheng or its associated companies, or hold
any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%

interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement |, any successor to Chongqing
Yugangao shall hold the respective equity
interest in Chongqing Yuecheng subject to
conditions, requirements and obligations under
the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement |.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement Il and
Power of Attorney Il

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and Chongging Yugangao (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement II”,
together with the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement |, the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreements”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao executed a power
of attorney in favour of Chongqging Ruibo (the “Power
of Attorney II", together with the Power of Attorney
I, the “Power of Attorneys”) pursuant to which Mr.
Li and Mr. Cao have irrevocably and unconditionally
authorized Chongging Ruibo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Chongging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations;

(i) exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Chongging Yugangao as granted by
the PRC law and its articles and associations,
including but not limited to selling, transferring,
pledging or otherwise dealing in all or any of the
equity interests in Chongging Yugangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yugangao.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney Il.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement I, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event he receives any asset (including
the equity interest of Chongging Yugangao) in
relation to the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal
or termination of Chongqging Yugangao, he agrees
to transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest
consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongqging Ruibo such
asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Ruibo, he
will neither, directly or indirectly, participate or
engage in any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongging
Yugangao or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Chongging
Yugangao or its associated companies, or hold
any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%
interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement Il, in the event of Mr. Li's or Mr. Cao’s
death, loss of capacity, marriage, divorce or
bankruptcy or other similar events affecting Mr. Li or
Mr. Cao in exercising their respective shareholders’
rights of Chongging Yugangao, any successor to
Mr. Li or Mr. Cao shall hold the respective equity
interest in Chongging Yugangao subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement I1.
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(5) Spouse Undertakings

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse
Undertakings”) executed by Ms. Shi, the spouse of
Mr. Cao, Ms. Shi has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to
the entering into of the Structured Contracts to
which Mr. Cao is a party, and in particular, the
equity interest in Chongging Yugangao owned
by Mr. Cao is not part of the common assets
of Mr. Cao and herself, she is not entitled to
any rights attached to such equity interests of
Mr. Cao in Chongging Yugangao (including the
rights arising from the Structured Contracts), she
shall not engage in any activities interfering the
performance of the Structured Contracts (including
but not limited to claiming her entitlement to the
equity interest of Chongqging Yugangao owned by
Mr. Cao and any rights arising from the Structured
Contracts).

(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management
in relation to Chongging Yugangao and claim
any interest in relation to the equity interest and
assets of Chongqing Yugangao.

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Chongqing Yugangao for any reason,
she agrees to be a party to the Structured
Contracts and be bound by the relevant
restrictions as set out in the Structured Contracts
and perform any act and execute all necessary
documents in order to give effect to such
restrictions.
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Authorization to obtain assets of Chongqing Yuecheng

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement | and the Power of Attorney |, Chongging
Ruibo has been authorized to exercise all rights of
Chongging Yugangao as the sole shareholder of
Chongqging Yuecheng under applicable laws and
the articles of association of Chongqging Yuecheng,
including but not limited to the right to dividends and
right to deal with the assets of Chongging Yuecheng.
It is also the guarantee and undertaking that, in the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement I, in
the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Chongqging Yuecheng) in relation to the
liguidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination of
Chongaing Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao agrees
to transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest
consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongqging Ruibo such asset.

Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute
arising from the validity, interpretation and
performance of the Structured Contracts between
the parties thereto should first be resolved through
negotiation. If the parties are unable to settle the
dispute within 30 days, any party may submit the said
dispute to the Chongging Arbitration Commission with
a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration
in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof. The
results of the arbitration shall be final and binding on
all relevant parties. The arbitral commission shall have
the right to award remedies over the equity interest
and property interest and other assets of Chongging
Yuecheng, injunctive relief (for the conduct of
business or to compel the transfer of assets) or order
the winding up of Chongging Yuecheng (the “Arbitral
Award Provisions”).
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The Structured Contracts also provide that pending
formation of the arbitral tribunal or in appropriate
cases, the courts of Hong Kong, the Company’s place
of incorporation (the Cayman lIslands), Chongqging
Yuecheng's place of establishment (the PRC), the
jurisdiction where the principal assets of Chongging
Ruibo and Chongging Yuecheng are located (the
PRC) have the power to grant interim remedies in
support of the arbitration (the “Interim Remedies
Provisions”).

However, as advised by the Legal advisor to the
Company as to the laws of the PRC, Global Law Office
(the “PRC Legal Advisor”) according to the PRC laws
and regulations, the arbitral tribunal normally would
not grant such kind of remedies or injunctive relief
or winding up order of such PRC operational entities
as Chongging Yuecheng under the PRC laws and
regulations. For instance, the arbitral commission has
no authority to grant such injunctive relief, nor will it be
able to order the winding up of the PRC operational
entities pursuant to existing PRC laws and regulations.
In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong
and Cayman Islands may not be recognizable or
enforceable in China.

C. Business Activities of PRC Operating Entities A

The consolidated affiliated entities of the Group include
Chongqging Yuecheng and Chongqging Electronic
Information College. Chongqging Yuecheng is an investment
holding company. Chongqging Electronic Information
College is a full-time higher education institution provided
junior college education.
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D. Significance and financial contributions of PRC D. FEEEEEAHFEBEZMRE
Operating Entities A to the Group BEE
Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains 7FE'<?F HEBEEY s REBTSHRZ
control over and derives the economic benefits from the BERBANIEHIE - WHRPEBEEEN
PRC Operating Entities A. The table below sets out the e PREJITHEEERBANAEER
financial contribution of the PRC Operating Entities A to M ER ¢
the Group:

Significances and financial contribution to the Group
HEAEENEEM R Y B E R
Revenue Net Profit Total Assets
E #A mEE

For the year ended For the year ended As of
31 December 2018 31 December 2018 31 December 2018

HZ£2018F12H31H B £2018F12A31H
LEE LEE 720185F12H31H

Significances and
financial contribution

to the Group 9.3% (0.3)% 13.8%
HAREEMEEM R
=1
E. Revenue and assets involved in Structured Contracts E. ZBMEHFTSUEREE

Revenue Assets
Wz BE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#ET T ARBT T

For the year ended As at
31 December 2018 31 December 2018

HZ2018F12H31H

LLEE M2018512H31H
PRC Operating Entities A 575655 913,485
REEEERA
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Regulatory Framework
Higher Education

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business
of the PRC Operating School is a restricted business to
foreign investors at present.

The PRC Operating School engages in higher education
in the PRC. From April 2015, in accordance with the
Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
(2015 Revision)*, higher education has been revised from
encouraged business to restricted business for foreign
investors. At present, pursuant to Catalogue of Industries
for Guiding Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*, higher
education is a restricted business for foreign investors
and limited to Sino-foreign cooperative operations led by
Chinese nationals. The Company is an overseas company
registered outside the PRC, which is a foreign investor;
and accordingly, if the equity interest in Chongqging
Yuecheng were owned by the Company, it would be
regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions on
Encouraging and Guiding Private Fund’s Entry into the
Education Sector and Promoting Healthy Development
of Private Education* ((EREEIMSIERHE ©#EAHE
EEHRERBUEEEZEMNEEER)) promulgated by
the Ministry of Education of the PRC on 18 June 2012 the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% (the “Foreign
Ownership Restriction”).

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to
Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational
Institutions* ({FRINEEHEZ5&HI)) and its implementing
measures (the “Implementing Measures”), the foreign
investor of a Sino-foreign cooperative educational
institution shall be a foreign educational institution with
relevant qualification and the quality of education services
provided by it is relatively high (the “Qualification
Requirement”). There are no specific criteria or guidance
on the Qualification Requirement under the current PRC
laws and regulations.
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As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, the principal
business of the PRC Operating School falls within the
aforesaid industry, and the Company, as a foreign investor
investing in the business of operating higher education
in the PRC, is subject to the Qualification Requirement.
Based on its interview with the Education Department
of Anhui Province (the “Education Department”) in
September 2017, PRC Legal Advisor was informed that:
(i) the restrictions to foreign investors as stipulated in
relevant PRC laws and regulations apply to Sino-foreign
cooperative education in Anhui Province; and (ii) no
further implementation measures or specific guidance
have been promulgated under the Regulations on Sino-
foreign Cooperation of Educational Institutions and the
Implementing Measures in Anhui which sets out the
procedures and specific criteria for the satisfaction of
the Qualification Requirement. The PRC Legal Advisor
is therefore of the view that (i) there are no specific
requirements in the Implementing Measures or specific
criteria or guidance under the current PRC laws and
regulations as to how Chongqging Yuecheng can
be regarded as an educational institution; and (ii) if
Chongqging Yuecheng were a subsidiary of the Group,
it would not be qualified to act as a foreign investor in
a Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution, until
the relevant specific implementation measures and/or
guidance have been promulgated to enable the Group to
attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisor, in order to achieve the business purpose of the
Company, the Structured Contracts, through which the
Group will be able to exercise full control over Chongaging
Yuecheng and consolidate the financial results of
Chongging Yuecheng into the accounts of the Group, have
been utilized to minimize the potential conflict with relevant
PRC laws and regulations.

*

For identification purpose only
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions
taken to mitigate the risks

Risks

As the primary beneficiary of Chongging Yuecheng, the
Group is exposed to the business risks and financial risks
faced by Chongging Yuecheng. There is no assurance
that Chongging Yuecheng will generate any profit which
can be paid to the Group through the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement and the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement |. Any profit or loss of Chongqging
Yuecheng (net of intra-group transactions) will be reflected
in the consolidated financial statement of the Group.
The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement | is
subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.
There is no assurance that the acquisition of the equity
interest in Chongqging Yuecheng held by Chongging
Yugangao under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement |
will be permitted in the future, or whether such acquisition
will incur any costs and expenses to the Group in addition
to the consideration stipulated under the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement |. Due to these limitations, the transfer
of equity interest in Chongqing Yuecheng pursuant to the
exercise of the call option under the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement | may still be subject to substantial costs.

At the time when the Structured Contracts were entered
into, the PRC Legal Advisor advised that the execution,
delivery and performance of the Structured Contracts by
each of the parties thereto, were in compliance with (i) the
provisions under the articles of association of such party
and (ii) any applicable PRC laws and regulations. However,
the interpretation and implementation of the laws and
regulations concerning the foreign investment in the PRC,
and their application to and effect on the legality, binding
effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to the
discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative and
judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance that
PRC legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will not
adopt a different or contrary interpretation or view against
view of the Company and its legal advisor in respect of the
legality, binding effect and enforceability of the Structured
Contracts, and may determine that the contracts do not
comply with applicable regulations.

HE 2 B B 49 11 B I 73 P 16C /L Bt 7y ARER
BI1TE

B

EREENBNEERSEA - AEEM
e 250 B2 150 950 T TED I ) 3 765 R\ e A0 B 765 L
%2 o NRERFEE BN & ELEEAA
B WRBBEREHSIEHHEMBRR
REZFEBHIXNTAEE - (EAE
BB M EXBR(FRERR A
RH)KERREREBE NS MR
=T BRBEEBRINATERR
ERRBDERES - TREREREE
XEERDHRIWBEENBRSAN
BRI R B R SRR A FFRY 3K
ZEWEERSHAREELRBERE
B A E /R B MO E AT BA
MEM - AZERS - REATERE
BERmRNBEREZEENBANK
RIS RABRAA

REBESORETR - PEDEZERES
o BEBEERONHBESTRE X
NHMETEBEENRNA>)TEER
HARTE - M (il)(EAE A B P BDRR0X
oo A - BREFBEMINEIREHDE
RERNBENER - REESZARNE
IR FE LI RIETTIE LB AR
HZBREEPBEDE - (THRMEDEE
FARIEE ° LEETEERE P BEA
TR AR BB NS A —EEAR
AR ERBERENEBESNNAE
1~ RDMATAITIEBE TR E
BRHEEXE  YARERESH
TEBERAIDER

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

69



70

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
E=2RS(8)

Further, the Structured Contracts may not provide control
over Chongging Yugangao and Chongqging Yuecheng
as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and
Chongging Yugangao may have potential conflicts of interest
with the Company; and the Structured Contracts may be
subject to scrutiny of the tax authorities and additional tax
may be imposed on the Group.

We believe that there are limited business insurance
products available in the market, and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, no insurance products
specifically designed for protecting the risks relating to
the Structured Contracts are available in the PRC market.
Further, it is not compulsory for Chongqging Yugangao
and Chongging Yuecheng to maintain an insurance policy
to cover risks relating to the Structured Contracts under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly,
the Group has not purchased any insurance to cover the
above risks.

Internal control

In order to mitigate the risks associated with the Structured
Contracts, the Company has put in place effective internal
controls over Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yuecheng and
Chongging Yugangao to safeguard its assets held through
the Structured Contracts. As a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Chonqgging Ruibo is subject to all the
internal control process and procedures applicable to the
Group.

The operations of Chongging Yugangao and Chongqing
Yuecheng are exclusively controlled by Chongging Ruibo
through the Structured Contracts and the Group has
applied its internal control processes and procedures
to Chongging Yugangao and Chongqging Yuecheng.
In particular, pursuant to the Structured Contracts, (i)
Chongging Ruibo has the right to nominate, appoint or
terminate, the legal representatives, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager and other
senior management members of Chongging Yugangao
and Chongging Yuecheng; (ii) without the prior consent of
Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng is not allowed to dispose of any of their
respective assets with a value of RMB1,000,000 or more.
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Material changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no
material changes in the Structured Contracts and/or the
circumstances under which the Structured Contracts were
adopted.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been
any unwinding of any Structured Contracts, nor has there
been any failure to unwind any Structured Contracts when
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed. In the event that the PRC
regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the
Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming
there are no other changes in the relevant PRC laws and
regulations), Chongaging Ruibo will exercise the Equity
Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements
so that the Company will be able to directly operate the
schools without using the Structured Contracts.

For details of the above Structured Contracts, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 27 September
2017.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO BOHAI
EXPERIMENTAL SCHOOL

The Contractual Arrangements

On 2 May 2018, Chongging Mengzhuo Education Technology
Co, lLtd* (EE & £ # 5 & & A B 2 7)) (“Chongging
Mengzhuo”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a set of agreements in relation to
Shiji Kuangao, Jierui and its shareholders, Mr. Li and Mr. Li
Jiandong (“Mr. Li JD”), namely, the (a) Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement B, (b) Equity Pledge Agreements B, (c)
Exclusive Call Option Agreements B, (d) Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements B; and (e) Power of Attorneys B, and
(f) Spouse Undertakings B, (as defined below) (collectively, the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

Shiji Kuangao, Bohai Experimental School and Laoling
Minsheng Secondary School Limited as the school sponsor
of Laoling Senior High School Affiliated with Minsheng
Education Group are referred to as “PRC Operating Company
and School” and together with Jierui, referred to as “PRC
Operating Entities B” in this section.
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Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

the Group is able to exercise control over (i) Shiji Kuangao
as the school sponsor of Bohai Experimental School; and
(ii) Laoling Minsheng Secondary School Limited as the
school sponsor of Laoling Senior High School Affiliated
with Minsheng Education Group;

the Group has the right to govern the management of
Jierui and Shiji Kuangao;

the Group has the right to deal with the assets of Jierui
and Shiji Kuangao;

the Group has the right to acquire the entire equity interest
of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (as and when the PRC relevant
rules and regulations allow it to do so);

the Company is able to consolidate the financial results of
Jierui, Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental School into
the Group’s results from the commencement date of the
Contractual Arrangements; and

none of Jierui (as the sole shareholder of Shiji Kuangao)
and Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (as the shareholders of Jierui)
will obtain or receive any financial or commercial benefits
from the equity interest in Jierui or Shiji Kuangao (as the
case may be) under the Contractual Arrangements despite
holding direct or indirect equity interest in Shiji Kuangao.

The following diagram illustrates the relationship among the
Company, Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui, Shiji Kuangao, Bohai
Experimental School and the shareholders of Jierui:
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" Power of Attorney Bl
REZTEBI

Mr. Li Xuechun

FEERE

The Company 5%

Mr. Li Jiandong
FEREE

95%

¥ N/NE]

Provision of

i 100% services under

the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement B

BEBEREBEE
R BIR AR
Chongqingm \
Mengzhuo 4
sggsl
Service fee
ART5 &

HELQ T Power of Attorney Bl :

PRC Operating
Company

and School
P E
DNARER

Jierui

REZTEBI
100%

Note:
(1) Chongging Mengzhuo is indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.

Reasons for use of the Contractual Arrangements

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of
Bohai Experimental School is a restricted business to foreign
investors at present.
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Bohai Experimental School engages in high school education
in the PRC. From March 2002, in accordance with the
Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (2002
Revision), high school education has been revised as restricted
business for foreign investors. At present, pursuant to the
Foreign Investment Catalogue (2017), high school education
is a restricted business for foreign investors and limited to
Sino-foreign cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals.
The Company is an overseas company registered outside the
PRC, which is a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the equity
interest in Shiji Kuangao was owned by the Company, it would
be regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school is subject to the Foreign Ownership
Restriction.

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, pursuant to
Implementing Measures, the foreign investor of a Sino-foreign
cooperative educational institution is subject to the Qualification
Requirement. There is no specific criteria or guidance on the
Qualification Requirement under the current PRC laws and
regulations.
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As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, the principal
business of Bohai Experimental School falls within the aforesaid
industry, and the Company, as a foreign investor investing in
the business of operating high school education in the PRC, is
subject to the Qualification Requirement. Based on its interview
with the Education Bureau of Shouguang City (the “Education
Bureau”) in May 2018, the PRC Legal Advisors was informed
that: (i) the restrictions to foreign investors as stipulated in
the relevant PRC laws and regulations apply to Sino-foreign
cooperative education in Shouguang City; and (ii) no further
implementation measures or specific guidance have been
promulgated under the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation
of Educational Institutions and the Implementing Measures
in Shandong or Shouguang which sets out the procedures
and specific criteria for the satisfaction of the Qualification
Requirement. The PRC Legal Advisors is therefore of the view
that (i) there are no specific requirements in the Implementing
Measures or specific criteria or guidance under the current
PRC laws and regulations as to how Shiji Kuangao can be
regarded as an educational institution; and (ii) if Shiji Kuangao
were a subsidiary of the Group, it would not be qualified to act
as a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign cooperative educational
institution, until the relevant specific implementation measures
and/or guidance have been promulgated to enable the Group
to attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisors, in order to achieve the business purpose of the
Company, the Contractual Arrangements, through which the
Group will be able to exercise full control over Shiji Kuangao
and consolidate the financial results of Jierui, Shiji Kuangao
and Bohai Experimental School into the accounts of the Group,
have been utilized to minimize the potential conflict with
relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Termination of the Contractual Arrangements

The Directors confirm that the Company will monitor the
development of the relevant PRC laws and regulations on
the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Qualification
Requirement and other relevant restrictions on foreign investors
and work closely with Jierui and Shiji Kuangao to take all
reasonable steps to comply with the other requirements or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements to the extent possible
and practicable under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In addition to monitoring the development of the relevant PRC
laws and regulations on the Qualification Requirement, the
Company is also minded to further develop its capabilities
to provide higher education services overseas in order to be
prepared to satisfy the Qualification Requirement when the
relevant specific criteria and guidance become available. The
Group owns approximately 25.6% equity interest in Beacon
International College PTE LTD. in Singapore and is one of two
members of Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Higher Education
Limited in Hong Kong. The Group currently participates in
the management of these two schools mainly through its
representatives who are appointed as directors or governors
of each school. As these schools are overseas schools of
higher education, which are in line with the principles set out
in the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational
Institutions and the Implementation Measures in relation to
the status of a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign cooperative
educational institution, the Directors believe such investment
and involvement in overseas educational institutions will be
conducive to the Group’s satisfaction of the Qualification
Requirement when the relevant laws, regulation, procedures
and/or guidance are promulgated.
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Details of the Contractual Arrangements

The major provisions of the contracts in the Contractual
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement
entered into between Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui
(the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
B”), Chongqging Mengzhuo agreed to provide exclusive
technical services to Jierui, including but not limited to,
technical services, network support, business consulting,
market consulting, system maintenance and other services
necessary for the business of or as required by Jierui and
allowed under the PRC law.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B,
Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to charge Jierui each
financial year for a service fee equals to all the amount of
its net profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes,
losses from the previous year (if required by the law)
and the statutory provident fund as required by law) for
the corresponding period. Chongqging Mengzhuo has the
right (but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such
service fee by reference to, among others, the actual
services provided and the actual business operations and
needs of Jierui, provided that any adjusted amount shall
not cause any difficulties for the operations of both of
Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements B

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into by
and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji Kuangao
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement BI’), Jierui agreed to
pledge and grant the first priority security interests over
the entire equity interest of Shiji Kuangao owned by Jierui
together with all related rights thereto to Chongqging
Mengzhuo as security for performance the Contractual
Arrangements and all direct, indirect, consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred by
Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of enforcement of
the obligations of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao under the
Contractual Arrangements until all such obligations are
discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Mengzhuo or
as required by PRC laws and regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Equity Pledge Agreement
BIl”, together with the Equity Pledge Agreement BI, the
“Equity Pledge Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
agreed to pledge and grant the first priority security
interests over the 100% equity interest of Jierui owned by
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD in aggregate together with all related
rights thereto to Chongging Mengzhuo as security for
performance the Contractual Arrangements and all direct,
indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable loss of
interest incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Li JD and
Jierui under the Contractual Arrangements until all such
obligations are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging
Mengzhuo or as required by PRC laws and regulations.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement
BI"), Jierui has irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during the
term of the Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or part
of the 100% equity interest of Shiji Kuangao held by Jierui
at a consideration which is the lower of the registered
capital contribution by Jierui to Shiji Kuangao and nominal
consideration, or otherwise at the lowest price permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement
Bl, Jierui has irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the
PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the Company
any consideration they receive in the event that the
Company acquires the equity interest in Shiji Kuangao
when unwinding the Contractual Arrangements.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option
agreement entered into by and among Chongqging
Mengzhuo, Jierui, Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreement BIl”, together with Exclusive
Call Option Agreement BI, the “Exclusive Call Option
Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably
and unconditionally granted Chongging Mengzhuo the
right to, as and when permitted by the applicable PRC
laws and regulations during the term of the Contractual
Arrangements, acquire all or part of the 100% equity
interest of Jierui together held by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
for the lower of the registered capital contribution by
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to Jierui and nominal consideration,
or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition, pursuant
to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement BII, Mr. Li and Mr.
Li JD have irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the PRC
laws and regulations, they will return to the Company any
consideration they receive in the event that the Company
acquires the equity interest in Jierui when terminating the
Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements B and

Power of Attorneys B

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement Bl and Power
of Attorney Bl

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement Bl”), Jierui executed a power of attorney
in favour of Chongqging Mengzhuo (the “Power of
Attorney BI”) pursuant to which Jierui has irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to,
among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Jierui and to make decisions which
Jierui is entitled to make as the shareholder of Shiji
Kuangao on behalf of Jierui;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting rights
in Shiji Kuangao as granted by the PRC law and the
articles and associations of Shiji Kuangao, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests in
Shiji Kuangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Shiji Kuangao in accordance
with its articles and associations, or nominate,
appoint or change the legal representative, chairman,
directors, supervisors, chief executive officer, manager
or other management level personnel of Shiji Kuangao.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person
or entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging
Mengzhuo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney BI.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement Bl, Jierui guarantees and
undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Shiji Kuangao,
Jierui agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at
the lowest consideration as permitted by the then
applicable laws and regulations to Chongqging
Mengzhuo such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Shiji Kuangao or its associated
companies, or be engaged by any entity which is
or may be in competition with the business of Shiji
Kuangao or its associated companies, or hold any
assets of such entity or hold more than 5% interest in
such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement BIl, any successor to Jierui shall hold the
respective equity interest in Shiji Kuangao subject to
conditions, requirements and obligations under the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement BI.

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement Bll and
Power of Attorney BII

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Mr. Li, Mr.
Li JD and Jierui (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement BII”, together with the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement Bl, the “Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
executed a power of attorney in favour of Chongging
Mengzhuo (the “Power of Attorney BIl”, together with
the Power of Attorney BI, the “Power of Attorneys B”)
pursuant to which Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to,
among other things:
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(iii)

act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Jierui in
accordance with its articles and associations;

exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Jieruio as granted by the PRC law and its
articles and associations, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing in
all or any of the equity interests in Jierui; and

serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Jierui in accordance with its
articles and associations, or nominate, appoint or
change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Jierui.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person
or entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging
Mengzhuo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney BII.

In addition,

pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights

Entrustment Agreement Bll, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i)

in the event he receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Jierui) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Jierui, each
of them agrees to transfer at nil consideration or
at the lowest consideration as permitted by the
then applicable laws and regulations to Chongging
Mengzhuo such asset; and

(i) EAZTAEERTERAENRE
@ﬁ%*“imaﬁ £ HFE
BRELNFINBERS

(i) TEMFIEFBEREERAE
MERAE THREST QAP
BERREMNREERE  BFREAN

@%ﬁ%*%ﬁ*gﬁiuﬁm
TAREREARZHMAIMO K
1 N

(i) RBEERANEREFTESER
AREERRA EFE - BITE
YL SRR ZEAEXER
HERARREEREA EE -
B EX HEHNTE KB
RHMETEEASR o

EEESERRETMAARER - A
EEREMRFESIHAANIBRA
HTEEZSAERBRAEEBITHRE
RETTIEAHER -

I REBEBRERKRREZ T WHHBI
FRERFERFEERESAGENT

HEBIHERRBBERE
ﬁ@%&f%?%itﬁﬁfEf?éiﬁi(EJ%§
j%h%ﬁ#’ LREEE
Wil AR RER 27T
ERZEEEERETERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

83



84

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
E=2RS(8)

®)

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo,
neither of them will, directly or indirectly, participate
or engage in any business which is or may be
in competition with the business of Jierui or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any entity
which is or may be in competition with the business of
Jierui or its associated companies, or hold any assets
of such entity or hold more than 5% interest in such
entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement Bll, in the event of death, loss of capacity,
marriage, divorce or bankruptcy of Mr. Li and Mr. Li
JD, or other similar events affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD
in exercising their respective shareholders’ rights of
Jierui, any successor to Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD shall hold the
respective equity interest in Jierui subject to conditions,
requirements and obligations under the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement Bll.

Spouse Undertakings B

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse
Undertakings B”) executed by Ms. Xin, the spouse of Mr.
Li JD, Ms. Xin has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the Contractual Arrangements to
which Mr. Li JD is a party, and in particular, the equity
interest in Jierui owned by Mr. Li JD is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Li JD and herself, she is not
entitled to any rights attached to such equity interests
of Mr. Li JD in Jierui (including the rights arising from
the Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the
Contractual Arrangements (including but not limited to
claiming her entitlement to the equity interest of Jierui
owned by Mr. Li JD and any rights arising from the
Contractual Arrangements);
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(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management in
relation to Jierui and claim any interest in relation to
the equity interest and assets of Jierui;

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Jierui for any reason, she agrees to be
a party to the Contractual Arrangements and be
bound by the relevant restrictions as set out in the
Contractual Arrangements and perform any act and
execute all necessary documents in order to give
effect to such restrictions.

Further information about the Contractual Arrangements
Authorization to obtain assets of Shiji Kuangao

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
Bl and the Power of Attorney BI, Chongging Mengzhuo has
been authorized to exercise all rights of Jierui as the sole
shareholder of Shiji Kuangao under applicable laws and the
articles of association of Shiji Kuangao, including but not
limited to the right to dividends and right to deal with the assets
of Shiji Kuangao. It is also the guarantee and undertaking that,
in the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement Bl, in the
event it receives any asset (including the equity interest of Shiji
Kuangao) in relation to the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal
or termination of Shiji Kuangao, Jierui agrees to transfer at nil
consideration or at the lowest consideration as permitted by the
then applicable laws and regulations to Chongging Mengzhuo
such asset.
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Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, any dispute
arising from the validity, interpretation and performance of the
Contractual Arrangements between the parties thereto should
first be resolved through negotiation. If the parties are unable
to settle the dispute within 30 days, any party may submit the
said dispute to the Chongging Arbitration Commission with a
view to resolving the dispute through arbitration in accordance
with the arbitration rules thereof. The results of the arbitration
shall be final and binding on all relevant parties. The arbitral
commission shall have the right to award remedies over the
equity interest and property interest and other assets of Jierui,
injunctive relief (for the conduct of business or to compel the
transfer of assets) or order the winding up of Jierui (the “Arbitral
Award Provisions”).

The Contractual Arrangements also provide that pending
formation of the arbitral tribunal or in appropriate cases, the
courts of Hong Kong, the Company’s place of incorporation (the
Cayman Islands), Jierui's place of establishment (the PRC), the
jurisdiction where the principal assets of Chongging Mengzhuo
or Jierui are located (the PRC) have the power to grant interim
remedies in support of the arbitration (the “Interim Remedies
Provisions”).

However, as advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, according
to the PRC laws and regulations, the arbitral tribunal normally
would not grant such kind of remedies or injunctive relief or
winding up order of such PRC operational entities as Jierui
under the PRC laws and regulations. For instance, the arbitral
commission has no authority to grant such injunctive relief, nor
will it be able to order the winding up of the PRC operational
entities pursuant to existing PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, interim remedies or enforcement order granted by
overseas courts such as Hong Kong and Cayman Islands may
not be recognizable or enforceable in China.
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Conflict of interests

The Company confirms that appropriate arrangements have
been made to address the potential conflict of interests
between Shiji Kuangao and the Group. In particular, the
undertakings executed by Jierui in favour of Chongqing
Mengzhuo provide that it will neither, directly or indirectly,
participate or engage in any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of Shiji Kuangao or its associated
company, or acquire or hold any such business, nor carry on
any activities which may lead to any conflict of interest between
itself and Chongqging Mengzhuo. Pursuant to Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement Bl and the Power of Attorney BI,
Jierui guarantees and undertakes that the exercise of the rights
as granted to Chongqging Mengzhuo or as authorized by Jierui
shall not give rise to any conflict of interests.

Legality and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements

The PRC Legal Advisors confirmed that (i) the Contractual
Arrangements comply with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC applicable to Shiji Kuangao and the respective articles
of association of Shiji Kuangao and Chongging Mengzhuo; and
(ii) the Contractual Arrangements would not be deemed as
concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form and void under
the PRC Contract Law ({FFZE AR LI A RBED).

In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement Bl and the Power of Attorney BIl, appropriate
arrangements have been made to protect the Company’s
interests in the event of winding up or liquidation of Shiji
Kuangao to avoid any practical difficulties in enforcing the
Contractual Arrangements.
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As advised by the PRC Legal Advisors, other than the Arbitral
Award Provisions and the Interim Remedies Provisions, which
may not be enforced under the relevant laws of the PRC, all
the contractual rights and obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements are enforceable under PRC laws. Based on
the legal opinion from the PRC Legal Advisors, the Directors
believe that, other than the Arbitral Award Provisions and
the Interim Remedies Provisions, each of the Contractual
Arrangements which confers significant control and economic
benefits from Jeirui or Shiji Kuangao to Chongging Mengzhuo
is enforceable under the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC.

Significance and financial contributions of PRC Operating
Entities B to the Group

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the Group obtains
control over and derives the economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Entities B. The table below sets out the financial
contribution of the PRC Operating Entities B to the Group:
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Consolidation of financial results

Based on the Contractual Arrangements and the legal opinion
provided by the PRC Legal Advisors, the Directors are of
the view that the Contractual Arrangements have allowed the
Company to consolidate the financial results of PRC Operating
Entities B under the prevailing accounting principles.

Risks involved in the Contractual Arrangements

As the primary beneficiary of Shiji Kuangao, the Group is
exposed to the business risks and financial risks faced by
Shiji Kuangao. There is no assurance that Shiji Kuangao will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group through
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B and the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement BIl. Any profit or
loss of Shiji Kuangao (net of intra-group transactions) will be
reflected in the consolidated financial results of the Group.
The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement Bl is
subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There
is no assurance that the acquisition of the equity interest in
Shiji Kuangao held by Jierui under the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement Bl will be permitted in the future, or whether such
acquisition will incur any costs and expenses to the Group in
addition to the consideration stipulated under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement Bl. Due to these limitations, the transfer
of equity interest in Shiji Kuangao pursuant to the exercise of
the call option under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement Bl
may still be subject to substantial costs.
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The PRC Legal Advisors is of the opinion that as at the date of
this annual report, the execution, delivery and performance of
the Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties thereto,
is in compliance with (i) the provisions under the articles of
association of such party and (ii) any applicable PRC laws and
regulations. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations concerning the foreign investment
in the PRC, and their application to and effect on the legality,
binding effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to
the discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative
and judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance
that PRC legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will
not adopt a different or contrary interpretation or view against
view of the Company and its legal advisors in respect of the
legality, binding effect and enforceability of the Contractual
Arrangements, and may determine that the contracts do not
comply with applicable regulations.

Further, the Contractual Arrangements may not provide control
over Jierui and Shiji Kuangao as effective as direct ownership;
Mr. Li, Mr. Li JD and Jierui may have potential conflicts of
interest with the Company; and the Contractual Arrangements
may be subject to scrutiny of the tax authorities and additional
tax may be imposed on the Group.

We believe that there are limited business insurance products
available in the market, and to the best knowledge of our
Directors, no insurance products specifically designed for
protecting the risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements
are available in the PRC market. Further, it is not compulsory
for Jierui and Shiji Kuangao to maintain an insurance policy to
cover risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements under the
applicable PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Group
has not purchased any insurance to cover the above risks.
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Internal control

The Company has put in place effective internal controls over
Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji Kuangao to safeguard
its assets held through the Contractual Arrangements. As
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Chongging
Mengzhuo is subject to all the internal control process and
procedures applicable to the Group.

The operations of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao are exclusively
controlled by Chongqging Mengzhuo through the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group has applied its internal control
processes and procedures to Jierui and Shiji Kuangao. In
particular, pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, (i)
Chongqging Mengzhuo has the right to nominate, appoint
or terminate, the legal representatives, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager and other senior
management members of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao; (ii) without
the prior consent of Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji
Kuangao is not allowed to dispose of, transfer, pledge or in any
way deal with, any of their respective assets (except, within the
ordinary course of business, with a value of RMB1,000,000 or
less), business, operation power and/or revenue.

Financing arrangements

It is expected that the funds necessary for Jierui to satisfy its
payment obligations under the Interest Transfer Agreement will
be indirectly financed by the Group’s internal resources by way
of loan(s) or other legal financial arrangement(s) with Jierui
and/or Shiji Kuangao.
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Other information

Apart from Shiji Kuangao, Jierui does not generate revenue
from any other subsidiaries of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, Chongqging Mengzhuo has
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in operating its business through Jierui or
Shiji Kuangao under the Contractual Arrangements.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied in
full with the guidance letter HKEx-GL77-14 issued by the
Stock Exchange in relation to listed issuers using contractual
arrangements for their business in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the

announcements of the Company dated 12 March 2018, 13 April
2018 and 2 May 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARE, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

EEREFRITRAEBRRSG - ABRORE
EETERNERIAR

R2018F12A31H » AR Al EEREETT
BABRARRAIZEMEZEZE(ERRER
ERIESTIERZFRAEGRI(ESRIE
R B1 1) EXVED) B AR (D - MHEERD REREE
A RRE 5 KA E (R B B 35218 /A 50 8%
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Al)ZBRE RN E) R R TR R IOXR IR
5=t

B P A

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company as at

31 December 2018

Nature of Number of R2018512H31H
Name of Director interest shares held Position i NN O T
EEfNE HEROHE BR/ KR BOBA
Mr. Li Xuechun (Mete) Beneficial owner 3,000,000,000 Long 74.67%
FEEREHD EREBA )
Ms. Zhang Weiping Beneficial owner 30,000,000 Long 0.75%
SRETTRL EREBA )
Mr. Zuo Yichen Beneficial owner 8,000,000 Long 0.20%
FREEE BEREAA e
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung Beneficial owner 8,000,000 Long 0.20%
MEREELE EREEA )
Ms. Li Yanping Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 Long 0.02%
PR L EnEBA )

Note: Mr. Li holds 90% of the issued share capital of Minsheng Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer Investments
Limited) (“Minsheng Group”) and is its sole director and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Minsheng Group. Ms. Li
Ning, daughter of Mr. Li, holds the remaining 10% of the issued share
capital of Minsheng Group.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, neither the
Chief Executives nor any of the Directors of the Company had
or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to any Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than Director or chief executive of the Company) or
corporations who had interest or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company as at

31 December 2018

Nature of Number of M2018F12831H

Name of Shareholder interest shares held Position NI
e ERitE FEROHE BE/ KR BAED T
Minsheng Group (formerly known Beneficial owner 3,000,000,000 Long 74.67%

as Honest Cheer Investments ERfEBA HE

Limited)
RAESH(RIERERERRAR)
City Legend International Limited Beneficial owner 332,000,000 Long 8.26%
EEBRERAT] EnEBA )
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company which would require to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, at no time during the year 2018 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were any such
rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Each of our executive Directors (other than Mr. Lam Ngai
Lung) has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 1
August 2016 and Mr. Lam Ngai Lung has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from 22 May 2016. The term of
each of the service contracts between the Company and the
executive Directors will be automatically renewed for a further
term of three years upon the expiration of the initial term, until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other (or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the relevant service contract).
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Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed
term of one year commencing from the Listing Date and the
term of each of these service contracts will be automatically
renewed for a further term of one year after the expiration of
the initial term, until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing by served by either party on the other (or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the relevant service
contract).

Mr. Lin Kaihua and Ms. Li Yanping have been appointed as
non-executive Directors with effect from 28 June 2017. Each of
them has entered into an appointment letter with the Company
for an initial term of one year, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company and the term of each of the appointment may
be renewed for a further term of one year by mutual agreement
between the above respective director and the Company upon
expiration of the initial term and each renewed term.

In accordance with article 84 (1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Li Xuechun, Ms. Zhang Weiping and Mr. Wang
Wei Hung, Andrew will retire from the Board by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As set out in the Prospectus, the Company would adopt,
among others, the following measures to avoid any conflict of
interests arising from competing business and to safeguard the
interests of the Shareholders: (i) the Company would disclose
decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-
executive Directors relating to compliance and enforcement of
the non-competition undertaking of the controlling shareholders
in the annual reports of the Company; and (ii) the controlling
shareholders would make an annual declaration on compliance
with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-competition in
the annual report of the Company.

The Company confirms that there were no conflicts of interests
between the controlling shareholders and the Group arising
from any competing business during the period from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2018 (both dates inclusive) (the “Relevant
Period”).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance of the Deed of Non-competition and
confirmed that nothing has come to their attention that the
controlling shareholders have breached any undertaking or
provisions under the Deed of Non-competition during the
Relevant Period.

The controlling shareholders have also confirmed that they
have complied with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition during the Relevant Period and have made an
annual declaration on such compliance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed for the year ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of principal terms of the share
option scheme (the “Shares Option Scheme”) conditionally
approved by a resolution of our sole shareholder passed on
2 March 2017 and adopted by a resolution of the Board on
2 March 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in compliance with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and
help motivate them to optimize their future contributions
to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain
on-going relationships with such Eligible Persons who
are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will
be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of
the Group, and additionally in the case of Executives (as
defined below), to enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options
(“Options”) to subscribe for such number of shares in
accordance with the terms set out in the Share Option
Scheme to:

(a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of the
Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for
any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b) a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
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a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the
Group;

a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group;

a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of the Group;

a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group;

an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and

any person involved in the business affairs of
the Company whom the Board determines to be
appropriate to participate in the Share Options
Scheme (the persons referred above are the “Eligible
Persons”).

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(such 10% limit representing 400,000,000 shares excluding
shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of
the Over-allotment Option granted by the Company) (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided that:
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(a)

the Company may at any time as our Board may think
fit seek approval from Shareholders of the Company
to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of approval by
the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting
where the Scheme Mandate Limit is refreshed. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme or any other schemes of the Company) shall
not be counted for the purposes of calculating the
Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed. The Company
shall send to Shareholders of the Company a circular
containing the details and information required under
the Listing Rules;

the Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting for
granting Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit,
provided that the Options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Person
specified by the Company before such approval is
obtained. The Company should issue a circular to the
Shareholders of the Company containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules; and

the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not exceed
30% of the Company’s issued share capital from time
to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company if this will result in such limit being
exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such
that the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of Options granted and to be granted
to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of
the Company’s issued share capital from time to time.
Where any further grant of Options to such an Eligible
Person would result in shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and to be granted
to such Eligible Person (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further
grant shall be separately approved by the Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his close associates (or his associates if such Eligible
Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders of the
Company disclosing the identity of the Eligible Person,
the number and terms of the Options to be granted (and
Options previously granted) to such Eligible Person, and
containing the details and information required under
the Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the
subscription price) of the Options to be granted to such
Eligible Person must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders of the Company and the date of the Board
meeting proposing such grant shall be taken as the offer
date for the purposes of calculating the subscription price
of those Options.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the
Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from
the Adoption Date to offer the grant of an Option to any
Eligible Person as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select to subscribe at the subscription price for such
number of shares as the Board may (subject to the terms
of the Share Option Scheme) determine (provided the
same shall be a board lot for dealing in the shares on the
Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).
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Granting Options to connected persons

Subject to the terms in the Share Option Scheme, only
insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require,
where any offer of an Option is proposed to be made to a
director, chief executive or a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their
respective associates, such offer must first be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
(excluding the independent non-executive Director who or
whose associates is the grantee of an Option).

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the securities issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options already
granted and to be granted (including Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of securities in issue; and

(b) (where the securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million, such further grant
of Options must be approved by the Shareholders of
the Company (voting by way of a poll). The Company
shall send a circular to the Shareholders containing
the information required under the Listing Rules.
The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in
favor at such general meeting.

Approval from the Shareholders is required for any change
in the terms of Options granted to a participant who is a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates. The grantee, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.
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Restriction on the time of grant of Options

The Board shall not grant any Option under the Share
Option Scheme after inside information has come to
its knowledge until such inside information has been
announced pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. In particular, no Option shall be granted during the
period commencing one month immediately preceding the
earlier of the date of the Board meeting (as such date is
first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the
Listing Rules) for the approval of the Company’s results for
any year, half-year, quarterly or any other interim period
(whether or not required under the Listing Rules) and the
deadline for the Company to publish an announcement
of its results for any year, half-year, quarterly or any
other interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcements.

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance
target

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board
may in its absolute discretion when offering the grant of
an Option impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations
in relation thereto in addition to those set forth in the
Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be
stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of
the Option) including (without prejudice to the generality
of the foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility
criteria, conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of performance, operating or financial targets
by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain
conditions or obligations or the time or period before the
right to exercise the Option in respect of any of the shares
shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall not
be inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the
Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, subject
to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine
as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in
relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no
minimum period for which an Option must be held before
it can be exercised and no performance target which need
to be achieved by the grantee before the Option can be
exercised.
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9. Amount payable for Options and offer period 9. BRENENZHERZVHR
An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for SERATARELNAHEF288 K
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period BEONREBERENEY - A EER
of 28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant FESTEI B H B M B 1 IR B R o
of an Option may be accepted after the expiry of the KABREBEER AL BENERE
effective period of the Share Option Scheme. An Option EHz A TERELRAHK28H
shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted BB HA(T 40 B 8 ) ok 2 B & p ks
by the Eligible Person and to have taken effect when the AERBENBEREZNEREZONE
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer AHERIA - ERE AR AT AW AR
of the Option duly signed by the grantee together with a 1.00/8 TClEK (1E AR HEERENRE)
remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way R AREFAEEERDBKEE
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the AR AR o ZERREMIBR
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an TAE3R[E -
Option must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person,
being a date no later than 28 days after the offer date
(the “Acceptance Date”). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.
Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted in EREBREREZENIEDREL TR
respect of less than the number of shares in respect of EMNRMEE TAER - HERHEE
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect LAREE X FTE B 10 B — F s AER 52
of board lots for dealing in shares on the Stock Exchange BZEAEN - BB BEMENE
or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly A NEEIREZ AN B4 G RIAA -
stated in the duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance MEZENBHRTEBERENSHRE
of the offer of the Option. To the extent that the offer of B4 Bl AREZ TR BRI iR 4B -
the grant of an Option is not accepted by the Acceptance
Date, it will be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

10. Subscription price 10. RIEE

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription price
shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a share;
(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and
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(c)

the average closing price of a share as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 Business Days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

11. Exercise of Option

(a)

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part (but
if in part only, in respect of a board lot or any integral
multiple thereof) within the Option period in the
manner as set out in this Share Option Scheme by the
grantee (or his or her legal personal representative(s))
by giving notice in writing to the Company stating
that the Option is thereby exercised and specifying
the number of shares in respect of which it is
exercised. Each such notice must be accompanied
by a remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the shares in respect of which
the notice is given. Within 28 days after receipt of the
notice and, where appropriate, receipt of a certificate
from our auditors pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme, the Company shall accordingly allot and
issue the relevant number of shares to the grantee (or
his or her legal personal representative(s)) credited as
fully paid with effect from (but excluding) the relevant
exercise date and issue to the grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) share certificate(s) in
respect of the shares so allotted.

The exercise of any Option may be subject to a
vesting schedule to be determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion, which shall be specified in the
offer letter.

The exercise of any Option shall be subject to
the members of the Company in general meeting
approving any necessary increase in the authorised
share capital of the Company.

(c)
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(d) Subject as hereinafter provided and subject to the
terms and conditions upon which the Option was
granted, an Option may be exercised by the Grantee
at any time during the Option Period, provided that:

(i)

in the event that the grantee dies or becomes
permanently disabled before exercising an Option
(or exercising it in full) and none of the events
for termination of employment or engagement
pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
exists with respect to such grantee, he or she (or
his or her legal representative(s)) may exercise
the Option up to the grantee’s entitlement
immediately prior to the death or permanently
disability (to the extent not already exercised)
within a period of 12 months following his or her
death or permanent disability or such longer
period as the Board may determine;

in the event that the grantee ceases to be an
Executive for any reason (including his or her
employing company ceasing to be a member of
the Group) other than his or her death, permanent
disability, retirement pursuant to such retirement
scheme applicable to the Group at the relevant
time or the transfer of his or her employment to
an affiliate company or the termination of his or
her employment with the relevant member of the
Group by resignation or culpable termination,
the Option (to the extent not already exercised)
shall lapse on the date of cessation of such
employment and not be exercisable unless the
Board otherwise determines in which event the
Option (or such remaining part thereof) shall be
exercisable within such period as the Board may
in its absolute discretion determine following the
date of such cessation;
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(iii)

if a general offer is made to all holders of
shares and such offer becomes or is declared
unconditional (in the case of a takeover offer)
or is approved by the requisite majorities at
the relevant meetings of the Shareholders
of the Company (in the case of a scheme of
arrangement), the grantee shall be entitled to
exercise the Option (to the extent not already
exercised) at any time (in the case of a takeover
offer) within one month after the date on which
the offer becomes or is declared unconditional or
(in the case of a scheme of arrangement) prior
to such time and date as shall be notified by the
Company;

if a compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection
with a scheme for the reconstruction of the
Company or its amalgamation with any other
company, the Company shall give notice thereof
to the grantees who have Options unexercised
at the same time as it dispatches notices to all
members or creditors of the Company summoning
the meeting to consider such a compromise or
arrangement and thereupon each grantee (or his
or her legal representatives or receiver) may until
the expiry of the earlier of:

(1) the Option period;

(2) the period of two months from the date of
such notice; or

(8) the date on which such compromise or
arrangement is sanctioned by the court,
exercise in whole or in part his or her Option.

(iii)
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(V)

in the event a notice is given by the Company to
its members to convene a general meeting for
the purposes of considering, and if thought fit,
approving a resolution to voluntarily wind-up the
Company, the Company shall on the same date
as or soon after it dispatches such notice to each
member of the Company give notice thereof to
all grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or his
or her legal personal representative(s)) shall be
entitled to exercise all or any of his or her options
at any time not later than two Business Days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) prior to the proposed
general meeting of the Company by giving notice
in writing to the Company, accompanied by a
remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the shares in respect of
which the notice is given whereupon the Company
shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no
later than the business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules) immediately prior to the date of the
proposed general meeting referred to above, allot
the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as
fully paid.

12. Life of Share Option Scheme

Subject to the terms of this Share Option Scheme, the
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years from the date on which it becomes unconditional,
after which no further options will be granted or offered but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect in all other respects. All Options granted
prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall continue
to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme. As at 31 December
2018, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme was
approximately 8 years and 3 months.
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13. Lapse of Share Option

An Option shall lapse automatically and not be exercisable,
to the extent not already exercised, on the earliest of:

(a)

(b)

the expiry of the Option period;

the expiry of any of the period referred to paragraphs
related to exercise of the Option;

subject to the terms of the period mentioned in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme — 11.
Exercise of Option” in this section, the date of the
commencement of the winding-up of the Company;

there is an unsatisfied judgement, order or award
outstanding against the grantee or the Board has
reason to believe that the grantee is unable to pay or
to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay
his/her/its debts;

there are circumstances which entitle any person
to take any action, appoint any person, commence
proceedings or obtain any order of the type mentioned
in this Share Option Scheme with respect to the
exercise of the Option;

a bankruptcy order has been made against any
director or shareholder of the grantee (being a
corporation) in any jurisdiction.

No compensation shall be payable upon the lapse of
any Option, provided that the Board shall be entitled in
its discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee
in such manner as it may consider appropriate in any
particular case.
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14. Adjustment

In the event of any alteration to the capital structure of the
Company while any Option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalization of profits or reserves, right issue,
consolidations, reclassification, reconstruction, sub-division
or reduction of the share capital of the Company, the
Board may, if it considers the same to be appropriate,
direct that adjustments be made to:

(a) the maximum number of shares subject to the Share
Option Scheme; and/or

(b) the aggregate number of shares subject to the Option
so far as unexercised; and/or

(c) the subscription price of each outstanding Option.

Where the Board determines that such adjustments
are appropriate (other than an adjustment arising from
a capitalization issue), the auditors appointed by the
Company shall certify in writing to the Board that any
such adjustments are in their opinion fair and reasonable,
provided that:

(a) any such adjustments shall give the Eligible Persons
the same proportion of equity capital as they
were previously entitled to. In respect of any such
adjustments, other than any made on a capitalization
issue, the auditors shall confirm to the Board in writing
that the adjustments satisfy this requirement;

(b) any such adjustments shall be made on the basis
that the aggregate subscription price payable by the
grantee on the full exercise of any Option shall remain
as nearly as practicable same as (but shall not be
greater than) it was before such event;

(c) no such adjustments shall be made the effect of which
would be to enable a share to be issued at less than
its nominal value;
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15.

(d) any such adjustments shall be made to in accordance
with the provisions as stipulated under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules and supplementary guidance on the
interpretation of the Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

(e) the issue of securities as consideration in a transaction
shall not be regarded as a circumstance requiring any
such adjustments.

Cancellation of Options not exercised

The Board shall be entitled for the following causes to
cancel any Option in whole or in part by giving notice in
writing to the grantee stating that such Option is thereby
cancelled with effect from the date specified in such notice
(the “Cancellation Date”):

(a) the grantee commits or permits or attempts to commit
or permit a breach of restriction on transferability of
Option or any terms or conditions attached to the
grant of the Option;

(b) the grantee makes a written request to the Board for
the Option to be cancelled; or

(c) if the grantee has, in the opinion of the Board,
conducted himself in any manner whatsoever to
the detriment of or prejudicial to the interests of the
Company or its subsidiary.

The Option shall be deemed to have been cancelled with
effect from the Cancellation Date in respect of any part
of the Option which has not been exercised as at the
Cancellation Date. No compensation shall be payable
upon any such cancellation, provided that the Board shall
be entitled in its discretion to pay such compensation to
the grantee in such manner as it may consider appropriate
in any particular case.

15.

(d) EZFAEARE ETRASE
17TERBZAREMBNAR L
T A5 Bl 52 1 B 4 FE 48 5 RO R XXAE
o R

(6) EARSRBNBLBETTHE
RABIEHREBEHER -

A ARITEAIIE IR IE

RGN TR BB AREA
FUEERA - HPRERRE SR
KT HE9R ) (S8 B3 )) B2 2B
EBIDEES

(a) AEAELEAFIELHBABIE
HAAFFERBREERENR
) B AR T 18 AR T BT A0 1 A 16
REAFAT

(b) ABRAMEZTSREE@ELGE
SHEBRHE ¢ 3

(c) WEEERAZREANTAFR
FE 87T B BB T RIR AL
SEELG] PNGVIER

SLISRESH B B R R TT (RO BB AR A0 (A7)
MM E - BARES PR EE A
FEEREH o ERRFTHEBAMME
MEEES  EEFTARBIBAER A
EEMSERR TEIRE & T A RAR
AR ER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

m



N2

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
E=2RS(8)

16.

17.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option
will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of
Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands from time
to time and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
then existing fully paid Shares in issue commencing from
(i) the allotment date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when
the register of members of the Company is closed, the
first date of the re-opening of the register of members.
Accordingly, it will entitle the holders to participate in all
dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after
(i) the allotment date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when
the register of members of the Company is closed, the first
day of the re-opening of the register of members, other
than any dividend or other distribution previously declared
or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the
record date therefore shall be before the allotment date.

Share issued upon the exercise of an Option shall not
carry rights until the registration of the grantee (or any
other person) as the holder thereof.

Termination

The Company may by resolution in general meeting at
any time terminate the operation of the Share Option
Scheme. Upon termination of the Share Option Scheme
as aforesaid, no further Options shall be offered but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect in all other respects. All Options granted
prior to such termination and not then exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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18.

19.

Transferability

The Option shall be personal to the grantee and shall
not be assignable and no grantee shall in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest (legal or beneficial) in favor of any third party over
or in relation to any Option or attempt to do so (save that
the grantee may nominate a nominee in whose name the
Shares issued pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may
be registered). Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle the
Company to cancel any outstanding Option or part thereof
granted to such grantee.

Alteration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect
by a resolution of the Board except that the following shall
not be carried out except with the prior sanction of an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders of the Company in
general meeting:

(a) any material alteration to its terms and conditions or
any change to the terms of Options granted (except
where the alterations take effect under the existing
terms of the Share Option Scheme);

(b) any alteration to the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme in relation to the matters set out in Rule 17.03
of the Listing Rules to the advantage of grantee;

(c) any change to the authority of the Board or any
person or committee delegated by the Board pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme to administer the day-to-
day running of the Scheme; and

(d) any alteration to the aforesaid alternation provisions.
provided always that the amended terms of the Share

Option Scheme shall comply with the applicable
requirements of the Listing Rules.

18.
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20. Conditions of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall come into effect on the
date on which the following conditions are fulfilled:

(a)

(b)

the approval of the Shareholders for the adoption of
the Share Option Scheme;

the approval of the Stock Exchange for the listing of
and permission to deal in, a maximum of 400,000,000
shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the
exercise of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme;

the commencement of dealing in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange; and

the obligations of the underwriters under the
Underwriting Agreement becoming unconditional and
not being terminated in accordance with the terms
thereof or otherwise.

If the permission referred to in paragraph (b) above is not
granted within two calendar months after the Adoption
Date:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the Share Option Scheme will forthwith terminate;

any Option granted or agreed to be granted pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme and any offer of such a
grant shall be of no effect;

no person shall be entitled to any rights or benefits or
be under any obligations under or in respect of the
Share Option Scheme or any Option; and

the Board may further discuss and devise another
share option scheme that is applicable to a private
company for adoption by our Company.
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OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SCHEME R EIR NNV ERE

Details of the Options granted and outstanding for the year & ZE2018F12A31BILEEFEHFEEEA
ended 31 December 2018, are as follows: TTEBREFSNT ¢

Number of Options granted: ERLBREZE :

Number of ordinary shares subject to share options granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

REERDRREARRET ARENBRES ROEBRARA
Date of grant Exercised

of Granted during during the  Lapsed during
Category share Exercise Outstanding the year year ended the year Outstanding as

andnameof  SHEE options price Exercise as at ended 31 31 December ended 31 at 31 December

patticipant ~ RIR &R (HKD) Period 1 January 2018 December 2018 2018 December 2018 2018

R018F  REZ018F  REZ2018F  REZ20185 R2018%

ke 1818 128318 128318 128318 124318
T

(®7) WAGE  LEERH LEETE  EFERM HATE

Zhang Weiping 5T 31/8J2017 1.39 31/8/2017 - 20,000,000 = = = 20,000,000
0f

018 - = 10,000,000 =

10,000,000
Zuo Yichen LrRR 31182017 1.39 31/8;2017 = 5,000,000 = = = 5,000,000

27182018 1.66 27/8/2018 - = 3,000,000 = = 3,000,000
LamNgailung #HE 31812017 139 3182017 - 5,000,000 - - . 5,000,000

21/8/2018 1.66 27/8/2018 - = 3,000,000 = = 3,000,000
Li Yanping T 27/8/2018 1.66 27/8/2018 - = 1,000,000 = = 1,000,000
Other EET 3182017 1.39 31/8/2017 - 5,000,000 = = = 5,000,000
employses 3?/8/2022

27/8/2018 1.66 27/8/2018 - = 10,750,000 =

10,750,000

Total a5t 35,000,000 21,750,000 =

62,750,000
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Note:

(1) The closing prices of the shares of the Company on 31 August 2017
and 27 August 2018, being the dates on which the Share Options
were granted, were HK$1.39 and HK$1.66 per share respectively.

(2) The Share Options with respect to a grantee will be exercisable in the
following manner:

(i)  20% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 20% of the share options will be vested on the second
anniversary of the date of grant and will be exercisable within
five years from the second anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 20% of the share options will be vested on the third anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(iv) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fourth anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

(v) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fifth anniversary

of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.
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As at the date of this annual report, the remaining number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
337,250,000 shares, representing approximately 8.4% of the
total issued shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no Options were
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme.

The subjectivity and uncertainty of the values of Options are
set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year 2018.
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 4,353
(2017: 2,662) staff in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and the prevailing market price. Other
employee benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance
and medical coverage and training programs.

RAFERBE - BEARESTEITE T A H3E1T78
NI BB A337,250,0000%  {HAA A
BEITIRMD RS 418.4% -
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A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance of the
Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive
Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme. For
further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to “Share
Option Scheme” in this annual report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in “Employee benefits” of Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following connected
transaction (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the year ended
31 December 2018:

On 24 December 2018, among others, Chongging Yuecheng
(as the lender), Leed National Education Technology (Beijing)
Limited* (as the borrower), Minsheng Vocational and National
Education Holding Limited (“National Education”) entered into
a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Chongqging Yuecheng agreed to lend to Leed National, and
Leed National agreed to borrow from Chongging Yuecheng a
loan in the principal amount of RMB200 million (the “Loan”).

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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Leed International is a subsidiary of the Company, held as to,
among others, 51% by Minsheng Vocational, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The other 49% of the issued share
capital of Leed International held by the relevant vendors
(including National Education, which is holding 39.99% in Leed
International) are entrusted to the Company for management
pursuant to the Equity Entrustment Agreement. Since
National Education holds more than 10% of the issued share
capital of Leed International, it is a substantial shareholder
of Leed International, and therefore a connected person
of the Company at subsidiary level. Based on information
available to the Company, one of the shareholders of Leed
International, namely Leed National Education Technology
(Beijing) Limited (“Leed National”), is ultimately beneficially
controlled and owned by the ultimate beneficial owners of
the relevant vendors in the Acquisition, and is, therefore, an
associate of the relevant vendors and a connected person at
the subsidiary level of the Company. According to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under
the Loan Agreement constitute a connected transaction at the
subsidiary level of the Company and subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent shareholders’
approval requirements. For further details on the Loan
Agreement, please refer to the announcement published by the
Company on 26 December 2018.

For details on the Acquisition, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Acquisition completed during the Reporting Period
— Danchi College of Yunnan University” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 13 to 15 in this annual
report.

Save as disclosed above, details of the related party
transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transactions as set out therein do not
fall under “Connected Transactions” or “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICIES

The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services, a line of business that generally does not have
material impact on the environment. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group did not incur any material cost of
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The important events occurred since the year ended 31
December 2018 are disclosed in the sub-section headed Qufu
Fareast Vocational and Technical College under the section
ACQUISITION IN PROGRESS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD and Note 43 to the financial statements.

LITIGATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatening against the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards in order to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has complied with all the code
provisions set forth in the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) during the year ended 31 December 2018.
The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate
governance practices of the Company for the purpose of
maintaining high corporate governance standards.

For details, please see the Corporate Governance Report in
this annual report on pages 122 to 140.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code. The members of the
audit committee have discussed with the management, and
reviewed, the 2018 consolidated financial statements as set out
in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 had been audited by Ernst & Young, who will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
as auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company has not changed its external auditor
since its Listing and up to the date of this annual report.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities. If the shareholders of the
Company are not sure about the tax effect on the purchase,
holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the
relevant shares of the Company, they are recommended to
consult independent experts for advice.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2019

BEREES

ARRBERGCEERTUANIEZEZES »
EZZEBeNKEBCEHEE B mi FGE
IR AR FERA2018F 45 B BB RE o

B Em

REBREE2018F 128318 IEFEMES
BHRERECHLKE TR BIEATERZ  BEH
EmER  BRTEEREEREFRERS
JEREE T AZEA - BAAR LMEEEAR
FIRAH - AREWEE REINEZEED

AHAEERBEERNERER

AR B HZEAR R AR A A AR BIE
FMERBEMRERMIRL © AR
BRTEEREE K46 g BEHTE
ARRIHRBEBR DM w2 ARG E » 2
BRESHEABLERADNGEER

AEEDW
FE
=25

F7#& - 20193 A14H

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

121



da

122

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEXEORS

INTRODUCTION

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence
and maximizing Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of stakeholders, and to comply
with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements as well as
fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

During the period from 1 January 2018 up to 31 December
2018 (both dates inclusive), the Company has complied with all
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
General

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the
Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitors and
evaluates its operating and financial performance and reviews
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It is also
responsible for approving certain specific matters such
as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or reappointments, investment policy, dividend
and accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for implementing its business strategies and
managing the daily operations of the Group’s businesses to
the executive Directors and members of senior management.
The functions and power that are so delegated are reviewed
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate. All
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance and financial position to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Board members have separate and independent access
to the Group’s senior management to fulfill their duties.
Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s
expense upon their request.

The Board has established three Board committees, being
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and
collectively the “Board Committees”), to oversee different
areas of the Company’s affairs. For details, please see “Board
Committees” below.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Xuechun, Ms. Zhang Weiping, Mr. Zuo Yichen and
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lin Kaihua and Ms. Li Yanping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr.
Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. A list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors are
required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment,
the directorships or other positions they are concurrently
holding at other companies or organizations. These interests
are updated on an annual basis and when necessary.

Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of Board, is the father-in-
law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, who is an executive Director. Ms. Li
Yanping is the daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of
Mr. Li Xuechun, a controlling shareholder of the Company,
an executive Director and chairman of the Board. Save as
disclosed herein, there are no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships among members of the
Board.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is also responsible for developing,
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and
the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management. The Board also reviews
the disclosures in the corporate governance report to ensure
compliance. The Board’s responsibility in this regard includes:

reviewing and

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board and report to the Board on
matters;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and
the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to
provide independent and objective opinions to the Board,
giving adequate control and balances for the Group to protect
the overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group. They
serve actively on the Board and the Board Committees to
provide their independent and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board.
Each independent non-executive Director has confirmed his
independence to the Company with reference to the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents
of such confirmations, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of committees, including
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board
covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of
reference are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny,
Mr. Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. Mr.
Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit
Committee mainly performed following duties:

e reviewed the Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and the unaudited interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2018, met with
the external auditors to discuss such annual results and
interim results, and was of the opinion that the preparation
of the relevant financial statements complied with the
applicable accounting standards and requirements and
that adequate disclosure had been made;

e reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and recommended the appointment of
external auditors; and

e assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk
management, including meeting with the management
of the Company and internal control review department
regarding the internal control of the Group and review the
capabilities and scope of review of the internal control
assessment team of the Group.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in providing an independent view of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management systems, and relationship with
external auditors of the Group, overseeing the audit process
and performing other duties, reviewing the interim and annual
results, and such responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
The Audit Committee had also reviewed the audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

For details on the internal control and risk management

systems, please see “Risk Management and Internal Control”
below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew (independent non-
executive Director), Mr. Li Xuechun (executive Director)
and Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive
Director). The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. The principal responsibilities
of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
structure and policy for all Directors and senior management
as well as the specific remuneration packages for the
executive Directors and senior management. No Director takes
part in any decision of the Board on his own remuneration.
The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. In order to determine the
level of remuneration and fees paid to members of the Board,
market rates and factors such as each director’'s workload,
performance, responsibility, job complexity and the Group’s
performance are taken into account.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration
Committee mainly performed the following duty:

e reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy and reviewed
and approved the remuneration package of the executive
Directors and senior management for the year of 2018.

e assessing performance of the executive Directors.
The remuneration of the members of the senior management

(including all executive Directors) of the Group by band for the
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

s E

Remuneration bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
over HK$3,000,000

£ % 1,000,000/ 7T

3,000,000/ 7T A £

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and
the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out
in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

FHESE

FHEZEeaE=-2KE  BNEHEBEE
(B IEMITES) TEHLEITES)
RREREEBIYIERTES) - THIBE
ERTMNEESER - THEESHEER
EAEBFEREERSAEEENELT
REMBRURATEE RS A EEENE
RFHES - T LEERESSRER
o MEEELHERe S HEARSHMN
SRIE ° NARYHMBRN B ZERIBEES
FTEE RITEED - RFHNEFBEAFRAR
Fh e AARIARMIHKE « BEENTIE
2 XY BE IEHERAKERESE
Hx BETRESEREXNOFHEES
K o

B ZE2018F12A31AILFE  FMEES
TEETIIIRE

o IR ANEE2018F M H B BUE g
VAR b AE T TEE 5 N i A B B B ) 5 B
8

o FERATEF0RR -

B E20185F12A31H IELFE R E S| H K
SESRERE(BRE2BATES)KNEN
FENEZI T

Number of
persons

AE

1,000,001/ 722,000,000 7T 1
2,000,001/ 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T 3
y

RIBE TR+ NATRENEHES
Mehhzs=EHMERNE—FLFEIR
BNRE MG IRRMT T8RO

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

127



128

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXERS (#)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Li Xuechun (chairman of the Board and executive Director),
Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny (independent non-executive
Director). The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Li Xuechun. The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the composition of the Board, including
its structure, size and diversity at least annually to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the Group and make
recommendations in any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. It also carries
out the process of identifying, considering and recommending
to the Board suitably qualified persons by making reference
to the skills, experience and expertise of such individuals, the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations to become a member of the Board, monitor the
succession planning of Directors and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process where necessary. The Nomination Committee
will also review the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below)
from time to time, so as to develop and review measurable
objectives for the implementing the Board Diversity Policy (as
defined below) and to monitor the progress on achieving these
objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and whether the composition of the Board complied
with the requirements of the board diversity policy during the
year of 2018.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 2 March
2017. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. While all Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills and knowledge.

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of gender, age, skills and experience) to implement the
Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the diversity of the Board and
considered that the Group has achieved the measurable
objectives of the Board Diversity Policy in terms of age,
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services.

DIVIDEND POLICY

For the dividend policy adopted by the Company, please refer
to “Dividend Policy” in the Report of the Directors on page 48
in this annual report.

EZEZULBE

BB LEMHA - EF2R2017F3H2H
RPWEFELTEBRR(EEES TR
K]  c ARAERRZBENRESENEZTT
LHERNELE - BEESENEZ T
BEREAESBRE - NRARBEBERES
CAEHEBNARRRELTE BN
KB R Z LB - ARRIEIRZESZ T
ERBHEREAN  BREETRRAMKER - F
XERBEER  KHR(FHEHHMT
M)~ FEE AR -

REZEGCHIER - Fik - LR
EAGERRNETEFESILLBR - I
TR ZE B IRARRES BN HEEEX
ZERARZEE - REZEEREBEERR
R EEEEITCEER - UERBERHER

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE  IRREEE
ERNESSLZ Lt YRARTFR - HE
BER BELR - Bt AR RREEEm
T ARBEERESEL I EBE ZAE

ERAFE-

IR B BR

BRAARRRFRMANR SRR - F2HARFR
FABREEERENREEE] -

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 R

129



130

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXERS (#)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as
this ensures better checks and balances and hence better
corporate governance. Mr. Li Xuechun holds the position of
the Chairman, who is primarily responsible for the strategic
development of the Group. Ms. Zhang Weiping serves as the
Chief Executive Officer, who is primarily responsible for the
overall management and operation of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The term of each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors of the Company is subject to his
retirement and re-election at annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. In
accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
a person may be appointed as a Director either by the
Shareholders in general meeting or by the Board. Each of
the non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of one year, subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company and the term of
each of the appointment may be renewed for a further term
of one year by mutual agreement between the non-executive
Director and the Company upon expiration of the initial term
and each renewed term. Any Directors appointed by the Board
as additional Directors shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting or any Director appointed by the
Board to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next
following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders. In addition, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years, and are
eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.
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BOARD MEETINGS

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings will be held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. For regular Board meetings,
notices of at least 14 days are given to facilitate maximum
attendance of the Directors. Directors may propose to the
Chairman or the Company Secretary to include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

At board meetings, the Directors will be provided with the
relevant documents to be considered and approved. Draft
and final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comments and records respectively within a reasonable time
after the board meeting is held. Minutes of Board meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary or a duly appointed secretary
of the Board meeting and are open for inspection by any
Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board held 13
meetings. During the meetings of the Board held in 2018 the
Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and
reviewed and approved the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2017 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2018, etc..
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The individual attendance record of each Director for the &ZZREHZE2018F12A31H IEFEETT
meetings of the Board, Board committees and the general WAAFTEZEEE ZEESZESeRRIAE
meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31 @ZAERIEELERFHF|WAT ¢

December 2018 is set out below:

2018 Meetings Attended/Held

185 HE/ BNER
Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ENZEE yMzEe RZZ8e  RRAEAE
Executive Directors YrES
Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman) PEERE(EE) 13113 NA TR 33 33 101
Ms. Zhang Weiping KETRL 13/13 NA TER N/A & N/A TR 1
Mr. Zuo Yichen TRREE 13113 NIA MEE NA MEE NIA EF 7
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung WRELE 13/13 NIA g N/A T E N/A & 1
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Lin Kaihua HRELE 11113 NIA R NIA FEF NIA i NIA P
Ms. Li Yanping FRERL 11113 NA TER N/A & N/A T iEF N/A iR
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ By Fi{T&E
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny BRELE 8/13 22 N/A & 23 1
Mr. Yu Huangcheng RENLE 10113 22 33 33 1l
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew IHBEE 13013 22 33 N/A TNEF 11
Total Number of Meeting eRUAL 13 2 3 3 1
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE EERTHRAENRE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in  AARIEHHEEERITHRABAEEEEH
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and JARFHFAELEE IRRZHE ©
officers.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws,
rules and regulations. Briefings and updates on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements are provided to the Board during Board
meetings to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices. The Company will
also arrange regular seminars to provide Directors with updates
on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time
to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

Name of Director

ESHERIIREXRE

FIAEMZ ENEFYRIEH V2 ABZII
RER - BREHARRNEE R EH AR
HMERRER &0~ RAIRGEDI T HEE
MEEEEERENTHR ARFANREFS
SR LAESERHEAR MR REME
REERESMERNENT REHER - A
HRESETERER  ARINAREFHR
HERERTHRNRE - AARINTEEHE
W TR REFRM MR R R AR
AR NMEERENRNERLEHNRH

HE2018F12A31HILFE  EF2EE
T -

Type of Training'

EEpA EFE R
Executive Directors HITEF

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board) FELELE(ESSXRE) B
Ms. Zhang Weiping REFLRT B
Mr. Zuo Yichen TRREE B
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MERBESLE B
Non-executive Directors HHITEF

Mr. Lin Kaihua PREAHE ST A A B
Ms. Li Yanping FhEFLZ+ B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHTEE

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny PRE A4 A, B
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKTE B
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew FHEBEE B
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Note:

1.  Type A training includes: attending training sessions, including
but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences and workshops
relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities/corporate governance/
updates on Listing Rules amendments and similar activities.

Type B training includes: reading relevant news alerts, newspapers,
journals, magazines, updates and relevant publications relating to the
economy/general business/directors’ duties and responsibilities and
similar activities.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the period from the 1 January 2018 up
to 31 December 2018 (both dates inclusive).

The Company has also established a code no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by senior
management who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive or inside information of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Wing Shan is the company secretary of the Company
and was appointed on 21 September 2016. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Ng is an assistant vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly
known as SW Corporate Services Group Limited) and her major
responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

Ms. Ng’s primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung, an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, Ms. Ng has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition
and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal
controls covering major financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions. The controls
built into the risk management system are intended to manage
significant risks in the Group’s business.

The Board is in charge of managing the overall risks of
our Group. It is responsible for considering, reviewing
and approving any significant business decision involving
material risk exposures, such as our decision to expand our
school network into new geographic areas, and to enter into
cooperative business relationships with third parties to establish
new schools. The Group also maintains insurance coverage
which is in line with customary practice in the PRC education
industry, including school liability insurance. The Group also
has arrangements with certain banks in place to ensure that it
will be able to obtain credit to support its business operation
and expansion.
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, taking into account the internal
control measures implemented by the Group in connection
with the non-compliance incidents disclosed under the section
headed “Business — Legal Proceedings and Compliance” in
the Prospectus, the on-going monitoring and supervision by
the Board and the principals of the Group’s schools with the
assistance from professional external advisers where required,
and the fact that, as confirmed by the Directors, the non-
compliance incidents did not involve fraud or dishonesty, the
Directors are of the view that our enhanced internal control
measures are adequate and effective.

The Company has established an internal audit department
to carry out its internal audit functions by assisting the Board
to implement the Group’s of risk management framework.
The work of the internal audit department will be reviewed
by the Audit Committee and the Board annually. During
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee,
with reference to and based on the internal audit report
issued by the independent audit firm, conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions,
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal control and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes and budget. The
Board has considered and discussed the internal audit report
issued by the independent audit firm, the work conducted by
the independent audit firm, the Audit Committee’s view on
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and their effectiveness. The Board and the Audit Committee
are satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control of the Group.
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The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and Future
Commission in June 2012 to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information
is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due
compliance with all policies regarding the inside information.
Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior management and
employees appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The
Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or
policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which give a true
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows for the year and in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Company has
selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may affect the business of the Company or
cast doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, during the year
ended 31 December 2018 was approximately as follows:

PR A

Type of Services

BB BN &

AR BZHED L KGRI EIEFTE £2018
FI2A31IH I FEAAREBRREFAEX
NMIEEZ RGOS T

Amount
X
RMB’000
ARBTT

Audit services EZRTE 3,180
— Annual audit service — FEEZR 3,180
Non-audit services IEFIZ RS 1,280
— Assurance service on a circular — B EE RS 1,280
Total Py 4,460

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Group’s business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

At general meetings of the Company, the shareholders will
have the opportunity to communicate directly with the Directors.
The chairman of the Board and the chairman of each of the
Board Committees will attend the annual general meetings to
answer shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company
will also attend the annual general meetings to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and its shareholders and maintains a website of
the Company at (www.minshengedu.com), where up-to-
date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
General

To safeguard our shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a
timely manner after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the articles of
association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election as a
Director

Pursuant to the Article 85 of the articles of associations of
the Company, no person other than a Director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a Notice (as defined therein) signed by a
Member (as defined therein) (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a Notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the Registration Office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such
Notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that
(if the Notices are submitted after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after
the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Mr.
Lam Ngai Lung of Room 3202A, 32/F., Tower 1, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong (email address:
msedu@minshengedu.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company during the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 155 to
312, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HRELEHE

Income tax

Va2

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education (the “Implementation Rules”), private
schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may
enjoy preferential tax treatments. The Implementation Rules
provide that the relevant authorities under the State Council
may introduce preferential tax treatments and related policies
applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns. Up
to 31 December 2018, no separate policies, regulations or rules
have been introduced by the authorities in this regard.

Except for Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company
Limited which was incorporated as a limited company, no
corporate income tax was provided on the income from the
provision of formal educational services by the Group’s schools
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Schools”), which
require reasonable returns, with reference to the preferential
tax treatments. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes as there are uncertainties in
interpreting the relevant tax laws and regulations in respect to
the preferential tax treatments enjoyed by the PRC Schools. The
Group engaged an external legal advisor for the assessment of
income tax obligations, and there were significant judgements
involved in the management’s analysis and assessment, such as
an assessment on possible outcome of the tax provision based
on historical experiences, and estimations about future events
after 31 December 2018 that may cause the Group to change
its judgements regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities.
Such changes to tax liabilities will impact the tax expense in the
period that such determination is made.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 10 to the
financial statements.

HREREEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMNERNTEEREERSE

As to our audit procedures, we have:

discussed with the Group’s PRC external legal
advisor about the tax position taken by the PRC
Schools, in particular, whether the PRC Schools were
required to pay income tax by their respective tax
authorities by the end of year 2018 and whether the
PRC Schools which enjoyed such preferential tax
treatments were in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations in China;

reviewed the legal opinion issued by the external
legal advisor;

assessed any new policies, regulations or rules that
have been introduced by the authorities up to the
date of this report, which might have impact on the
tax position of the PRC Schools;

checked historical tax returns (if available); and
involved our internal tax experts to assist us in
analysing the preferential tax treatments enjoyed by

the PRC Schools and assessing the adequacy of tax
provisions.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R

143



144

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUZBERS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HREZEE

Income tax

Va2
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HRELEHE

Goodwill impairment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had significant amounts
of goodwill arising from acquisitions of Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology in prior year and Leed
International Education Group Inc. in the current year of RMB304
million and RMB 1,381 million respectively, which were supported
by an annual impairment review. No impairment charge has
been recorded against goodwill in the current year. Certain
assumptions used in the impairment review were subjective
and involved significant judgements and estimates, and they
included:

o the future cash flow growth assumptions used in the
Group’s most recent budgets for the next five years
approved by management, including future industry
development, pricing strategies, market supply and
demand, and gross margins;

o the growth rate used beyond the period covered by the
budgets; and

o the discount rate applied to future cash flows.
The accounting judgements and estimates and disclosure

related to the impairment assessment are included in notes 3
and 15 to the financial statements.

HREREEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMNERNTEEREERSE

In order to evaluate the impairment test carried out by
management and assess the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units, we have performed the following
procedures:

o evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts
and the process by which they were drawn up;

° assessed the actual performance in the year
against the prior year budgets to evaluate historical

forecasting accuracy;

. assessed the key assumptions by checking against
the historical trend and industry index;

o performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;
o analysed the discount rate used by comparing to
the industry index with the assistance of our internal

valuation experts; and

o evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
regarding the goodwill impairment testing.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BMREERER

Goodwill impairment
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMNERNTEERREERSE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
BRERBE

Revenue recognition

g

The occurrence and completeness of the Group’s revenue are
of high inherent risk because of the large volume of tuition and
boarding fees processed. In addition, tuition and boarding fees
paid in advance at or prior to the beginning of each academic
year are recognised as revenue proportionately over the fiscal
years covering that academic year. Therefore, revenue may be
recorded in the incorrect period of the fiscal year.

The accounting policy of revenue recognition and disclosure of
the amount of revenue are included in notes 2.4 and 5 to the
financial statements.

BEEFZEEHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMNERNTEEREERSE

As to our audit procedures, we have:

tested the controls on the collection of tuition and
boarding fees and the controls designed and applied
by the Group to calculate the deferred revenue and
the corresponding amount of revenue;

on a sample basis, reviewed and checked the
relevant supporting documentation including the
student payment records, official student records
registered with the relevant PRC education
authorities, and the payment remittance receipts of
tuition and boarding fees;

recalculated the amounts of contract liabilities and
revenue recognised during the year; and

reconciled the number of newly enrolled students
during the year to the enrolment approval by the
relevant PRC education authorities, and the total
number of students at the fiscal year end to the
records on the China Credentials Verification website.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HREZEE

Revenue recognition

g
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
B HENHRS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HRELEHE

Acquisitions of subsidiaries
WehE 1 /88 2 F]

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group undertook
certain acquisitions, including acquisition of Leed International
Education Group Inc. (“Leed International”) and certain other
acquisitions, which were determined by the directors as business
combinations. Pursuant to share purchase agreement in relation
to the acquisition of Lead International, the Group is committed
to grant an option to the sellers to sell the remaining 49% of the
issued share capital of Leed International at the exercise price
based on a predetermined formula (the “Put Option”). Details
of these acquisitions and the Put Option are set out in notes 29
and 33 to the financial statements.

These acquisitions were material to the Group and involved
significant judgements and estimates related to the accounting
treatments of the Put Option liability, the non-controlling interests
and the purchase price allocation. Management were assisted
by external valuation specialists in determining the fair values of
the identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition dates which
involved a number of assumptions.

Relevant disclosure of significant accounting judgements and
estimates is included in note 3 to the financial statements.

BEEFZEEHE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMNERNTEEREERSE

As to our audit procedures, we have:

evaluated the accounting treatments for the Put
Option and the non-controlling interests;

obtained from management the respective
agreements relating to these acquisitions and
checked if the payments of purchase consideration
agreed with the terms as set out in these agreements;

evaluated the identification of acquired assets and
liabilities;

assessed the fair values of the identified assets and
liabilities and the fair value of the Put Option liability
against available market data;

evaluated the competency and objectivity of the
external valuation specialists appointed by the Group
to perform the valuations;

involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing the fair values of such acquired
assets and liabilities by considering the valuation
methodologies adopted and the assumptions used
by the Group; and

assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the
financial statements in respect of these acquisitions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIUZBERS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HREZEE

Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Y BB 8B 22 F]
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
B HENHRS ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIH S (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
B HENHRS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BIHEIH S (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

14 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REeBmRREMZENSR

Year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018412A31H ILEE

Notes 2018 2017
BiE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
REVENUE W= 5 623,143 477,780
Cost of sales HEM AR (289,775) (199,092)
Gross profit EH 333,368 278,688
Other income and gains H U A Mk 5 189,884 146,292
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAT (16,794) (7,783)
Administrative expenses IBRAX (143,501) (125,701)
Other expenses, net HAh % %58 (835) (25,222)
Finance costs BEMK AR 6 (13,202) (3,043)
Share of loss of an associate DB A FEE (644) (269)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL AR 7 348,276 262,962
Income tax expense PSRt 10 (15,448) (2,115)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 332,828 260,847
Attributable to: VAT REAR -
Owners of the parent ISY/NETEZZ=PN 332,839 259,947
Non-controlling interests FEER (11) 900
332,828 260,847
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary A A& @RER A AN
equity holders of the parent: SRAERM : 12
RMBA K RMBA K
Basic -9\ 0.0828 7T 0.06867T
RMBA R ¥ RMBA K
Diluted 3 0.0827 7t 0.06867T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
frefmREMEERDR(E)

Year ended 31 December 2018 #;Z2018412A31H ILEE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EEER 332,828 260,847
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hih 2wz
Other comprehensive income that may be ~ AIREREAEHIRIEFH HBE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 187 Hit 2 EU
periods:
Available-for-sale investments: AHERE
Change in fair value RYEEE - 320
Reclassification adjustments for gains on st ABZ 2 BIHKRSE#H
maturity included in profit or loss DERRHE - (111)
Exchange differences on translation of BEBINEB EREZRE
foreign operations (18,577) 30,886
Net other comprehensive income that REBRERERHBEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ? AR 2 E SRR
subsequent periods (18,577) 31,095
Other comprehensive income that will not be T&REEBEEFHHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  1BzsEVE M 2 U ¢
periods:
Equity investments designated at fair BERBRATESAEME
value through other comprehensive HRRARERE
income:
Changes in fair value NEEEE (2,070) —
Exchange differences on translation of REBINEB 2 EHZE
foreign operations %8 54,973 (60,317)
Net other comprehensive income that will SREBBARETHIES
not be reclassified to profit or loss in ? =AY EAM 2 ER SRR
subsequent periods 52,903 (60,317)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHM2EKE
FOR THE YEAR 34,326 (29,222)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEXHKREHE
FOR THE YEAR 367,154 231,625
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LATVTEi@H&ZE EE
Owners of the parent UNGIEZZ=DN 367,165 230,725
Non-controlling interests 3H Pt (11) 900
367,154 231,625
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fmE MR IR

31 December 2018 2018412 H31H

Notes 2018 2017
Bt = RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE REE 13 2,157,994 1,066,138
Prepaid land lease payments FE L bR E 5RTE 14 744,785 330,957
Goodwill HE 15 1,685,099 303,937
Other intangible assets EEEEE 16 6,257 3,380
Investments in associates /N By 17 2,030 36,023
Equity investment at fair value through &R AFEFAHMEE
other comprehensive income W AR IR & 18 6,380 :
Equity investment at fair value through A F(EzF A B S AE
profit or loss & 18 61,347 =
Available-for-sale investment Al ERE 18 = 6,000
Other non-current assets BEMIERBEE 19 382,559 15,500
Total non-current assets JEMENEERE 5,046,451 1,761,935
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories #& 20 1,381 1,351
Trade receivables B Z W FRIE 21 5,510 807
Prepayments, other receivables and TRANFRIE -« Hib K FRIE
other assets NEAMEE 22 62,986 31,784
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 18 - 466,320
Investment deposits KEFR 18 = 243,370
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTAER 23 1,505,820 1,696,278
Restricted bank balances SR HISRIT &R 23 2,324 20,000
Total current assets MENEERE 1,578,021 2,459,910
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Deferred revenue EEW 24 - 321,835
Contract liabilities ABHEE 24 534,097 =
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERETER 25 697,349 289,809
Deferred income — current PRIE WA — BN ER 28 19,937 17,134
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMEER
other borrowings 26 244,635 144,118
Tax payable FERI IR 11,063 859
Total current liabilities MBI B ERRR 1,507,081 773,755
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 70,940 1,686,155
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAEME
LIABILITIES 5,117,391 3,448,090
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

fRE M FBR R ()

31 December 2018 20184F12H31H

Notes 2018 2017
Pt EE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred income — non-current TRIEYS A — FEBNER 28 282,027 271,407
Interest-bearing bank and FFRERITREMEE
other borrowings 26 214,099 30,000
Other long term liability HtRHEE 310,538 -
Put option liability RonEEaE 29 781,332 —
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEEE 1,587,996 301,407
Net assets BEFE 3,529,395 3,146,683
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of BREHA AEEER
the parent
Share capital % 30 307 307
Reserves ] 32 3,408,101 3,025,378
3,408,408 3,025,685
Non-controlling interests TR 120,987 120,998
Total equity B 3,529,395 3,146,683
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
ZEF HERBE
Director Director
0 0
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RS EmBER

Year ended 31 December 2018 #£2018412A31H ILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRATRGAEL
Avalable-
for-sale
Share  investment Exchange Non-
Share  Contriouted ~ Capital ~ Statutory opion  revaluation  Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
Notes  capital suplus — reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve profits —~ reserve Total  interests equity
HhER HERE
it ke ESER  EMRE  ieEE BRWERR 4EMBE  BRAA e ait FhkER S
RMBOOD ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB'000  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBIOOD  RMBIOOD
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARMTn ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 30 Note 32(b)  Note 32(c)  Note 31(ii)
130 Witsah)  Masae) M)
At 1 January 2017 vkl 209 160308 - T3 - M %7240 (24290) 1570912 - 1570912
Profit for the year EEG - - - - - - 0047 - 0047 0 260847
Other comprehensive income for R f2ENE -
the year.
Change in fai value of avaleble- A HEREZ
for-sale investments LTEED - - - - - 30 - - GA - 30
Release of reserve upon RHHERES
malury of avaiable-for-sale SREDRE
investments - - - - - (1) - - (1) - (1)
Exchange diffrences related to ~ BEAERIER
foreign operations LEREE - - - - - = - (9431 (29431) - (94
Total comprehensive income for - EF2AAELE
the year - - - - - 00 250047 (20431)  207% 900 2165
Capitaisaton of share premim ~ R3EEEALE
into ordinary shares Lak Rl » - (26) - - - - - - - -
Issug of shares for the Inifial Public & RAREE
Offering (1PO') ([BRAREE)
1) Bl 70 - 1245683 - - - - - 15753 - 1575
Share issue expense k%8R - - (285%0) - - - - - (285%0) - (285%0)
Contibution fiom a sharsholder &34 - - 3525 - - - - - 355 - 35%
Recognition of share-based ARHBERA
payment expenses fiHtER 3 - - - - 330 - - K K
Acquision of a subsiciary YE-FHERT B - - - - - - - - - 10098 120098
Transfer from retained profits ~ ERABRET - - - 1859 - - (185%) - - - -
At 31 December 2017 RO01TE12A318 07 160308 1220650" 545873 3.300° R0 11486480 (B3721) 3025685 120998 3,146,683
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

fRE RS ER (#)

Year ended 31 December 2018 #Z=2018F 12 A31H ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARREARE
Fair value
reserve of
Available-  financial assets
for-sale  atfair value
investment  through other Exchange Non-
Contributed Capital ~ Statutory  Share option  revaluation  comprehensive Retained  fluctuation controlling
Notes  Share capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve income profits reserve interests
RATEHA
Eh2EGE
ke HEREE
K Ba  REER  BARE  %ERE  BBERE REEGBR  OVERR  BREY JERERE gt FEREE b i
RMB'000  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMB'0O0  RMB'00  RMB00O RMB'000  RMB'OO  RMBOOO  RMB0O0  RMB'O00  RMBYO0
ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTr  ARMTR  ARMTz  ARMTZ  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTn  ARMTR  ARBTR
Note 30 Note 32(b) ~ Note 32(c)  Note 31(ii)
K30 Wanaw)  Wasac)  BESA(i)
At 31 December 2017 HOTE12R31R kg 160308 1,220,650 545,873 3300 30 - 1148648 (53721) 3,025,685 12099 3,146,683
Efect of adoption of [FRS 9 FHEREHASE
Foove ° = - - - (320 2450 20 - 2450 - 2450
At 1 January 2018 (restated) #0165 1R 18 (@E5]) kg 160308 1,220,650 545,873 3300 - 2450 1148968 (53721) 302813 12099% 314913
Proft for the year FERA o - - - - - - 332,839 - 332839 (1) 332,828
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EEEMATNE :
Change in fair value of an equity investment AT EFAZH
a fair value through other comprehensive  SEAGERE
income REZNTERD - - - - - - (2070) - - (2,070) - (2,070)
Exchange diferences related to foreign BEAEEIE,
operations EXZE - - - - - - - - 3,39 3,39 - 36,39
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE2ENGEE - - - - - - (2070) 33283 36,39 367,165 1) %7154
Recagriton of share-based payment expenses BE325{f A ERM
BEGEG 3 - - - - 13,108 - - - - 13,108 - 13,108
Transfer from retained profs ERelrEd - - - 80,59 - - - (80,5%9) - - - -
At 31 December 2018 H18E128318 ki 160308 1,220650" 626472 16,408* - 30 1401208 (17329 340,408 120967 3529395

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

*

RMB3,408,101,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB3,025,378,000).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A

ZERERBEN2018F12A318 8

= AN
A

B AR 3R A & 88 A A R #3,408,101,0007T

(20174 : AR #3,025,378,0007T ) HY

1 e

AN
=A

%ﬁ



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
o REMER

Year ended 31 December 2018 & £2018F 124318 IEF/E

Notes 2018 2017
B =T RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R&EBFIESRERE

Profit before tax R F A1 v ) 348,276 262,962
Adjustments for: FATRIBFE
Finance costs BERKA 6 13,202 3,043
Share of loss of an associate DMEME A EIEBE 644 269
Dividend income from an equity BATEGF AR MEE
investment at fair value through other WS m IR E A
comprehensive income/an available-for- HERERBMA
sale investment 57 - (360)
Investment income from available-for-sale At HERE MIRETRF
investments and investment deposits HEILE WA 57 - (24,693)
Investment income from short-term REHEK AT ENREH
investments measured at amortised cost BEREAFERA
and short-term investments measured at BRTENEHEE
fair value through profit or loss FIRE WA 57 (15,172) -
Bank interest income RITH S WA 5 (23,228) (7,789)
Fair value gains on an equity investment at XA FET ABZR
fair value through profit or loss PR & m) DB 7 (296) —
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREWE  WMENRE
plant and equipment, net BB B 7 140 1,966
Government grants released EREBHBITRED 28 (78,358) (102,956)
Depreciation e 7,13 71,720 47,344
Recognition of prepaid land lease RN TS T8
payments 7,14 7,736 2,717
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hib B\ & ESH 7,16 1,241 1,042
Provision for expected credit losses of B 2 EWGIE 2 REE
trade receivables SEERE 7 80 =
Provision for expected credit losses of Ho A e kI8 2 TR ER
other receivables EEEBBERE 7 47 -
Reversal of impairment of other receivables  E ftb J& U R IE o (B 2] 7 (500) -
Provision for equity-settled share option PARs e 45 5 ) B AR
expense ERBE 31 13,108 3,300
338,640 186,845
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERA,(320) 122 (55)
Decrease in trade receivables B MR 551 641
Increase in prepayments, other receivables FEfTFIE « E Al fEU
and other assets FRIA R H A& E AN (4,370) (4,165)
Increase in long-term prepayments, other ~ RHEATEFTFIE « M fEUW
receivables and other assets A N H At B EE N (2,120) =
Decrease in other payables and accruals — Efth B 2B K B+ & AR > (269,392) (14,399)
(Decrease)fincrease in contract liabilites/ ~ A#BfE EERE
deferred revenue CRA),/ (9,901) 19,987
Government grants received BT BN 28 72,482 65,984
Decrease in restricted bank deposits IR HIRITFROR D 17,676 -
Cash generated from operations REMSRE 143,688 254,838
Interest received BEHHE 23,228 7,789
Income tax paid B FEH (5,487) (1,333)
Net cash flows from operating activities REFHMERENEFHE 161,429 261,294
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
fREREREBR(E)

Year ended 31 December 2018 #;Z2018412A31H ILEE

Notes 2018 2017

FiEE RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBT T

Net cash flows from operating activities REFHMEHREREFE 161,429 261,294

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEFIBRERE
Increase in prepayment for acquisition of  FLUREE L fE FIEAYFEL

land use right FIBHE AN (30,000) =
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWE  BFEKEE

equipment 1EH (240,862) (43,634)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BREWE  BEMRE

plant and equipment BB 5508 236 (61)
Additions to other intangible assets NEHMELEE 16 (4,118) (786)
Additions to prepaid land lease payments A 10 FH & FRIEE 0 14 - (650)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEERT B A A 33 (601,493) 22,727
Purchase of an equity investment at fair BERAFEABEN

value through profit or loss ek & (56,376) =
Purchase of short-term investments BEERATEHAER

measured at fair value through profit or STEMEEIRE

loss (753,300) -
Receipt from maturity of short-term BATEFAEBRITEN

investments measured at fair value through %2 B & B B R UCR

profit or loss 1,219,620 -

Dividend income from an equity investment X AFEFFAEMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive  WZSHIRIERE /7] it

income/an available-for-sale investment HERERSWA - 360
Redemption of investment deposits and BEEEFRARAHEE

available-for-sale investments ®E& — 1,998,790
Purchase of investment deposits and BERETRRAHEE

available-for-sale investments wE& - (2,321,790)
Investment income from investment deposits &7 R Al fit &R E

and available-for-sale investments FTs & WA 15,172 24,693
Repayment of a loan to an associate —HBEAREREN - 676
Repayment of a loan to a third party E=FHEEER - 30,000
Advance of a loan to an associate A — & A RIB A ER (10,355) (15,572)
Net cash flows used in investing activites ~ REZBFMARSREF8 (461,476) (305,247)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
mERENER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE2018F 12831 H ILFfE

Notes 2018 2017
B =T RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES & EBfIESRERE

Proceeds from issues of shares on initial ThE X AR E KRR

public offering and over-allotment option BRI B TS 50E - 1,245,753
Contribution from a shareholder BREEE - 3,525
Repayment of loans from related parties EREEAER - (14,073)
Repayment of loans from the ultimate EBERRIERATER

holding company - (125,413)
New bank and other borrowings LR R EMEE 34,000 E
Increase in other non-current assets HAnFEREN & EIE N (3,806) r
Prepayment for listing expenses FrEXENFE - (26,029)
Repayment of other loans EREMER (137,974) (34,339)
Interest paid ERFE (25,883) (1,582)
Interest element of finance lease rental MERERSHTOF S

payments =) (3,863) =
Capital element of finance lease rental MERERENHOHER

payments =) (27,870) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing MEEE(FTA) /15

activities Behe s (165,396) 1,047,842
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH BeRBELEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (H2),/ BT (465,443) 1,003,889
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FOHeRREEEY

of year 1,939,648 964,922
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXRZ T E - 558 31,615 (29,163)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND EXBEERRBLZEY

OF YEAR 1,505,820 1,939,648
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RéeRBELEEBYLEH

CASH EQUIVALENTS bl
Cash and bank balances REe RIBITHER 23 1,505,820 1,696,278
Investment deposits with original maturity of S RBEIHAE A =187

less than three months when acquired A TR EFR 23 - 243,370

1,505,820 1,939,648
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
13 December 2005 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the laws of the Cayman lIslands. The address
of the registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in
providing educational services in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Minsheng
Group Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer
Investments Limited), which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RAREEER(E)
Information about subsidiaries BEHB L E2E
Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as AAREEZMBARINFEBO AR :
follows:
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of effective
registration registered equity interests
Company name and business share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
aEAL /i BRfEE/
ARER REXBY itk ARAREERRELH  IERBEE
Direct Indirect
E% G

Minsheng Education Company Limited Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
EEABERAR REES 50,0007 REZR
Minsheng Vocational Education Company Limited Cayman Islands US$10 100% - Investment holding

(‘Minsheng Vocational’) REHS 10%7 RAER
REBSHERRAA(REREHE))
Mingheng Education Development Company Limited Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
REHERRERLT HERE 50,000%7 REER
Leed International Education Group Inc. (“Leed Cayman Islands US$44,875 - 100%  Investment holding

International’)’ REES 44 8755%TT REER
BEERYESEERAD(RERE])
Leed International Education Group (China) Limited" Hong Kong US$1,282 - 100%  Investment holding
BEERYEEA(PE)ERAR B 1,280%T0 RERR
Chongaing Li'ang Industry Company Limited” The PRC/  US§14,500,000 - 100%  Provision of education
ERTIBEXERAR Mainland China ~ 14,500,000% T2 management and services

e /R ARE RUAEERRRH

Chongging College of Humanities, Science and The PRC/  RMB55,000,000 - 100%  Provision of formal

Technology* Mainland China  AK#55,000,00070 undergraduate and junior
ERAHRER hE/REAR college education services

RETRAZLERAZHER
#
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as

RAREEER (F)
BEAE LAz EX (&)
ARREZMEBARINFIBO TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of effective
registration registered equity interests
Company name and business share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRAEE/
ARER REXBY itk ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
E# B
Pass College of Chongqing Technology and Business The PRC/  RMB5,000,000 = 100%  Provision of formal
University* Mainland China A 5,000,0007C undergraduate and junior
ERTHAZRGSR hE/REAR college education services
RETRAZERRAZHER
%
Chongging Vocational College of Applied Technology* The PRC/  RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior college
EREARITBEER Mainland China A 5,000,0007C education services
e/ hEAR RERZHERH
Chongging Yujinggang Education Investment Company The PRC/  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment in education
Limited® Mainland China A %50,000,00070 projects
ERARAHEREARAR &/ PEAR REHRER
Chongaing Hechuan Renwen Hospital Company Limited” The PRC/  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of disease diagnosis
ERAIAXERERAR Mainland China - A& %50,000,00070 and treaiment services
hE /AR R ey 30
Chongaing Bozhi Education Services Company Limited The PRC/ US$9,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
(‘Bozhi Education’)* Mainland China management and services
EREEHERHARAA (HE4E]) hE/PEAE  9,000000%T REHEEERRH
Chongaing Li'ang Education Services Company Limited® The PRC/  RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
ERTIBHERBERAR Mainland China A& #30,000,00070 management and services
e/ hEAR REHRERREH
Changaing Pass Education Services Company Limited” The PRC/ RMB300,000 - 100%  Provision of university and
ERRAAERBERAR Mainland China ~ A& %300,0007C college logistics services
e/ hEAR RURSRESRRMRRS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RAREEER(E)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BHEKE LR el zE8 (4E)
Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARMNFRBO AR :
follows: (continued) (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of effective
registration registered equity interests
Company name and business share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRAEE/
ARER REXBY ke ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
E# i
Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational College (Qingcheng The PRC/  RMB4,000,000 = 100%  Provision of junior college
Branch)* Mainland China A 4,000,000 education services
AREEMBRER (BN e /AR REXSHERK
Changaing Huizhi Education Services Company Limited The PRC/  RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of university logistics
(“Chongqing Huizhi")* Mainland China A& %10,000,00070 services
ERERAERBERAA(ERER)) &/ PEAR RIS
Laoling Minsheng Secondary Vocational School* The PRC/  RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of secondary
LEREBRTEEREN Mainland China - A& %30,000,00070 vocational education and
&/ HEAR technical training
R EREHE RAE
Chongaing Yugangao Enterprise Management Consultant The PRC/  RMBS5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of rental and business
Company Limited (‘Chongging Yugangao')* Mainland China AR %5,000,0007C management services
EEapRRERTAERAT((ERRAR]) &/ PEAR RUEEREHERRE
Changaing Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology The PRC/  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited (“Chongqing Yuecheng’)™ Mainland China A& %50,000,00070 management and services
RS RH AN EARAR( ERH]) hE/HEAR RUABER RIS
Chongaing Electronic Information College™ The PRC/  RMB183,680,000 - 51%  Provision of junior college
EREERESR Mainland China A% 183,680,0007T education services
hE/EAR REREHERS
Chongaing Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Limited™ The PRC/  RMBS,000,000 - 51%  Real estate development
EREREEAREANE! Mainland China  A&%8,000,0007 EHERE
/AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as

RAREEER (F)
BEAE LAz EX (&)
ARREZMEBARINFIBO TR

follows: (continued) (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of effective
registration registered equity interests
Company name and business share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRAEE/
ARER REXBY itk ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
E# i

Chongaing Jierui Education Technology Company The PRC/  RMB50,000,000 = 100%  Provision of education

Limited* Mainland China AR 50,000,000 management and services
ERABHANRARDA /AR RUAEERRRH
Changging Fanyun Education Technology Company The PR/ RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

Limited™ Mainland China  AX#20,000,00070 management and services
ERNBAERBERAA e/ hEAR REHEERREH
Chongaing Jiehan Education Technology Company The PRC/  RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

Limited** Mainland China  A#20,000,00070 management and services
ERRBAERBERA &/ hEAR RUABER RIS
Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment Management Co., The PRC/  RMB2,000,000 - 100%  Provision of investment

Ltd.* Mainland China  A%?2,000,0007 management and services
HRER (LR REERERAA e /AR RURBERRRH
Shouguang Bohai Experimental School™ The PRC/  RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior and high
SHASERSR Mainland China A 5,000,0007C school education

e/ hEAR REIRHE

Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company The PRC/  RMB30,000,000 = 100%  Provision of high school

Limited* Mainland China  AX#30,000,00070 education
BEREAR R R EBRAR e/ hEAR RtRPERHE
Leed (China) Education Technology Co., Limited The PRC/  US$29,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education

(‘Leed (China)")" Mainland China 29,000,000t consulting and management
BE(PE)BE AR BEhE ) hE/hEAR sevices
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SRS MARMIEE (18)
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BHEKE LR el zE8 (4E)
Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as AAREEMBARMNFRBO AR :
follows: (continued) (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of effective
registration registered equity interests
Company name and business share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRAEE/
ARER REXBY ke ARAREERRELH  IEREEE
Direct Indirect
E# i
Yunnan Dianchi Education and Training Co., Limited The PRC/  RMB120,000,000 = 100%  Provision of education
(“Dianchi CO.")"" Mainland China A& %120,000,0007T consulting and management
EBERHEEIBRAA (ERAR )N hE /AR services
REHRAARERRE
Dianchi College of Yunnan University*" The PRC/  RMB290,183,700 = 100%  Provision of formal
EMAEEDSHA Mainland China - A %290,183,70070 undergraduate college
hE/EAE education services
REERAMSRAR R
Yunnan Dianchi Education Management Co., Limited ** The PRC/  RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
BN EEEERATA Mainland China - A #100,000,0007C consulting and management
hE/EAE services
REBRAARERRE
Yunnan Dianchi Vocational College Co., Limited™ The PRC/  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
EEENREERARDNAN Mainland China AR 50,000,000 consulting and management
hE/EAE services
REHRAARERRE
Yunnan Dianjiao Asset Management Co., Limited (*Dianjiao The PRC/  RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Provision of asset management
AM Co')' Mainland China ~ AK1,000,0007C and project investment and
EMEHAEERARAR(EEERAT )N hE/PEKE management services
RLAEERRBARARER
s
Yunnan Leed Education Technology Co., Limited™ The PRC/  RMB205,078,000 = 100%  Provision of education
EREEYEHRERATA Mainland China A K#205,078,00070 consulting and management
hE/REAE services

REABHAREERS

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R

169



170

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

*

The English names of these companies represent the best effort
made by management of the Company to directly translate
the Chinese names as they do not register any official English
names.

w These entities are owned through contractual arrangements.

A The Group accounts for the acquisition of the 100% of the
shares of these entities as if the remaining 49% of equity interest
was acquired on the date of acquisition. Further details of the
acquisition are included in note 33 to the financial statements.

Except for Bozhi Education and Leed (China), which were
established as wholly-foreign-invested enterprises, all the
above PRC companies were established as domestic-
invested enterprises.

During the year, the Group acquired Shouguang Bohai
Experimental School and Dianchi College of Yunnan
University from third parties. Further details of these
acquisitions are included in note 33 to the financial
statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

f BRI (8)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include all International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for an equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income, an equity
investment at fair value through profit or loss, loan to an
associate included in other non-current assets and certain
available-for-sale investments, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

CEEE

HZEMBHRERIBIEEER @ ERESE
S ((EREFTEAESEE )R 2 BER
M mEER(ERR M BRELER])
(BEMEBRTHHRELER - Bike
AEA(TEEREER D MEE) LE
BRANRDIZ KBREMRE - RIRA
FEFARMEEAKEORERE 2
NHERTABSHRERE © STAIER
BEENERTHE AR ME T A HE
ERETIRRFEAEIN - ZFMBEHR
RIVIEESL XA BHEREL - ZEFMTE
BERAKARE(TARE D27 - BR3E
HEHR - TRAMBSBEANBERIAZE
R TS -

RAEVBRREFBEAQFREMNE AR
(il A& E ) RN E E20185F 12 A 31
HIEFENPERE - WEBARBNHA
AREESMEEEHNER BB
MEE EASETEHEREENS
B S s A S E BN DR - AFHAT
AEBEZWIREHAEFRGE - BF
BE B H IR E N (nm A
SEETERRNIEREREFBRE
BRREEN) MY EE@ER -

ERNRBREARRE T —F AT RERE
SALERN (B @) - BIREE
ERHEEERUBIRE T REENES
ERFMENMEBFERER B84 -

(a) BEEKEFTEMERERBEANEG
HIMEZBE

(b) AEMENLPEMELHERN : &

(c) AEENKREENBCREME
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
standards for the first time for the current year’s
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9

IFRS 15

IFRIC 22

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IFRS 15

Amendments to |IAS 40

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Clarifications to IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Transfers of Investment
Property

Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS
28

Other than as further explained below, the adoption of the
above new and revised standards has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.
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B AW B B0E

REYEEE

BB B 5 4R 2R
F1E KB
2ETER|E285E
EEET

AN T Lt
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing
together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement;
impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments
against the applicable opening balances in equity at 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under
IAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including
the effect of replacing IAS 39's incurred credit loss
calculations with IFRS 9’s expected credit losses (“ECLS”).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7

22 SERSBRKRELE ()

(a) BIRMBHRELNEIRESHMTA
201851 A1 H 3k 2 1% B A Y F
JE HA f X A B B & &t 2 BRI 35 39537
TRTA : HRNFE  AHER
TREHRENME=E @ : »
BLEE - REREREE -

AEBE R2018F1 A1 E A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under
IAS 39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1
January 2018 is as follows:

IAS 39 measurement

CLREE £y

Categg?g(J

Amount
%

RMB000
¥t

22 SRR RRELE (H)

(@) (4

"

E)

B ERE(E)

MN2018E1 A1 © B &5
SRIE T Y BR B £ B B B A 25 2 A

ORI T2 MR Z HRRAT ¢

Reclassification
LR
RMB’000
ReéTn

Others
At

RMB000
K¥Tn

IFRS 9 measurement

ARIHRRENR R

Categﬂg)[gy(J

paras

e

Amount
X

RMB000
R¥Tr

AR 2539

inancial assets SHEE N
Available-for sale investments ENERE AFS! 472,320 (472,320) - NARER -
To: Financial assefs ai fair value ~ B% Tﬁ?(@”ﬁﬁ%/\%ﬁ ]
through proft or loss BOAREE (i) 466,320 -
To: Financial assets at fairvale B2 : RATEFAL
through other comprefensive gﬁgﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁ’ﬂ ‘
income AR (i 6,000 =
Trade receivables 2Ry i) LR? 807 - - ACE 807
Financial assefs included in Mfﬁiﬁ%@ BN
prepayments, other receivables JBLANEENRE
and ofher assets & L&R 14313 - - AC 14313
Loan to an associate included i~ FARMIERBEEMR R
other non-current assets u Lﬁ%@%ﬂiﬁ% NA AR - 33455 - FVPL 33455
From: Loan fo an assoclate cluded B - T ABE LAl
in investments in associates EENTRRDE
LEH (i - (33,455) -
Financial assets at fai value through AT ABRNEE N
proft or logs 3 NIA FER - 466,320 - FpL 466,320
[ From: Avallable-for-sale investments 25 - (I RH ER 2 M - (466,320) - |
Financial assets at fai value through AT AR BAEN N
other comprehensive income aNEHEE NIA T - 6,000 2450 FVOCE 8,450
[ From: Avalble-forsale investment B8  IRH = RA i (6,000] = |
Investment deEosits BERH _ L8R 243,370 - - AC 243,370
Cash and bank balances ﬁ%%%ﬁ?%gi L&R 1,696,278 - - AC 1,696,278
Restricted bank balances KR Al &S L&R 20,000 - - AC 20,000
2,447,088 33,465 2,450 2,482,993
Other assets HhEE
Loanto an associeeingludedn STABERARAMER N )
investments in associates TRELFZER NIA TR 33,455 (33,455) - NAZER -
To: Loan fo an associate included i+~ &% : 3 A K373
other non-current assets BEtEE TR
A 8% (il 33,455 .
33455 (33,455) - -
Total assets TS 2480543 - 2450 2482993
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under

IAS

39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1

January 2018 is as follows: (continued)

22 SRS RKRELE ()

(a)

(#8)

B ERE(E)

R2018F1A1H » R es

4RI 2839

S IR T B0 BR T (B 52 B R B 7 R 5 A R
FORBETE2HNEHRZHRAOT

(#8)

IAS 39 measurement
ARAIEREHE
Category

5l

Amount Reclassification

£
RMB’000

ARBTR

IFRS 9 measurement
BRUBREEAEGTE
Category Amount
L) &8
RMB’000
AR®TR

L g
RMB’000
N SR

Financial liabilities THER
Financial liabiliies incluced in other STARL {58 R ezt B A
payables and accruals g -1 AC 262,590 - AC 262,590
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B3F/TREMEE AC 174,118 = AC 174,118
436,708 - 436,708
T AFS: Available-for-sale investments TAFS 1 AIEHERE
2 L&R: Loans and receivables 21&R:  ERNMEWKFIA
3 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost 3AC: REHKATENEREES SR
afE
4FVPL:  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss YFVPL: BRATEFABZHNEREE
5 FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive ® FVOCI : AT EF AREMEHE KN &R/
income BE
Notes: 5T -

(i)

(i)

(iif)

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate
certain of its previous available-for-sale equity investments as
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

The Group has classified its unlisted investments previously
classified as available-for-sale investments and loan to an
associate included in investments in associates as financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss as these
non-equity investments did not pass the contractual cash flow
characteristics test in IFRS 9.

The gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables under the
column “IAS 39 measurement — Amount” represent the amounts
before the measurement of ECLs.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A

(i)

(i)

(iif)

AEEEREHL LMD BERATHHE
MBI B I A BUH M R E RIR A FE
STARMEER A RERE o

AEBE LD ERAIHLEERE KA
ABZRRARENRERTHERARZE
REELETREDERE R FEFTAR
mA BNEREE  RESZFIFRE
REREBBEEMHEREEANEIRA
& RS REBRERIR

[EIRR & st ERIE3RAE 2B IRT
WE S RYNFRREZEREFERAE
EERATH S



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)
Impairment

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening
impairment allowances under IAS 39 to the ECL allowances
under IFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in note 22 to
the financial statements.

22 SRR RRELE (H)

R

TRGRZE B R & 512 A 5395 /9 3
VIRE R R AEERBERY ERELE
AIFRMFARNEEERREHR - #
— BRI RAM T2 -

Impairment
allowances under
IAS 39 as

31 December
2017

R2017%12A3318
REEREER
FIOTRRERE
RMB’000
ARETFR

ECL allowances
under IFRS 9 at
1 January 2018
R20185181H
BEERSBRE
RS9 M T
FEERERE
RMB’000
ARBT R

Re-measurement

iR
RMB’000
ARBT

Trade receivables BHRKIR - - =
Financial assets included in STARAFE - Hft KA
prepayments, other receivables and  KEMEENEREE
other assets 736 - 736
736 - 736
Hedge accounting e

The adoption of hedge accounting requirement of IFRS
9 has no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, as the Group does not have any hedge
instrument.

RNBERI G REENFIRNE S
AREHAEENGRA M B HRRLES
£ ZRASEYEIAEHPTA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) (continued)
Impact on reserves and retained profits

The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and retained
profits is as follows:

22 SRS RKRELE ()

HREREF BN ZE

38 2 B R B 755 ¥ 5 2 R SR 955 ¥ R 8

MEFRMOZENT

Reserves
and retained
profits
fEE R
B 155 A
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Fair value reserve under IFRS 9 (available-for-sale BRI BR B R 3R 45 2E I SEOSRTE T
investment revaluation reserve under IAS 39) WAFEREE(BERSET
% R 55395718 T~ Ay A it
HERESHEE)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 RIRE R g 5 4RI 395%
2017612 A31 B &R 320
Reclassification of financial assets from available-for-sale & mEERAIHEHERE
investments to financial assets at fair value through EHOEARATERTA
profit or loss BENemEE (320)
Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 RAR B B 75 3 & YE B FE 05%
201841 A 1H KR -
Retained profits BEaR
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 RIREIRR &5t R FE 395871
2017912 31 BH &6k 1,148,648
Reclassification of available-for-sale investments to A EREENHHE
financial assets at fair value through profits or loss BIEATEFABEN
TREE 320
Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 RIR B B 75 3 &5 HE B ZE O5%
201851 1B M 48R 1,148,968
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RS EE ()
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BEERESHREESE (E)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (continued) (a) (&)
Impact on reserves and retained profits (continued) YR ERE o2 (&)
The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and retained BE BB HRE ERFEORE S
profits is as follows: (continued) MBI ENT (8)
Reserves
and retained
profits
i &
B15 A
RMB’000
AREETIT
Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair value BAFEFAREMEERE
through other comprehensive income NWEMEEATEREE
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 RIFEPR &R 3958 R

201712 A31 B &k -
Reclassification of financial assets from available-for-sale ¥4 @ EERAHEERE

investments to financial assets at fair value through ENOERKRATERA
other comprehensive income HEt2ERENe/mEE 2,450
IRIRBIR B 75 3 &5 ZE B 22 95
Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 R2018% 1 A1 B MR 2,450
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) IFRS 15 and its amendments replaces IAS 11

Construction Contracts, |1AS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions,
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15, establishes a new five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and
key judgements and estimates. The disclosures are
included in notes 3 and 5 to the financial statements.
As a result of the application of IFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect
to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts
at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of
IFRS 15 was recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits as at 1 January
2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under IAS 18
and related interpretations.
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22 SRS RKRELE ()

(b) BIBR I 75 3RE 2RI E 16558 M EH B

AARBEBE 2 EFE115RE
FZLK - BBREHEAF18HHK
= RIEERE  BROEHIIMER
Hh HBERRFEREPEHNE
EEEs o BRI E 2ERIE
1556l — B ALER - 1§
BEREFAHNEENKREZAR - R
15 BB B 75 5 2 A 551558 + IR
SRR ERBHREIRAQER
FEZREVIREMBEEESD
RESHERR BERFBEHRSE
A5 A R A BEt 2 RFERIK
mREEMRGICR A o 2L
A S ABZHEMEREERE
R BRESHFREETE BR
BITEME  TRABEZEEGELHNE
EXAEREZEHENETHUARE
THERETHNER - BEER
BRI SR ERMIFIRE o HRFE
A B PR B 7 e 5 E B 5 155% + K
5 B R B RS SR R BT FE2. Ak UL B A
RIBA S BORIEL ZE) -

REEBERBAKESEPERER
AN B PR B R s EBISE155R o 1R
BZA A ZERAERENS
FERBEMFMEEGANNERERE
Rt BEIERTRBELD - RN&E
EE=ZEAZENZE2018F1 A1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

IR EE (1)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 SHEHREBRIFESE(E)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) (continued) (b) (&)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial T X FTEL AR A B BR B RS i s 22BN B8
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018 as a 155 ¥ 7A2018F1 18 2 SR KR
result of the adoption of IFRS 15: HEZHESR -
Increase/
Note (decrease)
MigE g CRid)
RMB’000
ARET T
Liabilities &&
Deferred revenue EEW 24 (321,835)
Contract liabilities AHEE 24 321,835
Total liabilities BERE =
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFS IR EE ()

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BREHREELH(E)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) (continued) (b) (#&)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial T X FTE AR A B BR B S i & 2RI 5
statement line item was affected as at 31 December 2018 1557 70201812 A31 8 K& =2018
and for the year ended 31 December 2018 as a result F12A3MBLEFEZ SV KHRKIEE
of the adoption of IFRS 15. The adoption of IFRS 15 has R B LR o BN B R B IS R &5 R
had no impact on other comprehensive income or on the FIGHEEMEABERAER 2K
Group’s operating, investing and financing cash flows. 2 RENBEREREVELE -
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 R2018F 12 A31 HRGR A ISR R & :

December 2018:

Increase/
Amounts prepared under (decrease)
BRI T BRI s

HHRHENEE i,/ Ch )

Note IFRS 15 Previous IFRS

Fe RIER AN EY

HERGHmE BERMBRE

liEsd R 155 R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
Deferred revenue PRI W = 24 = 534,097 (534,097)
Contract liabilities BRAE 24 534,097 - 534,097
Total liabilities BERRE 534,097 534,097 —
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 16

IFRS 17
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28
IFRIC 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Definition of MateriaF

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23!

2.3 ERMERTER BRI HREER
AEENZEVHEHRRPILARTKAAT

B AR E 1= R A AR AT M g8 8

s mEER -

BRA B RE R £3%
(fB57%)
BRAHREEZR
(3178
IW%W?&%E'I” 03
&I[‘%’ B A ’EE‘J%%
5)}%(1‘%J$)
B%Eﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬂ‘l%we?ﬁ
BRABREEAE17R
BR e EAE1RR
AR e EREe%
(378
Bl e R 19%
(LEVM
B ezt ER£285
(3178
ARaRREREZEe
REFI
DIEZNI7EEH 7
FRNE

1§

7] B

FENER
ABRREZ RS HIE

REZEABELNAARELEL
BHRENEAHE

HE
FEAHP
EXHER

AT RS
REERARAELENR L
KRR TEEN
BRSHRS R BN
REENF1E - EREHER

$10% REK &3 2N 5208
26

T 20191 A1 B Sk Z & A FE HIR

EX

2 20201 A1k 2 % R EF S HIR

EX

8 R2021F1 1Ak 2 &R FEHR

EX

4R AR TR E o I AR 23 B HAE A] B AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets
to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to
assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in
January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

2.3 ERMERTER BRI HREER

(&)

B B B 75 i 5 2E R B 1055k R B BR & 5t
AEBI| 2855k RS 5] 2N 78 K [ R B 755
& 242 I 551055 B8 B B & 51 4 Bl 352855k
ZHEEHNEEIREE MRS NRIRE
ErEMANEEHESTEMEREN
P8 - ZFBFTHRE  BREEH
HEE A eEgrE 2 ANEERE
FOFEBK —IBEBE - AERE2EIK
o EE o MRS R TBK—IBER
WEE - ARz SHEER K EER
RIREENBRFER - HEATIEH
WEENZBE AR AEDENER
R o ZEEFTAIRAIERLERER - B
RIS REERF105 RER %
Bl 282855 & 5T 28 # JR 58 i 4= % B BA R
2016F1 A B st ERIEEE 5
B - 13T A 5% ) A 2 B B ST AR T
ERNRIREECENERZETEME
ETE o M - ZFIEFT IR A HRERA o

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R

185



186

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

IFRS 16, replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15
Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two
elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-
of-use asset meets the definition of investment property
in IAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The
lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the
interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS
17.

Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the
same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to
apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach.
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2.3 ERMERTER BRI HREER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued) 2.3 BEMERBEER BT RS LER

The Group will adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The
Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in IFRS 16
to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at
1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
IAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application. The
Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the
standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within
12 months as of the date of initial application. During 2018,
the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the
impact of adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 is not expected to
have material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion
of IFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does
not include long-term interests that in substance form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under IFRS 9, in accounting for
such long-term interests. IAS 28 is then applied to the net
investment, which includes the long-term interests, only
in the context of recognising losses of an associate or
joint venture and impairment of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments on 1 January 2019 and will assess its
business model for such long-term interests based on
the facts and circumstances that exist on 1 January 2019
using the transitional requirements in the amendments.
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating
comparative information for prior periods upon adoption of
the amendments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs (continued)

IFRIC 23, addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits
or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers
changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is
to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively
without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019.
The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the associates, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures an equity investment designated at
FVOCI, equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss and loan to an associate included in other non-current
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

1.9% to 10%
9.5% to 23.8%
9.5% to 31.7%
11.9% to 31.7%

Buildings

Motor vehicles

Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments
and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included
in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases
are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under IAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that
are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in other expenses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in an unlisted equity investment and
banks’ wealth management products. Equity investments
classified as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Banks’ wealth management
products in this category are those which are intended to
be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in other income and gains or other expenses.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as other income in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
before 1 January 2018)” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of the unlisted equity investment
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such investment is stated
at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term
are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the
Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets if management has the ability and intention
to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until
maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies under IAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default (other
than trade receivables) when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted
equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original
cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss
— is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss.
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on
the reduced carrying amount of the asset using the rate
of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest
income is recorded as part of other income. Impairment
losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit
or loss if the subsequent increase in fair value of the
instruments can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
put option liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Put option liability

After initial recognition, put option liability is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under IFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39 applicable
before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the year, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss
by way if a reduced depreciation charge.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received by
colleges and high schools in advance prior to the
beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees
are recognised proportionately over the relevant period
of the applicable program. The portion of tuition and
boarding payments received from students but not earned
is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected as a
current liability as such amounts represent revenue that
the Group expects to earn within one year. The academic
year of the Group’s schools is generally from September to
June of the following year.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds
one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Management service income is recognised when services
are provided.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

Service income includes tuition fees and boarding
fees of colleges and high schools of the Group.

The tuition fees from the schools of the Group
are received in advance at the beginning of each
academic year. Revenue is recognised after the price
is fixed or determinable, and services are provided.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received by
colleges and high schools in advance prior to the
beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as deferred revenue. Tuition and boarding
fees are recognised proportionately over the relevant
period of the applicable program. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students
but not earned is recorded as deferred revenue and
is reflected as a current liability as such amounts
represent revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s
schools is generally from September to June of the
following year.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received
a consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due)
from the customer. If a customer pays the consideration
before the Group transfers goods or services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised when the
payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. Further details of which are given
in note 31 to these financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries operating in Mainland
China are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands uses
the United States dollar as its functional currency. As the
Group mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used
as the presentation currency of the Company. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the
Company and certain overseas subsidiaries, which use
currencies other than RMB as their functional currencies,
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Contractual arrangements

The Group exercises control over Chongging Yugangao,
Chongging Yuecheng, Chongqging Electronic Information
College, Chongqging Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Ltd.,
Chongging Jierui Education Technology Company Limited,
Chongqging Fanyun Education Technology Company
Limited, Chongqging Jiehan Education Technology
Company Limited, Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment
Management Co., Ltd., Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School and Laoling Minsheng Education High School
Company Limited (the “Structured Entities”) and enjoys
economic benefits of the Structured Entities through a
series of contractual arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls the Structured Entities
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity
interest in the Structured Entities, as it has power over the
financial and operating policies of the Structured Entities
and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of the Structured Entities through
the contractual arrangements. Accordingly, the Structured
Entities have been accounted for as subsidiaries during
the year.

Current and deferred tax

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the
relevant tax rules and regulations so as to determine
whether the Group is subject to corporate income tax. This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgements about future events. New
information may become available that causes the Group
to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of the
tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax
expense in the period that such determination is made.
Further details of the current and deferred tax are set out
in note 10 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Put option liability

Pursuant to share purchase agreement in relation to the
acquisition of Lead International, the Group is committed
to grant an option to the sellers to sell the remaining 49%
of the issued share capital of Leed International at the
exercise price based on a predetermined formula (the “Put
Option”). Significant judgement is required in determining
whether a present ownership interest exist in the shares
that are subject to the Put Option, so as to determine the
accounting treatment of the non-controlling interest and the
Put Option liability. Management considers that the Group
has present ownership interest over the remaining 49%
interests in Leed International since the exercise price of
the Put Option is determinable and the Group can exercise
right over these interests and enjoy the related return. This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgements. Further details of the Put
Option liability are set out in notes 29 and note 33 to the
financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
year, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. As at 31 December 2018, the
carrying amount of goodwill was RMB1,685,099,000 (2017:
RMB303,937,000). Further details are given in note 15 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
year. The non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit using key
assumptions such as budgeted sales amounts and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. As at 31 December
2018, the total carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments that were
subject to impairment tests was RMB182,243,000 (2017:
RMB127,168,000).

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the
Group makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity
and size differences. The Group classifies the fair value
of these investments as Level 3. The fair value of the
unlisted equity investments at 31 December 2018 was
RMB6,380,000. Further details are included in note 40 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of loan to an associate included in other
non-current assets

The loan to an associate include in other non-current
assets has been valued based on a discounted cash flow
valuation technique as detailed in note 40 to the financial
statements. The valuation requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows and to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The fair value of the loan to
an associate included in other non-current assets at 31
December 2018 was RMB43,810,000. Further details are
included in note 40 to the financial statements.

Purchase price allocation

The assessment of the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed required management
estimations. The purchase price allocation for business
combinations entered during the year ended 31 December
2018 required management estimations to determine the
fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities.
The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired on the
acquisition date are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
education services in the PRC.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reporting about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.
The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision makers, for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of performance does not
contain discrete operating segment financial information
and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about
operating segments is presented.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group operated within one
geographical segment because all of its revenue was
generated in the PRC and over 90% of its long-term
assets/capital expenditure were located/incurred in the
PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment information is
presented.

Information about major customers

No revenue derived from service provided to a single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue
of the Group during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

5. Wi Etb AR K

BRAKENOTNT

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEF& & UZE
Tuition fees 28 570,630 440,368
Boarding fees FEE 52,513 37,412
623,143 477,780
Other income and gains Htm A R iz
Dividend income from an available-for-sale ]t H &% &R B A
investment - 360
Investment income from short-term REHEKATTENEHRE
investments measured at amortised cost ~ NMIEAFEFAEBRE
and short-term investments measured at ~ HSEHIRE A HER
fair value through profit or loss/available- & RIEEFRZILEWA
for-sale investments and investment
deposits 15,172 24,693
Rental income WA 2,926 1,659
Bank interest income FRITHIEHBA 23,228 7,789
Government grants (note 28) BT 4R B (BT 5228)
— Related to assets — BERE 18,676 9,639
- Related to income — AR 59,682 93,317
Exchange gain, net P& 55 W 2V F 5B 8,894 —
Management service income* BEIE RIS WA 54,173 =
Fair value gains on equity investment at fair &2 F{EzH A8 HI IR
value through profit or loss BENFERE 296 =
Others Hifb 6,837 8,835
189,884 146,292

The government grants are related to the subsidies
received from the local government for the purpose
of compensating the operating expenses arising from
the schools’ teaching activities and expenditures on
teaching facilities. There are no unfulfilled conditions

TR

or contingencies relating to such government grants

recognised.
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B RE R BB BT B BB R
P EEREEE B ATEMERE R
FTUERE BN B R - B B E FER RV ERIT
R RA 0 BRI R A R R AR IR B E R



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

An analysis of revenue is as follows: (continued)

*

Pursuant to share management agreement in relation to the
acquisition of Lead International, the entire management of
Dianchi College of Yunnan University and Dianjiao AM Co shall
be entrusted to Minsheng Vocational and Chongqging Huizhi with
effect from the effective date of the share purchase agreement
until the completion. In consideration for the management
services provided by Minsheng Vocational and Chongging
Huizhi, Minsheng Vocational and Chongging Huizhi shall be
entitled to 100% of the net profit of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University and Dianchi Management during the term of the
management agreement.

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

5. W

- ELA A R Was (48)

BRSO - (48)

o REERKEREE

EARENBRHREE

B EEABEOERIEEERRE

NAMEERTE

BEREEES

ERERTRERS
B B 8 B 15 A 2

FHEETKALE - EERIIREBER

BREEESRM

MEERE - REFE

ERHZERNEN  REBRERF R
EEETBEEWNIRERASEMSEMR
MEEEENAFN100%FH)HE o

BEFaX W as
(i) PBRW=EEFR

2018
RMB’000
AREEFTT

Timing of revenue recognition Uy 5 e RR B i
Tuition fees recognised over time PER SRR ER 570,630
Boarding fees recognised over time PERs HERERNETE 52,513
623,143

The Group’s contracts with students for colleges
and high schools education programmes and
boarding services can be terminated anytime
without compensation. Tuition and boarding fees are
determined and paid by the students before the start
of each school year.

AEBESEARKERSFHE
RIEREBRBFILAEH A
BE B T DA 4% LE T 8 55 ST 2 ) B
E-BELREBEIRNEEEH
ARTETE R BAE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFS IR EE ()

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Ua - HMUA K e ()
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EF&E# Was (&)
(i) The following table shows the amounts of revenue (i) TRINENARNHE AR ER L5

recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting year:

AHmEFERVIEHAEN RS

T

2018
RMB’000
ARBT T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract FAREHVNENEENE
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: R -
Tuition fees ==F 291,710
Boarding fees FEE 30,125
321,835
No revenue recognised during the year related to FAMERERNRNBEFETKE
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior HEERMES ©
years.
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PEEEFAENBTEHRMEN
performance obligations for contracts with customers R B EE
The contracts for education and boarding services are HEREBREED A —F
for periods of one year or less. As permitted under AT o 72 BIRR B 7% 3 5 2 BII 2815
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these AT WEBSREZS W
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. REITEHNNZZEBIELEE -
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BMERA

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARM T RN R

Interest on loans from the ultimate holding & B &AM A 7 KL EE T

company and related parties HWE A FIE - 491
Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERNEMERFE 8,925 2,552
Interest on finance leases REHEER B 1,197 =
Interest on Put Option liability RO EIEREN A 3,080 —

13,202 3,043
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MM EE (8)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRBUADEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBERBATREF 0B (GEA) AT
(crediting): BIRBEN
Notes 2018 2017
Bt RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Depreciation e 13 71,720 47,344
Amortisation of other intangible assets H fth 2 & B B 16 1,241 1,042
Minimum lease payments under operating &&HEMNHKEA S
leases 8,125 6,983
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments BN tHAERE 14 7,736 2,717
Auditor’s remuneration il e 3,180 4,247
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMNA(TEE
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): EEME (FIFES)):
Wages and salaries TERES® 146,097 106,813
Equity-settled share option expense AR s 4 E D FE AR A
< 2,514 451
Pension scheme contributions (defined BN Er B (R
contribution schemes) 7E m.ﬁriﬂ) 41,284 28,432
189,895 135,696
Foreign exchange differences, net R N ERE (8,894) 20,468
Impairment of financial assets: TRVEERIE
Impairment of trade receivables Z Z W IE/DZTE 21 80 -
Impairment of financial assets included STATERTEIE - HAh
in prepayments, other receivables and R IE&EI’rIﬂ &
other assets ENEMEERE 22 47 =
Reversal of impairment of financial ST ATERRKIE - HAtb
assets included in prepayments, other WK IE K H A &
receivables and other assets ENEmEERE
o 22 (500) =
(373) -
Dividend income from an available-for-sale At i & & &% BUK
investment A - (360)
Investment income from available-for-sale ~ AJ{HERE KL ETF
investments and investment deposits KEIEE WA = (24,693)
Investment income from financial assets BRATER ABENE
at fair value through profit or loss and BB E MR E TR
investment deposits TERA (15,172) =
Bank interest income |ITHEUA (23,228) (7,789)
Fair value gains from an equity investment A {ExH AEZ EI’JHQ
at fair value through profit or loss R E NP EREG (296) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant BRE W - ME M &RE
and equipment, net HE BEFHE 140 1,966
Donation expense BRI 834 2,629
The exchange gain is included in “Other income” in ME N W e st AR e B m R A 2 E R
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other KA EAMMUA L -

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383 (1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

EEME

RIE ETRA - BB R RIERHIZE383(1)
(@)~ (b) * (c)R(f)E KX~ RAIRAE2H
K ERESEN 2 EMER ) BE X
FEEEMESFBOT :

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T ARBFIT

Fees we 603 489
Other emoluments: Hibfil< :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2B R EWHZ 11,713 10,785

Discretionary bonuses B METEAL - 115

Equity-settled share option expense AR E R B AEE 10,594 2,849

Pension scheme contributions RIRE IR 15 39

22,322 13,788

22,925 14,277

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the
above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI MTEE (1)
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEMS (@)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUFHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RERNBBIYLIERATEEZ TR
during the year were as follows: WEWT
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTTT
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang BRER A4 ST 201 163
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKEE 201 163
Mr. Wong Wei Hung TR AE 201 163
603 489
There were no other emoluments payable to the RERN - BEAMB 7 IERITE
independent non-executive directors during the year EREMNE (20175 « &) -
(2017: Nil).
(b) Executive directors (b) BITEE
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE2018F12A31ALFE

Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-settled
and benefits scheme Discretionary  share option Total
in kind  contributions bonuses expense remuneration

#e RERE Bie B REHEH
Wl AERK BRMRL  RRERA et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTn  ARRTR  AR®Tn  ARRTx

Mr. Li Xuechun REAREHE 2,348 - - - 2,348
Ms. Zhang Weiping KETat 5,532 - - 6,915 12,447
Mr. Zuo Yichen FRERE 2,104 = = 1,784 3,888
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MREL A 1,422 15 - 1,784 3,221

11,406 15 - 10,483 21,904
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI (1)
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. ES=M<(E)
(b) Executive directors (continued) (b) BITEE(HE)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE2017F 128318 ILFE
Salaries, Pension Equity-settled
allowances and scheme  Discretionary  share option Total
benefits in kind  contributions bonuses expense  remuneration
o RURE Bffe IR R E A
Wil SEft BEMEL BREERR Wems
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETT  ARETR  AREBTR  ARETR
Mr. Li Xuechun FEEHE 2,537 - - - 2,537
Ms. Zhang Weiping RETRL 5,041 - 115 1,899 7,055
Mr. Zuo Yichen LRREL 2,008 23 - 475 2,506
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung HRERE 1,199 16 - 475 1,690
10,785 39 115 2,849 13,788
(c) A non-executive director (c) HHTEE
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018E12831HLLEE

Salaries,
allowances Pension Equity-settled
and benefits scheme Discretionary  share option Total
in kind  contributions bonuses expense remuneration

xR N oL

ERUNE BHReH@HR  BEMREL  ORRERA [kt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR  ARMTn  ARRTR  AR®Tn  ARBTx

Ms. Li Yanping FETLL 307 - - 111 418
There was no arrangement under which a director RER > HESEHNEXRER
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during EEA NN T HE 0 RAE R
the year and no remuneration was paid to any of the mRERESYMNHEEMEASNA
directors by the Group as an inducement to join or A N N £ B 12 /Y 22 B ok B B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of wE -

office.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B RAMTEE ()

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2018 include four (2017: four)
directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
one (2017: one) highest paid employee who is neither a
director nor chief executive of the Group, during the year
are as follows:

IEBREHFMES

HE2018F12A31HILEFE  A&H
hEm= T ESB2EME(20174F ¢
MEZ)EE HEESHFHFBEIRE
X K8 o FAHB—E(2017F : —
ZIRMEARBEEEMIIEFETHAR
= 5 E B E MBI T ¢

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T RN D

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - B REWFZE 698 240
Pension scheme contributions RIRE RS 13 -
711 240

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employee fell within the following
band:

FEENFTZTRAENGZSFHHIE
BHMN T T E -

2017

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000/%8 7T

1 1

During the year, no highest paid employees waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration and no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

RER - BIEREFMEERELRE
BELCAFHFH  MAKETFERZOLS
RaFEES XM ERINALREE
S ANAZR SR B 12 B SE B S BB A 18 ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Company, Minsheng Education Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Services Company Limited, Minsheng
Education Development Company Limited, Minsheng
Vocational, Minsheng Secondary Education Company
Limited, Minsheng Education Technology Company
Limited, Minsheng Education Information Company Limited
and Leed International which were incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands, are not subject to income tax.

Minsheng Education Development (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Hong Kong College of Technology and Business
Limited and Leed International Education Group (China)
Limited which were incorporated in Hong Kong, were
subject to profits tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profits derived from or
earned in Hong Kong during the year.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, except for the preferential tax rate
of 15% under the Western Development Tax Incentive
Scheme available to Chongging Li'ang Education Services
Company Limited and Chongging Pass Education Services
Company Limited, the companies of the Group which
operate in Mainland China are subject to Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25% on their respective
taxable income.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

10. FRE%

7 /IR I A S AL B 2 7 E R
B AR RE A 2 R IR TR

NAEH -

AR REHBEERLQR REHE
RBEERARF  REAXBERARLQ
m - REBEHE RETPEHEAR
N REBEMEARAR  REH
BEERERARMBEEESNASE
SEEMAKIL - BAMNPER -

REHEER(EB)BERAR - &F
THERERARLEEEEHABSER
(FR)BRARIRBEBEMKL - H
REBEE 2 et ERBUR T FRNER
16.5% BT KBNS HL

F PO AN 68 (B 3 R 1 708 7 AR s SRR (E )
FERBUGE A - BULF AL EAEHFER
SRS -

REFBEEEMBVENBEESR - K
EENSHERBER AR MEE IR
B RIGAR R BR =AM TR
TEREETEI T 15%BEHEIN - KNE
BETRPEAESENRRZARE B
B FE SR U A IR 25 % B R BN R 2 PR 1S
HTEEREH]) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FT{SHi(4E)

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law
for Promoting Private Education (the “Implementation
Rules”), private schools, whether requiring reasonable
returns or not, may enjoy preferential tax treatments.
Private schools for which the school sponsors do not
require reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same
preferential tax treatment as public schools. It is stated in
the Implementation Rules that the relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments
and related policies applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns. During the year, no separate
policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by the
authorities in this regard. In accordance with the historical
tax returns filed to the relevant tax authorities, except
for Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company
Limited which was incorporated as a limited company, the
Group’s schools which require reasonable returns did not
pay corporate income tax and had enjoyed the preferential
corporate income tax exemption treatments in 2018.

The major components of the income tax expense for the
Group are as follows:

RIKRIHBE REEZERGH) ([B
RSl ]) - RSB T HERIEAIE
EIFHRER - PRI ZREBHBOR - SRS
WETERREAE @ RHRIER -
FREZERX BRI PR FFO B BB
R - HilRPIFRE - BB A
i E B SKERG A 1 | i H) R ERUE
R B BBUR RARBEERR - £ > I
EHBARLLL HIE BBOEER BRI
A - REBEABEREEBRERZ A EER
HERRE - BRABRARIRLEEER
AHERRTEERDAN - KEER
S & 32 [ 3R 1) 2420184 I R 4
MEEABERIEZEXBELEMERET
8 o

AEEMEHAXNEZAXHLH N
™

BIHI— BRI
F R

Current — Mainland China
Charge for the year

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETTT
15,448 2,115
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as
follows:

10. FR&% (&)

AR R RAEATH KB 2 AV E L
B 24 e B L2 BB P
Rz BUER AR EEBR A H 2 BA
WA HEMT ¢

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT

Profit before tax B 35 A& A 348,276 262,962
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMEFE 2B 94,400 83,218
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority & iR~ EMEFE = (8,889) (873)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT FEAHBHIBEL

previous years 2 AR 3,565 175
Income not subject to tax BERBUA (80,787) (81,839)
Income tax arising from deemed interest 18 {EF| BURAEE Z TS

income 5,223 -
Expenses not deductible for tax AN F 2 140 261
Tax losses utilised from previous years BEEABATFEHRIAESE - (53)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 TRIBE B 1,796 1,226

15,448 2,115

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

RS EE ()
10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. Fri5%i (&)
At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been MH2018F12H31H - $E@j’[?ﬁdiﬁé

11.

recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China (2017: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group’s unremitted earnings will be retained in Mainland
China for the expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is
not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totaled approximately
RMB1,339,390,000 at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB1,066,060,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB1,488,000 (2017: RMB725,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also had tax losses arising in Mainland China
of RMB9,163,000 (2017: RMB8,062,000), that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year (2017: Nil).

11.

AP B AR ST 2 [T B A B B B AN TR AR
a’wklﬁth&ﬂ&iﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ?uwﬁ%u
ERIE(2017F - &) - EZRAB - A
SENAEL R BEFREARHA
REBEXAEELEE  ARZEHBA
AIRAI AR D IRAE BRFHEE T
Ao 20185128310 » ERFER
tﬂﬁ%“ﬂ&éﬁf‘%ﬁﬁLUR’IEEﬁﬁ
AERNEREZBVRESHNAAR
ﬁ%1,339,39o,000m(2o17¢ P AR
1,066,060,0007T) °

2R R ) E PR RO A A

BT -

B K

R2018F12A31H * AEBEBTBE
48T IE BB R A K %1,488,0007T
(20174 : AR¥725,0007T) * AR
HAR AR S IR BB A A8 B8 fER
Rt Al o AN B AR B i IR EE A IR
B 18 A R #9,163,0007T (20174 : A
K #8,062,0007T) * BEAHIBEE/R
—ERFNER  TRAREIEBRER
FmA o ARZENBAREEELEBRE
—EB s - BRANER AL Al AEN
BB B ERTUS T - B BB
EEBRBRELHBEE -

BRE
EETEZRAFERETMAAR
(20174 : &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12. BAREERESEEAELERAER

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
4,017,720,000 (2017: 3,790,753,205) in issue during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners
of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued
at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

FREXBHNIRBEFAREE AREF
B & F AE #ETE AR MEF ISR
4,017,720,0000% (20174 : 3,790,753,205

BR)EE -

SREEANTIRESARER AREFE
i AEHE o 5T R A E B BN 12
Bt ESRERBNAAZFRACETER
BRER - ARBER/ITEXBERABEEES
EARSEBEERREEBERTHERK
INFEF L -

FREANREERT 2 ERE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR®TTT
Earnings BF
Profit attributable to owners of the parent, FARFTESREARALEER
used in the basic and diluted earnings NIPASITNEIE ¥ PN lapin
per share calculation l 332,839 259,947
Number of shares
gnip 4=
2017
Shares & 13

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used in
the basic earnings per share calculation — FH&

AR EEREREF 2
FABBETEBIRINE

4,017,720,000 3,790,753,205

Effect of dilution — weighted average

number of ordinary shares: FHE
Share options R

BEYE —LBRNE

4,993,230 886,898

4,022,713,230 3,791,640,103

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BEKRZRE

Furniture
Motor and Computer Construction
Buildings  vehicles equipment equipment in progress Total

g7 AE GURKE  BERE ERIR EH
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR  ARMTR ARBTR

31 December 2018 2018128318
At 1 January 2018: 20181 A1R
Cost A 1,023,050 18,061 295,912 76,849 24,110 1,437,982
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (144566)  (10213)  (169,886)  (47,179) - (371,844
Net carrying amount EmFE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24,110 1,066,138
At 1 January 2018, net of #2018%1A18 -

accumulated depreciation R Z:HE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24,110 1,066,138
Additions AE 4,488 1,736 24,901 6,604 241,211 278,940
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33) WEEK BAE

(K3E33) 748,300 3,666 41,689 357 91,000 885,012

Disposals ik - (49) (185) (142) - (376)
Depreciation provided during the R E&E (H7E7)

year (note 7) (30.815)  (2,233)  (29.776)  (8,896) - (71,720)
Transfers T 294,011 - 4,806 - (298,817) -
At 31 December 2018, net of 12018124318 -

accumulated depreciation MR E:HE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57,504 2,157,994
At 31 December 2018: R2018F12A318
Cost AR 2,257,287 30,510 457,872 83,936 57,504 2,887,109
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (362,819)  (19,542)  (290,411) (56,343 - (729,115)
Net carrying amount FHFE 1,894,468 10,968 167,461 27,593 57,504 2,157,994
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. M3 - BEKRE (8

Furniture
Motor and  Computer  Construction
Buildings  vehicles  equipment  equipment in progress Total
BF AE BFRREE  ElRE IR @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR AEETT ARETR
31 December 2017 20175128318
At 1 January 2017: R201761R18
Cost KA 573,029 17,146 246,236 38,101 16,863 891,375
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (102,236) (8979)  (139,810)  (28,634) - (279,659)
Net carrying amount REFHE 470,793 8,167 106,426 9,467 16,863 611716
At 1 January 2017, net of R2017461A18
accumulated depreciation Bk 2:iE 470,793 8,167 106,426 9,467 16,863 611,716
Additions hE 732 8 20,273 2,245 17,669 40,927
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) B~ BA ]
(Fit3233) 418,000 1,083 22,550 21,047 64 462,744
Disposals e (17) (75) (1,440) (373) - (1,905)
Depreciation provided during the R & & & (FizE7)
year (note 7) (18,386) (1,335) (24,152) (3,471) - (47,344)
Transfers Bl 7,362 - 2,369 755 (10,486) -
At 31 December 2017, net of B2017F12A318
accumulated depreciation R 2HTE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24110 1,066,138
At 31 December 2017 #M2017412A318 :
Cost KA 1,023,050 18,061 295,912 76,849 24,110 1,437,982
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (144,566) (10,213)  (169,886) (47,179) - (371,844)
Net carrying amount REFHE 878,484 7,848 126,026 29,670 24,110 1,066,138

The Group’s buildings are situated in Mainland China.

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings
of the Group located in Chongqging and Yunnan, the
PRC with a total net carrying amount of approximately
RMB150,497,000 at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB192,121,000) have not yet been issued by the relevant
PRC authorities. As at the end of the year, the directors
were still in the process of obtaining these certificates.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s buildings with
a net carrying amount of approximately RMB291,177,000
(2017: RMB178,951,000) were pledged to secure bank
loans and other borrowings (note 26).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7

AEBZ BTN BEAM

FE 8 P B 8 1 R 3 HH AR S B A R B
EREREECETEFZMERSR  Z
ZEFR2018F12A31H 2 BREFE
BEE A A N R ¥150,497,0007T (2017
#F: AR¥192,121,0007T) « REX -
ESNAERENSZEMERENS
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R2018F12A31H * A& EREFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBI EE (8]8)

13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Finance leases

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment
held under finance leases as at 31 December 2018 was
RMB258,603,000 from the acquisition of subsidiaries (2017:
Nil). Leased assets were pledged as security for the
related finance lease payables.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

13. M3 - BMERRHE (H)

MEHE

2018F 128318 « A& B U EEHK B
AR RREHERANEFTFER
HRREE A A R %258,603,0007T
(20175 : &) - HMEEED TEFE
ARERE RS R BN EE -

14. EfLHEEFHE

Note 2018 2017

BisE RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Carrying amount at beginning of year REVIRREE 337,750 108,626

Additions NE - 650

Acquisition of a subsidiary U i —FEIf B A &) 430,640 231,191

Recognised during the year (note 7) RE AR (KIFE7) (7,736) (2,717)

Carrying amount at end of year RERKEREE 760,654 337,750
Current portion included in prepayments, s+ AFEfFRIE - EfhjE
other receivables and other assets WK IE & B & EE Y

BVERER > 22 (15,869) (6,793)

Non-current portion JEBNHAER > 744,785 330,957

These pieces of leasehold lands are located in Mainland
China and are held under long term leases.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s land with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB50,869,000 (2017:
RMB105,424,000) was pledged to secure bank loans (note
26).

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s land with
a net carrying amount of approximately RMB26,483,000
(2017: Nil) was pledged to secure certain loans of a non-
controlling shareholder of Chongaing Electronic Information
College.

ZEHRE LA B RIA R AR
’A -

R2018F12A31H * A& BEE FE
A# AR ¥50,869,0007T(20174F = A
R #105,424,0007T) & T L E F
B LAESIRITE R (M 5E26) -

R2018F12A31H * AEBERE FE
B % AN R #26,483,0007T (20174 ¢
|INETLHE FIRBURESEES
EBESER —FHEERBRFENETE

e
oA °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI (1)
15. GOODWILL 15. HE
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET T
Cost: D% NE
At 1 January R1A1H 303,937 303,937
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33) W BB Bt B8~ | (B 5E33) 1,381,162 -
At 31 December M®12A31H 1,685,099 303,937
Accumulated impairment: ZEHRE
At beginning and end of year RERER - -
Net carrying amount: BRIEHE -
At 1 January M1A18 303,937 303,937
At 31 December M12H31H 1,685,099 303,937
Impairment testing of goodwill P (8 A
Goodwill acquired through business combination is BREBEHRBNEBOREIA TR
allocated to the following cash-generating units for SEABMIGETRERR :

impairment testing:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETT

Chongging College of Humanities, Science =& A X EHL &7

and Technology 303,937 303,937
Leed International BEsE 1,381,162 =
1,685,099 303,937

252  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEF G R A =



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Cash-generating unit of Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology

The recoverable amount of the Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

15. &8 (&)
P&l E R ()
ERAXNRERREELEN

i)ﬁ/\ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁzfﬁ/fﬁiﬁﬁz—f
Hﬂl@%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ BHEE
o ZEtE A ARABERREREIE

BRERFHEZ HBEEEEE 2T

SRETEE - U N ABIEBEAELIR
ERERANEEEETRENFRNS
ICE IR

Sales amount (annual growth rate) HESB(FEHERE) 6% 6%
Gross margins (% of revenue) EREUERERZBDL) 60% 60%
Long term growth rate REIER X 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTIR X 17% 17%
Cash-generating unit of Leed International BEEEREEEEN
The recoverable amount of the Leed International cash- BRI ReEABEN 2 KBS
generating unit has been determined based on a value E*ETW%%FTEJ L EEETE © Zat
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on BRERABRaREEEIERRER
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved FHR W KEEMEIEZ RS RER
by senior management. The following describes each key Al e UTREBEBRAMELRRER
assumption on which management has based its cash flow RIS R B ETREARNEEEEZR
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill: %

| 2018
Sales amount (annual growth rate) HE é%ﬁ(ifi“ﬁr) 15%
Gross margins (% of revenue) EFE(EREER 2B D) 50%
Long term growth rate REPEREK 3%
Pre-tax discount rate Mt AT HT IR 16%

Budgeted sales amounts — The budgeted sales amounts
are based on the historical data and management’s

expectation on the future market.

HHESH FREHERNDENES
%(T);‘j«& B 32 & 5 R K 15 1) TR H 1

—
E °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate
is based on the historical data and management’s
expectation on the future market.

Pre-tax discount rate — The pre-tax discount rate reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit, which is
determined using the capital asset pricing model with
reference to the beta coefficient and debt ratio of certain
publicly listed companies conducting business in the PRC
education industry.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the cash-generating unit and discount rate
are consistent with external information sources.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7

15. & (&)

P& pl(E R ()

BEEMNE-ARETAERBAEERN=X
MEEMBNEESERAEFERIMN
MBHFEENR - WHBHR RN E
KIEHIM SR RFEL LF -

RHREER -REERXTENESLH
BEREEBHARKRMGNBHMETE -

HATRAIR R — T AR IR R R B B B B
AR ER - IEREREETE
BRI 2E B BRI NRETETER
BITRRREBN AR LT ARMNAE

REMRELEBUNTISER LS
KM IA T BRZAAE T OEEREIMND
BRARE 2



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2018

16. HhEFEE

Computer
software

SR
RMB’000
ARBT T

2018%F12H31H

Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation 7201841 H1H&IAAK -

fORR R AT EE 3,380
Addition WE 4,118
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) FREEHB A (M EE7) (1,241)
At 31 December 2018 7R2018F12A31H 6,257
At 31 December 2018: 201812 A31H
Cost DN 12,537
Accumulated amortisation BT (6,280)
Net carrying amount BREFE 6,257
31 December 2017 2017512A31H
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated amortisation 7201781 H1 BRI

OBk REt# 8 2,682
Addition NE 786
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) U B8 — R B BB & &) (B 7£33) 954
Amortisation provided during the year (note 7) F R (MFET) (1,042)
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12A31H 3,380
At 31 December 2017: R2017%F12A31H
Cost PR 7,830
Accumulated amortisation R (4,450)
Net carrying amount AR A 3,380
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. REELQTWIRE

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 2,030 2,568
Loan to an associate — Hong Kong Nang  [AIB#& QB (FBe"H L

Yan College of Higher Education Limited — EfzARAR])EK - 33,455

2,030 36,023

The loan to an associate (Hong Kong Nang Yan College
of Higher Education Limited) was unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors,
the loan was unlikely to be repaid in the foreseeable future
and was considered as part of the Group’s net investment
in this associate as at 31 December 2017. Upon the
adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has reclassified loan to an
associate to debt investment at fair value through profit or
loss included in other non-current assets.

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Place of
Particulars of incorporation/
equity/ registration
Name interest held and business

izl e ve FEMARSL,

ML AR (FAELCELERGERA
AMERABERRE  £8  WKREX
BE - BEERRZEERETENA
RARKEE  WH2017F128318K
HAREERZEE N RIRE FEN—
o o RERANBIRRE B 75 3R 5 XE R B 955
& AEEDRBABERRERETD
BARAFEFABENERIA I
ETAHMIERBEE -

Bt N RIEVEIRAT

Percentage
of ownership
interest
attributable
to the Group Principal activities
BN
FATERES

B A PSS ZANY TBXK
Beacon International College PTE. LTD.* Ordinary shares  Republic of 25.6% Commercial schools offering
Beacon International College PTE. LTD.” LRk Singapore higher education programmes
AN AN REGSHERA ZEEER
Hong Kong Nang Yan College of Membership Hong Kong 0%** Education institution providing
Higher Education Limited* NS BE higher education

BECE L ERARAA

*

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Particulars of the associates are as follows: (continued)

>k

The Group’s subsidiary, Hong Kong College of Technology and
Business Limited (“Hong Kong Technology and Business”),
is one of the two members of Hong Kong Nang Yan College of
Higher Education Limited (“Hong Kong Nang Yan”). Pursuant to
the Articles of Association of Hong Kong Nang Yan, no portion
of the income and property of Hong Kong Nang Yan shall be
transferred directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus, or
otherwise, to any member of it. Hong Kong Technology and
Business is entitled to appoint four members to the school
management committee of Hong Kong Nang Yan which
represent 29% of the voting rights.

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not
individually material:

17. REBE QAT NRE (&)
BERBIRERMT (&)

> AEEZHBARBEEIFZRBRA

i(F?iﬁIﬁ%ﬁj)%iﬁfﬁau_ﬁiﬁ
FRERAR(TEBECDREAKER
Z—-° *EE?;‘%@H:Z%H%%E%E%EE'J 2
EBRCZBRARMEREARE - 76
Aok HMEAEE I EEETEEM
KEAR - BAEIEBRERAEBEE
CHEREEZESZMANEKE @ 1
ERREER29% °

AEREBEBARAEERESR

TREAAREEZ EEMSLIFEEN
e NmZERMEER

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTT

Share of the associates’ loss for the year ’\Tﬁﬁﬁ’p%/& RN EE (644) (269)
Share of the associates’ total DIREEE QR 2 2 ERE

comprehensive income 18z (644) (269)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRELZE N FIHNKRE

investments in the associates ZERERE 2,030 36,023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

18. OTHER INVESTMENTS

18. HiRE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Current assets MENEE
Investment deposits (i) WEF() - 243,370
Available-for-sale investments (ii) Al SR E (i) - 466,320
- 709,690
Non-current assets EMBEE
Equity investments measured at BTG ENRERE
— Fair value through other comprehensive —RAFEFAHEMEE
income (iii) Wz (i) 6,380 -
— Fair value through profit or loss (iv) — R AF{ER ABE(V) 61,347 =
Available-for-sale investment (iii) Bk ={{il)] - 6,000
67,727 6,000

(i) Investment deposits

Investment deposits were wealth management
products with guaranteed returns. They were
denominated in RMB. The investments were held
for collection of contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash flows of these investments qualify for
solely payments of principal and interest, and hence
they were measured at amortised cost.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has
reclassified investment deposits to short-term
investments measured at amortised cost. As at 31
December 2018, all investment deposits had been
settled.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7

(i) REFH

REGRARARELRNIENE
me ZXEEmMNAARBHE- A
BIRETDNFHBURMEORER
B MZFRENGHRERE
BEBRBEEREMNRK Bk
BIHNAGTE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

18. OTHER INVESTMENTS (continued)

(ii) Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments were wealth
management products with an expected rate of
return ranging from 3.2% to 4.3% per annum for the
year. They were denominated in RMB. The return on
all of these wealth management products was not
guaranteed, and hence their contractual cash flows
did not qualify for solely payments of principal and
interest. Therefore, they were measured at fair value
through profit or loss. None of these investments
were past due. The fair values were based on cash
flow discounted using the expected return based on
management judgement and were categorised within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has
reclassified available-for-sale investments to short-term
investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss. As at 31 December 2018, all wealth management
products had been settled.

(iii) Equity investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income represents an unlisted security.
The fair value of the unlisted security is measured
using a valuation technique with unobservable inputs
and hence categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, such investment was
reclassified from available-for-sale investment to equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

18. HR&E (&)

(i)

(i)

JHRUERE

AHHERERFAERFER
KN T3.2%E4.3%MIBMEM °
HZEEMAARKESE - TEZ
FEHEMODB R ERE - E
MEGHRERETEERAL
BARERK At ZFEMRK
RFEFABRAE - ZERE
BEaH - ATELIBERARE
PE IR E I B 60 TE HA (] 3R R AL IR
MBEEeREAE  YERATE
BRME=M -

P BR 4% B RS B 75 R 45 25 BI Z595%
% AEECHAUHEERES
MoBERATEFABRGTE
K 52 Hf 1% & o 20184 12H 31
H FEEMERHEDER -

B R FEGARME KR
BRE

BN CHER AR AL 2 i e
BRERIFLMES - FLTE
FHRAFEDIARBAATEES
FHFHERETE AEMERA
FEBRNE=R

P B 4 B R B 755 3R & 2 Al S 95R
% AERECHAHLERE
EfoBEERAFEFAEGLE
SR R E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

18. HiR&E (&)
(iv) B FEGARZHKERE

18. OTHER INVESTMENTS (continued)

(iv) Equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss

BRAVEFABZNREREE
EHES - EMESFNRFETD
ERNERMBKHEEE  HF
ARFHERBRNE R

Equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
represents a listed security. The fair value of the listed
security is determined based on the closing price
quoted in an active market. It is categorised within
level 1 of fair value hierarchy.

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19. HibERBEE

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Prepayments for acquisition of
land use rights Wi - b {5 AR A RO TR SR 1B 193,074 15,500
Prepayments for property, M - HE kR ERITERK
plant and equipment B 136,043 -
Long-term prepayments, REFFEM RIE - EMERK
other receivables and other assets I8 N H M EE 9,632 =
Loan to an associate — Hong Kong Nang  AE#& QA F(FBCH L2
Yan College of Higher Education Limited* FBRARE)EZH* 43,810 —
382,559 15,500
* The loan to an associate (Hong Kong Nang Yan College of . MBEAR(ERECELERARA

ADMERAEER 28 - WRERE
& o RERABEIRR B TS IR A SEOIR 1%
AEBEC KT ARE 2 R RRE /W R B
BRREREN D BRBAFEFTAR
wHEBTE W ARMIERBEE -

Higher Education Limited) is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group
has reclassified loan to an associate included in investments in
associates to debt investment at fair value through profit or loss
included in other non-current assets.

20. INVENTORIES 20. 7§

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR ARBT T

Consumables SHFE M 1,381 1,351
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B RAMTEE ()

21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

21. EZRWIR

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Trade receivables =) e e 5,510 807
Impairment BB = -
5,510 807

The Group’s students are required to pay tuition fees and
boarding fees in advance for the upcoming school year,
which normally commences in September. The outstanding
receivables represent amounts related to students who
have applied for the delayed payment of tuition fees
and boarding fees. There is no fixed term for delayed
payments. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
students, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting year, based on the transaction date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEENBLEFRANTESFHNEENES
Z - BFE-RIUNARG o BRI BUEK
RIEEERFLEAREERERENEL
N ER o BRI EEE IR - A&
B B0 BRASAE BRSO FRUGRIE - DARURAR
EEk =R EEETREEARNER - &
WAL SRt e AN B 0 B 5 R RIR S ] A
HEAMOBHNELE MU BEAEERAR
£ - AEEAESHE 5 RIGIRERE
BRI m s AR AR - B 5 UK
BARRE -

BEREFER - LR 5 E B NRNREE R
twEtE - BHRUGKIANKREDTIT

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Within 1 year —F R 5,162 584
110 2 years —EWF 309 201
2 to 3 years N E = 39 10
Over 3 years ZFAE - 12
5,510 807
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. ©5 FEUERE (&)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

B RKFIERESBRENZ SN
™

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETTT

At beginning of year F1) - =
Impairment losses (note 7) B R (FEE7) 80 -
Amount written off as uncollectible B 85 73 S A Uk B K08 (80)

At end of year FR - -

Impairment under IFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
the expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. The loss rate applied is minimal. The
Group considered the trade receivables overdue over one
year for students that are not dropped out from schools
are not default as the tuition fees and boarding fees will
be fully received upon the graduation of the students by
reference to past experience.

Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired under IAS 39 is as follows:

B Z20184F 12531 H 1k FERIEERE
B EER B BB

N5 B 18 R R 4L 77 0% ot BR R B A R
ERIFONATAA 2 FHHIE BT 1R B
e AR FRLATA B 5 R UIR R
REHREEEE - AEAEEXRE
8- AEERSRBEBELER - BAR
BNBLAME  BHBE—FNEZE
WRTEY NEBEX) - ERBERXRK
EHINBERERE -

B 22017F12531H Ik FERIZEEE
E KA E395% ) HE

1B B B = 51 2 Bl 8399% I I 1@ 7
2 IR ARENE S ERFIER
2017F12A31BRERE ST T -

2017

RMB’000

AREEFTT

Less than 1 year past due BmEDR—F 785
1 to 2 years past due BH—Z R 10
2 to 3 years past due BEIMZE = F 12
807
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBI EE (8]8)

21.

22.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017 (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of independent students who were in temporary
financial difficulties. Based on the individual assessment,
the directors were of the opinion that no provision for
impairment under IAS 39 was necessary given the various
efforts of these students to raise funds.

1. EZRWEE)

B ZE2017F12 531 H 1k FERIEEIRER
2EERIE 3958 B (4F)

ERHERRERKRIERS 2 E TR
MR RHBLBE B - REERIRT
- EERASREER S ERIFE39
SR L BIEHRERR - ERZEE
HAEERRBENETES -

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 22, FEMNFIE - HtEWREREMEE

ASSETS
Note 2018 2017
B 5 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR FTT
Prepaid expenses B 4,489 6,546
Prepaid land lease payments Taf TR E R IE(BDER)

(current portion) 14 15,869 6,793
Advance to staff BB IFE 4,074 2,548
Advance to third parties BB =H A 11,434 1,584
Interest receivables JE U B - 295
Deposits b a 10,219 2,500
Other receivables H iy U FRIE 17,137 12,254

63,222 32,520
Impairment allowance B (236) (736)
62,986 31,784

Except for certain receivables for which the counterparty
failed to make demanded repayment and the Group has
made 100% provision (“default receivables”), the other
balances will be settled within 12 months and has no
historical default, the financial assets included in the above
balance were categorised in stage 1 for measurement of
ECLs at the end of the reporting period. In calculating
the expected credit loss rate, the Group considers the
historical loss rate and adjusts for forward- looking
macroeconomic data. During the current year, except for
the default receivables, the Group estimated the expected
loss rate for the other receivables is minimal.

BEFHRREBREREAEED 2R
AHE R B A E T B WA (T B R W
A )5 - HAb SR AS 1218 B A4
A ABEWEMBRCER - LSRR
BENEREERBAREHRTER
HEEBENFEIREER Rt ERHARG
EBRXE - AEEZEEAEERE
WL AT ZB RSB BIRIELRAE - 1
REE - AR EUGRIAS - NEB
AR ERFIANFARERE K
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

ASSETS (continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Long
ageing balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the fact that the Group’s
deposits and other receivables relate to a large number
of diversified counterparties, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its deposits
and other receivable balances. Other receivables are
non-interest-bearing. The movements in the provision
for impairment of deposits and other receivables are as
follows:

22. ANRE  HtBEWREARAMEE
(&)

7R B BUA M R S EOR SO R UK IR
HBRBIES] - LUREEERR - BRicE
ENERHSREREETHEHN - EN
AEENIZ S N EMER IR R AR
FEAMDBBE T - MABEKREE
R - NREBEWEREIZS MHEA
FEN IR AR A TR m s E A
PRI - EfRIFIAENGE - e M
Bt S RRERN B EEE T

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®TTT

At beginning of year F7) 736 736
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) BRI EEE(MFE7) 47 =
Reversal (note 7) e (FEE7) (500) -
Amount written off as uncollectible £ 185 A A N Bl 118 (47) —
236 736

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
counterparties that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in payments and no receivable is expected to be
recovered.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBI EE (8]8)

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND INVESTMENT

DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

3. RERBITERRREFARZREIR

1THERR

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Cash and bank balances B RIR1THER 1,508,144 1,716,278
Investment deposits with licensed banks in AR BRI IRITHIRE
Mainland China, at amortised cost T3 RS (B e
(note 18) 18) - 243,370
1,508,144 1,959,648
Less: S
- Restricted bank balance — X PRHERITAEER (2,324) (20,000)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 1,505,820 1,939,648
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in: LA N3 EEEHE IR © &R
2EEY
- RMB —ARE#® 1,480,138 1,195,492
- Hong Kong dollars (HK$) —AB7T 2,808 721,680
— United States dollars (US$) —%7T 22,874 22,476

Investment deposits as at 31 December 2017 represented
investments in wealth management products purchased
from licensed banks in Mainland China, with an aggregate
amount of RMB243,370,000. All investment deposits had
been redeemed in 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,480,138,000 (2017: RMB1,195,492,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

MR2017F 12 A31 A K& E 7 RIE A
Bl IRTTRHREMET ER - 88
% 5 AR #243,370,0007T ° FTERE
TFRER20184F &M -

MK2018F12H31H A& B WK &
LESEEMUAARBHE  BAR
#1,480,138,0007C(20174F : A R #&
1,195,492,0007T) - ARBTAIEMA K
BREEMER - A - RIBEF B KED
COMEE RGO R(KERE - EERME
ERBRE) NEEEATRAREE
RITIARKE KR ABHMEELAEITIN
PEZETS ©

RN RTTHIR 2R E B RITERN X

HYF B RIREAE © SRITREBRTITFRIL
FRHE O B A EEARIT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

23.

24.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND INVESTMENT
DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES
(continued)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
imposed by the relevant PRC government authorities or the
terms and conditions set out in the relevant government
grant agreements, proceeds from government grants are
required to be deposited into designated bank accounts
and restricted to be used in the relevant projects. As at
31 December 2018, such balances were RMB42,573,000
(2017: RMB45,909,000).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES/DEFERRED REVENUE

Contract liabilities

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 are
as follows:

23.

24.

RERBTERRRETRRZREIR
1THERR ()

BREFETFERFE BRERNEBE
BERXEEBRTH S HREAMEIK
TIEM  BFRMB T RIEART K
RIEERITRFIREESBIERF
FA o 20185 12H318 - &% & A
K #42,573,0007T(20174F = A R %
45,909,0007T) °

BRAE EEWE
EHEME

BE2018F12A31AM AN AEHT
e

31 December
2018
20185

12A31H
RMB’000
ARBT T

Short-term advances received from
customers

Tuition fees

Boarding fees

SEANEN
EXEES

A& P Y ER B 72 H

486,752
47,345

534,097

Deferred revenue

31 December
2017

20174
12H31H
RMB’000
AR®ET T

Tuition fees BE
Boarding fees FEE

291,710
30,125

321,835
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBI EE (8]8)

24,

25.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES/DEFERRED REVENUE
(continued)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
from students in relation to the proportionate service not
yet provided. The Group receives tuition and boarding
fees from students in advance prior to the beginning
of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are
recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the
applicable program. The students are entitled to refund of
the payment in relation to the proportionate service not yet
provided.

The significant increase in contract liabilities in the current
year was mainly due to the acquisitions of businesses,

24.

BRAE RS ()

BRRESBMAREHERERL IR
SEWBDMEHMEANR - NAEERE
BEFBARERSENRBE RIER
£ - BEREBRENABRIZERES
MR L PIRERR - BB REIR L W B
RIEHBRS HIAEREFRIA ©

AFEREAENABERREN . E2HR
WX BHANABEENARE

resulting increases in contract liabilities of RMB227,999,000 227,999,0007T * 15 &R E R KK
as detailed in note 33 to the financial statements. £33
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. HMENSRERESER
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Accrued bonuses and other employee EEHEA R EMIES
benefits & 50,553 24,614
Payables for catering services JE < 28R AR 75 3k 18 13,794 6,970
Payables for purchase of property, plant ~ BEW¥ « MENXENE
and equipment DB 158,290 65,057
Payables for management fee ERBENIE 68,469 32,364
Miscellaneous expenses received from L ER 82 A ) R T8 7 sz (P e
students (note (i)) (i) 32,502 25,124
Other tax payable H {th fE A8 1,131 2,605
Payables for audit fee EETERENFUE 3,960 2,250
Payables for interest JETFI B 6,426 32,309
Consideration payable for business E5a0tER
combination KRB 91,730 =
Payables to companies controlled by & — KM B R FEE
the non-controlling shareholders of a AR AR R BT 6l 2 B #Y
subsidiary IR 193,638 -
Other payables* H {th pE A~ 5RI8* 76,856 98,516
697,349 289,809
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

. Payables of RMB20,000,000 (2017: RMB72,000,000) to the non-
controlling shareholder of Chongging Electronic Information
College is included within other payables.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand.

Note (i): The amounts represent the miscellaneous expenses
received from students which will be paid out on behalf of
students.

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

25. HftfENRERETER(E)

* MEBRSEHRESMIELERBRRELAH
JEfH kT8 A R #20,000,0007T (20174 ¢
AR #72,000,0007T) B 5T A H A B 3R

g -

HpENHRASRE @ WiKE

KIEE -

BikE() : SEAKRELHBEDS - BR

BN -

26. FTERTREMESR

2017
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRAIEC%) AR s e ARETIL
Current I
Bank loans - secured RTER-HER 5.3-6.5 2019 49,600 5.2-12 2018 29,000
Current portion of long term ~ REBSRITEFRAVED
bank loans - secured S - BHA 4.9-71 2019 51,500 8.3 2018 40,500
Other loans - unsecured ~ EfEH—EEA 4.8-24 2019 40,144 15-24 2018 74,618
Finance lease payables ERRERE
(note 27) (Hfsro7) 65-7.7 2019 103,391 . - -
244,635 144,118
Non-current JEEDH
Bank loans - secured RTEH-FER 6.57.1  2020-2021 57,400 - - -
Government loan - secured B E 7 —HHH 1.2 2032 30,000 1.2 2032 30,000
Finance lease payables ERRERE
(note 27) (MzE27) 6.57.7  2020-2021 126,699 = = =
214,099 30,000
458,734 174,118
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B RAMTEE ()

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

26.

SFRRITRAEMESR(R)

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans: RITEK
Within one year or on demand —FEZRNHIREK 101,100 69,500
In the second year F-F 53,400 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EZFRF HEM
FREEA 4,000 -
158,500 69,500
Other borrowings repayable: HEMEEEER:
Within one year or on demand —F 2 AFIRERK 40,144 74,618
Government loan: BTER :
Beyond five years HBi A F 30,000 30,000
Finance lease payables: ENREMEE :
Within one year or on demand —FEZAFIREK 103,391 =
In the second year E—4F 107,591 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=ZFNLF  HEMF
BIEER 19,108 =
230,090 -
458,734 174,118

Notes:

(a) The Group’s overdraft facilities amounted to nil (2017: Nil).

(b) Certain of the Group’s bank loans and government loan are
secured by mortgages over the Group’s certain property, plant
and equipment and certain leasehold lands, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB342,046,000 (2017: RMB284,375,000).

(c) All borrowings are denominated in RMB.

(d) The Group’s other loans are unsecured, bear interest at rates

ranging from 4.8% to 24%, and are repayable in one year.

it

(a)

AEENELERESEAZT(2017F

).

REBHETRITERRBFERHA
SEETYE  BEREHUALRSETH
BT BIER - ERSREBRERE
B4 B AR ¥342,046,0007T (20174 ¢
AR #284,375,0007T) °

FBEFIGAARKEHE -

AEBEMEFRBER  FER48%
£24% 2 AR —FREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFS IR EE ()

27. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 27. E@ERE
The Group leased buildings and equipment in the year HZE2018F12A31BILFE - A& H
ended 31 December 2018 and the leases were classified THEEFLEXE  BREHEE EARE
as finance leases and have remaining lease terms of 2 to HE - FSpBEH—E=%F -
3 years.
At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease M2018F12A31H ' RiEMEHEME
payments under finance leases and their present values NEARREEESEERERENT ¢

were as follows:

Present value
Minimum  of minimum

lease lease
payments payments
BIK B
HeEFR HEAREE
2018 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR%TT
Amounts payable: P FRIE
Within one year —FR 118,341 103,391
In the second year E_F 115,208 107,591
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEFHhTF  HEMFBHE
R 19,613 19,108
Total minimum finance lease payments S RAEREMHE S A% 253,162 230,090
Future finance charges RRELEE A (23,072)
Total net finance lease payables JENREEHE FRRAR 230,090
Portion classified as current liabilities D38 ARE B (&30 ( H%IZG)
(note 26) (103,391)
Non-current portion (note 26) e EIER S (FFE26) 126,699
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

28. DEFERRED INCOME

29.

28.

IEFE YA

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Government grants I T 4 B
At beginning of year F1) 288,541 139,503
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 33) U BE B B 2 &) (K17E33) 19,299 186,010
Grants received B U8 72,482 65,984
Charged to profit or loss (note 5) T AE = (MFES) (78,358) (102,956)
At end of year FR 301,964 288,541
Current BV HA 19,937 17,134
Non-current JEBNEA 282,027 271,407
301,964 288,541

These government grants are related to the subsidies
received from the local government for the purpose of
compensating the operating expenses arising from the
Group’s schools’ teaching activities and expenditures
on teaching facilities. Upon completion of the operating
activities and the related projects, the grants related to the
expense items will be recognised as other income directly
in profit or loss and the grants related to an asset will be
released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset.

PUT OPTION LIABILITY

The financial liability for the Put Option is recognised
at the present value of the expected amount payable
of RMB981.5 million upon exercise of the Put Option
assuming that the purchase will take place in the fifth year
after the effective date of the share purchase agreement
in relation to the acquisition of Lead International. Such
present value is calculated as RMB778.3 million with a
discount date of 4.75% (the published People’s Bank of
China benchmark rate). Further details are set out in notes
3 and 33 to the financial statements.

29.

% E BT B & B B U RO 4 R
B ARAEAKESRBEEEM
EENKER RHBERBFX - L
2RE) MARREIA B TR - BFSIRE
HEANHB S REZR MRS R SEM
WA MEEERBNMEERERR
BEMNBR A FERFHARARR -

ARG ERE

RoaHENERAE TN R L%
BOBPREZEHENKREARE
981,500,000t W IR EHER * & F &R
ZEERRNEEKEREEENRMND
BEMEENAHEHERFEE -
EBERERERERL475% (FRAR
RITAMHOEBEENR)HERARY
778,300,0007T ° #— T IFEH AR
HARMEI®33 ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. KA
Shares B
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Authorised: JETE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of R2018F12A31HE
US$0.00001 each as at 31 December 2018 10,000,000,0000% &A%
(2017: 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares) E{E0.00001E TR E BN

(20174 : 10,000,000,000

747 747
Issued and fully paid: BERETRARRR
4,017,720,000 ordinary shares R2018F12831HH
as at 31 December 2018 4,017,720,000% & @ I%
(2017: 4,017,720,000 ordinary shares) (20174 : 4,017,720,000
307 307

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

RATRABBHENT

is as follows:
Number
of shares Share
in issue capital
BEEITRHEE R
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2017 R2017E1A18 2,589,451,200 209
Capitalisation issue (note (a)) B &7 (Hi(a)) 410,548,800 28
Issuance of ordinary shares upon listing (note (b)) L MEFE/TE @A (MizE(b))  1,000,000,000 69
Exercise of over-allotment options (note (c)) 1T R RRAC AR (BT ek (c)) 17,720,000 1
At 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 2017412 A31H + 20184
and 31 December 2018 118 K2018F12A31H 4,017,720,000 307
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f BRI (8)

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

31.

Shares (continued)

Notes:

(a) 410,548,800 shares were allotted and issued to the sole
shareholder of the Company, credited as fully paid at par value,
immediately preceding the listing data on 22 March 2017 to the
sole shareholder by way of capitalisation of the sum of US$4,000
(approximately RMB28,000) standing to the credit of the capital
reserve account of the Company;

(b) On 22 March 2017, in connection with the Company’s IPO as
defined in the Prospectus, 1,000,000,000 new ordinary shares
of the Company of US$0.00001 each were issued at a price of
HK$1.38 per share;

(c) On 20 April 2017, the Company issued additional 17,720,000
shares at the price of HK$1.38 per share as a result of exercise
of over-allotment options by the underwriters.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in
note 31 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme became
effective on 2 March 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by
the board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of a share; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of
the share options; and (iii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer.

30. M4 (%)

31.

K17 (&)
BsE

(a) REE2017F3H228 Em HHA] - &
B AR B & AR EBREE4,0005 7T
(#9 AR #28,0007T ) & AL # F5 = M A&
N ME— AR R AR 2 & 3517410,548,800/%
Bt - IREEARIESRR

(b) M201793H22H » AR RHE XA
REE(EERBRER)  REK1.38
7 TCEVB %2577 1,000,000,0000% & %
{B0.00001 5 TT Y AR A R ¥ & 3@AR

(c) M2017F4A20H AR BHEREITER
B R - ANDQ AR EMR1.388 THE
M EEITREINM 7,720,000/ B 1D ©

B

AR R RT B RAR BT BB TTRE A
R FBHINN M B RARMEEIIA

R RET &

RAFELEREE(THE]) - B
BeYRMEAEBINES L BERA
BEBZHEERENE R EE - 51870
20173A2E AN - BRIEZITEUBE
1&5] - K% A BARBREERTF o

BRENTEERESSET BTSE
BERATHREE()ROEE ; (i) F
A&7 PA BB AR 4R ) B EATE B A2 A A TR
B R(iARABRMARBERTEBH
AT AER S BEB O FHRHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) Movements in share options

31. BRESTE (&)
(i) BRELE
FAFHEIIE T AT BRE = RTT

The following share options were outstanding under

the Scheme during the year:

fiE

2018 2017

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

I hniEFg
TEE BREXE TRE BREHE

HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET + FRETT +
At 1 January M1A18 1.39 35,000 - -
Granted during the year FR#&EH 1.66 27,750 1.39 35,000

Exercised during the FRITE

year - - - -
At 31 December M12H31H 1.51 62,750 1.39 35,000

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(ii) Outstanding share options

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

31 December 2018

Number of options

Exercise price*

31. BRESTE (&)
(i) RITEBIKHE

R E R ERTERBRENTT

EERITERINT

2018F12A31H

Exercise period

BREHE ITEE* TS
'000 HK$ per share
F BRET

7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023
20188 A31HZE202348 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024
201998 A31HE202448 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025
20208 A31HZE202548 H30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026
20218 A31HZE2026%8 A30H

7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027
202248 A31HE202748 A30H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024
20198 H27HE 202458 H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025
20208 H27HZE2025%8H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026
202198 A27HE2026%F8 A26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027
20228 A27HE 202748 H26H

5,550 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028
2023F8 H27HZE2028%8H26H

62,750
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFS IR EE ()
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BREREI(E)
(ii) Outstanding share options (continued) (i) KITEBREE)

276

31 December 2017

Number of options Exercise price*

BRENE THEE*

'000 HK$ per share
¥ BRET

2017%12H31H

Exercise period

1THEH

7,000 1.39 31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023
201848 A31H £2023F8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024
20198 A31H £202448 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025
20208 A31HE202548 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026
20218 A31H £2026F8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027
20228 A31H £202748 A30H
35,000

The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

At 31 December 2018, the share options outstanding
under the Scheme were divided into five tranches
at their respective grant dates. Generally, the first
tranche vests one year after the grant date while the
remaining tranches vest in the subsequent four years
each. There is a five-year exercise period for each
share option granted under the Scheme.

The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 62,750,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$5,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,000) and share premium of HK$94,710,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB81,025,000) (before
issue expenses).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A

o BREITEE R N R A R ELT
SRR A B H At KR U B B 4 L B

o

72018F12A318 » sH&IB TN AR1TfE
BREZESENEL BEY AR ER
Ko BEEME - E—HLRRE L B
—FREB  HxHREEZRNFS

5B o BEIRERTEIIE TR & B
HERFRITER -

RIBEARR R AERE - BEITE
AR AT 150 B PR 4 1 2B B 862,750,000
B AR~ A @A - 1 AR AN5,0000%8 7T
(HBERHARE4,0007T) A K B 17 %
894,710,000 L(HEE R H AR K
81,025,0007T ) (RIBREFETTHRZ) ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

31. BRESTE (&)
(iii) FBIRELR-FlE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(iii) Fair value of the share options

The fair value of the share options granted during the
year was HK$24,194,000 (HK$0.87 weighted average
each) (2017: HK$27,630,000), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of HK$15,238,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB13,108,000) (2017:
RMB3,300,000) during the year ended 31 December
2018.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant
using the popular binomial tree model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

FABRLEERENATEAR
24,194,000 JT( & 2 M #E F 15
A F B £0.87% T ) (20174 :
27,630,000 7T) * EHRAREER
HE2018F12A31B L FEHER
B A% #E 5 32 15,238,000/8 7T (HHE
4 A R #13,108,0007T ) (2017
& : AR#¥3,300,0007T) °

FAREURESERERENR
FEARLBMEARTN IR
ABR R - BERBRER DA
IR IR B IR K S R TRFIE AR
T A ABUR

Dividend yield (%) IR B (%)

Volatility (%) B8 (%) 48-55
Risk-free interest rate (%) = 2 B2 A1 % (%) 2.09-2.14
Exit rate (%) R E(%) -
Exercise multiple 1T fEE 2.2-2.8

2017
Dividend yield (%) I B (%) =
Volatility (%) IR (%) 53-61
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1 R ) 2K (%) 1.2-1.38
Exit rate (%) R E(%) =
Exercise multiple TEREE 2.2-2.8

The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

500 2 R I S0 R MB R R R B
HWBR ABBRRTLEELR
SRR -

AERATFERIARBERLBR
R EL AT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

32. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for each of the years are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 159 to 160 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital
contribution premium from its then shareholders.

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China shall make
appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of
directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. These
reserves include (i) the general reserve of the limited
liability companies and (ii) the development fund of
schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which
are domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory surplus
reserves until the reserves reach 50% of their
respective registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions set out in the Company Law of the
PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may be
converted to registered capital, provided that the
remaining balance after the capitalisation is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

(a) *E£H

AEBERSFNHFHEELAES
R A BIHRERF159H = 5160
BHGAEREERET -

(b) EXfRE

AEBNERNFHESEERHK
REVEE B -

(c) ZEEMRFE

BRBEFEEBEE  AARF
NHHH B AR ARSEESS
ETNSEERBEBENERE
TADRFEEEDS ZEHEES
HE()VE R & R B — R EEE (i)

BRVERES °

(i) ME(PEARKEXFER A
E)Y AEEETHWEBARR
RNERE EBREFBT
Bt ERMEERTER
FE10%ERESBRET
BHHE EEHEEIS
A& A850% - EHFE
(REAREMBERGEIT
HETRANBRLT  Ho
EERBEEAER AR
KA BIREBRAERNGLE
BB TMER M E AH25% o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

32. RESERVES (continued)

(c) Statutory reserve (continued)

(ii)

According to the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, private schools that require
reasonable returns are required to make
appropriation to the development fund not less
than 25% of the net income of the relevant
schools as determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the
PRC. The development fund is for the construction
or maintenance of the school facilities or
procurement or upgrade of educational
equipment.

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018

(@) On 2 May 2018, the Group acquired a 100%

of equity interest in Shiji Kuangao (Beijing)
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Shiji
Kuangao”) and a 100% school sponsor’s
interest in Shouguang Bohai Experimental
School (“Bohai Experimental School”). Shiji
Kuangao holds a 100% school sponsor’s interest
in Bohai Experimental School. Shiji Kuangao
is an investment holding company and Bohai
Experimental School is principally engaged in the
provision of high school educational services in
the PRC. The acquisition was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its network of schools.
The acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consolidated financial
statements include the results of Shiji Kuangao
and Bohai Experimental School for the eight-
month period from the acquisition date.

32. f##E (M)

(c) ZEf#E (&)

(i)

33. £KEHF

BREBERBFRERESR &
EEBERRNHRENERAR
EPEARETRAGEN
FULA T D Ro5% 1 & R
Ee -BRESTAEEE
HEEEREE  HHBER

R ERBE ST AR ©

(A) EZE2018F 12531 A ILEE

(a) R2018F5H2H A& B UK

ttRELAERULR)KREER
ERAAR(THERES DK
100% E RS XD EER
ER(ITHBERER]®
100% R PHEEZ - HLER
A HBERZRI100%E i
TR HtHRESA XK
BIERAR DEEBRER
AlEZRFBRREH‘RSHIHE
R - ZWEEEAREE
BAHEBRPE RN — I
Do ZWEEEDERAKE
EAR  ZEREMBHRE
ERttLEESRGERSE
=g A= R AN R
BRI EEMALNA ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 33. EBKE(E)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) (A) B Z£2018F12531H ILFE (#E)

(a) (continued) (a) (#&)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and tHRES RS EERERN

liabilities of Shiji Kuangao and Bohai Experimental

WEEMAENEERBE

School as at the date of acquisition were as BWAFENAT :
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
L B B
Bt EE RAFE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB R ERE 13 305
Other non-current assets HMIEmEEE 161,297
Inventories rE 152
Prepayments, other receivables and other FEfTFUE « HAb UK
assets HRHAMEE 2,629
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTHE S 5,047
Contract liabilities AHaE 24 (2,871)
Other payables and accruals H b e FRIB R FEET
& (10,802)
Tax payable FE IR (27)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEEMLRE - i
~¥{E 155,730
Satisfied by cash VAR & 3 f+F 64,000
Cash consideration payable ERIRERE 91,730
155,730
Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: HUWBEFENRSRE
DT
Cash and bank balances acquired Fri IR & R IRTT 48R 5,047
Cash paid EfR& (64,000)
Net cash outflow on acquisition included in 5t AKREZEFTEIRE
cash flows from investing activities MEMPIEEERESR
HOFER (58,953)

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(a) (continued)

The fair value of other receivables as at the
date of acquisition approximated to its gross
contractual amounts.

The Group incurred transaction costs of
RMB100,000 for this acquisition. The transaction
costs have been included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

From the date of acquisition, Bohai Experimental
School and Shiji Kuangao contributed
RMB9,905,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused
a loss of RMB4,452,000 to the consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue from the Group and
the profit of the Group for the year would have
been RMB635,788,000 and RMB324,977,000,
respectively.

33. XKEH(E)
(A) EZE20184F12531H 1 FEZ (#%)

(a)

(#&)

H At & U R IR R W s B BT
NHEREASHSEMESE °

AEERRANRBEEES
R B AR ¥100,0007T °
ZEXRHIHNAEREGE B
REAM2EKRERT AT
FZ o

BUEBEAK - BEER
EREkttLEERRAEEE
F2018F12A31H ILFE R
Bi W = A R #9,905,0007T
REBYEGEEMNEBEBARK
4,452,0007C °

MEBEHRFENET A
FRAREE WS RFBEED
7l A A R #635,788,0007T &
AFE#324,977,0007T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) On 20 August 2018, Minsheng Vocational, a

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the share purchase agreement with Leed
Education Holding Limited, National Education
Holding Limited and Hyde Education Holding
Limited (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
Minsheng Vocational agreed to acquire 51% of
the issued share capital of Leed International from
the Vendors at a cash consideration of RMB582.5
million. Leed International holds 100% school
sponsor’s interest of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University. Leed International is an investment
holding company and Dianchi College of Yunnan
University is principally engaged in formal
undergraduate college educational services in the
PRC. Also, the Put Option is to be granted by the
Group to the Vendors to acquire the remaining
49% interest in Leed International. The Put
Option must be granted within five years from the
effective date of the share purchase agreement
and is exercisable upon granting until the end of
the five-year period. The minimum exercise price
is RMB981.5 million. The acquisition was made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its network
of schools. The acquisition has been accounted
for using the acquisition method. The handover
was completed on 15 November 2018. Since
then, Leed International has become a subsidiary
of the Company.

The directors take the view that the Group has
a present ownership interest in the 49% of the
acquiree’s shares that are subject to the Put
Option. The Group accounts for the acquisition
of the 100% of the shares of Leed International
(i.e., as if the remaining 49% of equity interest
was acquired) on the date of acquisition. The
consideration given includes the fair value of
the Put Option liability to the Vendors. No non-
controlling interest is recognised and the liability
for the Put Option to the Vendors is accounted for
as a financial liability in accordance with IFRS 9.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

33. EBKE(E)
(A) EZ20184F 125316 1L EEZ (4F)
(b) M201848H20H + AR A

TEMBARIRAEBEHNE
Bl eed Education Holding
Limited » National Education
Holding Limited & Hyde
Education Holding Limited
(TEF DI RIBEE =
Bt REBEXHEREM
BT WBEREEBESI%E &
TRA ReRERARE
582,500,0007T ° &= & B #F
BEMAZEMEF100%2
WmEER - BEEER XK
BRG] MERAASZEM
B T ERFBEREEEALR
SREE R o Wt - REE
A E 77 5% RE EARE LAUS S
BIEEBER T 49% M © 30N
HiE L ARRID B E R ER
HE R AFEARL » WK
HHEE 2 R FHARARRIA T
T RETEERARY
981,500,0007T ° Y 8 =18 7%
AN B K H 2R AB AR R 2
—&B5 - WEEIAE KA NE
EANER o B R E R20185F 11
RA15B 7/ © feLt B S ERK
RARBIMNBEAT] -

EERE AEERREH
T BT 3% B W B 5 /949% A%
NP EEREMAEREZ -
REBRUREE B B U EEE
= £ B100%0% 1 A BR (B0 7
BAER T 49% AR BE B M UL HE ) -
HEAREREHE RS
EABEHOAFE - HERER
R BHEINR
THEEAEREREM KR
SARAFEHRARIMESRE

g



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

33. EBKEO(E)
(A) EZ20184F 125316 1L EE (48)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) (continued) (b) (#&)

BREERERASELE
B W B HIR] SRl & B e

The fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Leed International and Dianchi

College of Yunnan University as at the date of BENATFELT
acquisition were as follows:
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
U BE B RE R
Bt EE ~E
RMB’000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB R ERE 13 884,707
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT T AR & FKIE 421,580
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 122,781
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 5,334
Prepayments, other receivables and other FBFUE « E b EUR
assets B R HAMEE 23,734
Cash and bank balances R RIBITER 39,960
Contract liabilities AREE 24 (219,292)
Other payables and accruals Ha B RIE KRBT E
3 (549,873)
Deferred income — current IEFEUR A — BN ED 28 (1,533)
Interest-bearing bank and other FRRITREMBE—
borrowings — current B HA (203,978)
Tax payable JER IR (216)
Deferred income — non-current IEIEUW A — FERNER 28 (17,766)
Interest-bearing bank and other STRIRITREMES —
borrowings — non-current JEBNHR (215,148)
Other long term liability* HipREE & (310,700)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value A% BIFBEREE @ 1%
NS (20,410)
Goodwill on acquisition WSR2 15 1,381,162
Satisfied by: = AT
Cash consideration RERE 582,500
Consideration payable — Put Option ENRE—RLHES
liability & 29 778,252
1,360,752
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) (continued)

According to the share purchase agreement, the
school campus of Dianchi College of Yunnan
University which is owned by Dianchi Co. shall not
form part of the Acquisition (the “Non-acquired
Assets”). After the completion of the acquisition,
the Group has the right to continually use the Non-
acquired Assets for free until new campus of same
size is established by Dianchi College of Yunnan
University, and meanwhile the Company has the
obligation to transfer the Non-acquired Assets to
the Vendors with all taxes and charges arising from
born by the Vendors. As such, the Group considered
the fair value of the Non-acquired Assets should be
recorded as payable to the Vendors.

The Group incurred transaction costs of
RMB1,580,000 for this acquisition. The transaction
costs have been included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of subsidiaries is as follows:

33. EBKE(E)
(A) EZ20184F 125316 1L EEZ (4F)

(b) (%)

* REBEROBEHGS BED
NRAEENEERBEN S
Be A B T4 A g R TR —
Ho([FFBBEE]D - Xk
BEETKIR  NEEER
BECSEEMIFRBEE
EEEMABEMBREK
RERBENHRERL - R
BRARARBEESIFKES
EERTED  AHELEN
FrEBERE RS R T &
2o Btk - AEER IR
BEENRFEEARIE
N BT FR0R -

AEERRANRBEEES
R 5 KA A R %1,580,000
Lo ZERGKABRESE
BEkEMEZEKIRTA
TERR o

RUWEHBLAINESRE
DT -

RMB’000

ARBT T

Cash and bank balances acquired FTUR 3R & RIRTT4E R4 39,960

Cash paid EffRE (582,500)
Net cash outflow on acquisition included in FFAREEBFBE S RENK

cash flows from investing activities HEIR© I HRE (542,540)

Since the acquisition, Leed International and
Dianchi College of Yunnan University contributed
RMB35,399,000 to the Group’s revenue and
RMB15,611,000 to the consolidated profit for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7

BEEIENAR - BEEE Rk
EMABEMBR AANEE
B Z£2018F12A31H IEF &
B Rl A R 35,399,000
NirEeFEARY15,611,000
=



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

33. XKEH(E)
(A) EZE20184F12531H 1 FEZ (#%)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(A) Year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

(b) (continued)

Had the combination taken place at the beginning
of the year, the revenue of the Group and the
profit of the Group for the year would have
been RMB919,052,000 and RMB358,428,000,
respectively.

(B) Year ended 31 December 2017

On 6 November 2017, Chongging Yuecheng, a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the capital
increase agreement with Chongging Chuangsite
Technology Company Limited and Chongqging
Electronic Information College, pursuant to which
Chongging Yuecheng agreed to make a capital
contribution of RMB125 million to Chongging
Electronic Information College. Upon completion of
the acquisition, 51% of the school sponsor’s interest
in Chongging Electronic Information College would
be owned by Chongqging Yuecheng. Chongqging
Electronic Information College is a full-time ordinary
higher education institution established in the PRC.
The handover was completed on 1 December 2017.
Since then, Chongging Electronic Information College
has become a subsidiary of the Company.

(b) (%)

WMEBEHREVHET - A
FAREE W= RFEED
A & A R #919,052,0007T K
AR #358,428,0007T °

(B) BE2017412531H L FE

R2017F11 A6H » A ARIMBA
AEENHEEEABREREE
RAGIMEERECBRESRES
BEME  BRIBEEHE EF
15 58 [B) B [7) BB R = B 5 22 P 3
& AR #125,000,0007T ° A B
BTikE EENABREEERE
EEBMEERo1% B ERE -
EREEHREERA—FRFTEH
RYHZAHEBRSERR %
ZEN2017FE1281H K ° #utt
EREEHREERKABAR RN
BAF -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIFS IR EE ()
33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 33. ¥¥50F(E&)
(B) Year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) (B) BZ£2017F12531H ILFE (#E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities EEBERESRAWERMT
of Chongging Electronic Information College as at the BRIEERBENRTFENT :

date of acquisition were as follows:

Fair value

recognised on

Notes acquisition

W BB R RERR

B aE NEE

RMB’000

ARBT T

Property, plant and equipment L E Y 13 462,744

Prepaid land lease payments TAfRT T EFKIE 14 226,759

Other intangible assets HEmErEE 16 954

Inventories 7E 36

Trade receivables B 5 EWKIE 575
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTHRIE - HAbEUGRIE

assets REAMEE 140,599

Cash and bank balances e RIRITAERR 22,727

Restricted bank balance ZRRHSRTT AR 20,000

Deferred revenue EEW (38,685)

Other payables and accruals E e 5B R EET & A (196,122)

Deferred income — current PEIEU A — BIES 28 (6,566)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings - & ERITREMEE —

current BNEA (178,457)

Tax payable FERTHI8 (22)

Deferred income — non-current IEEUT A — FEENEA 28 (179,444)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings — &t BRITMEMEE —

non-current JEBNHE (30,000)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AR FEEMARE '

FE 245,098

Non-controlling interests eI i (120,098)

125,000

Satisfied by cash AR & A 31,320

Consideration payable FERHRME 93,680

125,000

286  Minsheng Education Group Company Limited BR4AHBEEFHERA =



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B R KM EE(E)

33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 33. EBKEO(E)

(B) Year ended 31 December 2017 (continued) (B) BZ£2017F12531H ILFE (#8)

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB250,000
in connection with the acquisition which remain unpaid
as at 31 December 2017. The transaction costs have
been included in administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

AEBGRKRBERELERXZKA
A K ¥250,0007T © 72017412
ABIE M AT - ZERHHA
ERfmaEakEMembiaR
AAITHRAX -

B -EHBATNE SRS
SATIT -

RMB’000
ARBTT

Cash and bank balances acquired

BARE MIRITE 22,727

Since the acquisition, Chongqging Electronic
Information College contributed RMB5,970,000
to the Group’s revenue and RMB1,837,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December
2017.

BUWEUR  EEEEHESMR
BAREBEE2017F12A318 1
FE BRI A R%5,970,0007T
Rira FEAREA1,837,0007T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRI EE ()

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 34. 4B hE XM
FLOWS
Changes in assets and liabilities arising from financing BETEELEERBEHEE
activities
2018 20184

Other
non-current
assets

HtIF R B
&E
RMB’000
ARBTT

Bank and Finance lease
other loans [ EVEL][]
RITR
HibER
RMB’000
AR¥TR

ENmMEEE
RMB’000
ARBTR

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1H1H - 174,118 -
Increase arising from R s s Bt J s m) B N
acquisition of subsidiaries - 158,500 260,626
Changes from financing MEREMEL
cash flows 3,806 (103,974) (31,733)
Interest expense BRI - - 1,197
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A31H 3,806 228,644 230,090
2017 20174
Loans from
the ultimate
Bank and holding Loans from
other loans company related parties
BITR  REREER REBER
HER NAEIWER WE X
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETTT ARETTT
At 1 January 2017 201741 A18 - 125,413 14,073
Increase arising from B 5 i — P B JBB 1 R 38 B
acquisition of a subsidiary 0 208,457 = =
Changes from financing MEREMEL
cash flows (34,339) (125,413) (14,073)
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12H31H 174,118 - —
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. RAGE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2017: Nil).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RIFS IR EE ()
36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. REHEERH
(a) As lessor (a) FEBHHEA
Group EE
The Group leases certain buildings under operating REBREBELEHELTHERS
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms TEEF HHEBTEAE—FER
ranging from one to five years. The terms of the leases FoHERR—MREKBEEZN
generally also require the tenants to pay security Bifize  UREZRMIES
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments FEMEE -
according to the then prevailing market conditions.
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future 2018F12A31H « KEERIE
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable AR R T BB HN T
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: AT RSH A 2 T & R A R R xR
Me@BAT -
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR TTT
Within one year —FNKN 1,214 590
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFHF  HEMF
BEER 1,117 10
2,331 600
(b) As lessee (b) 1EBRAEA
Group rEE
The Group leases certain of its buildings under AEERBEREHERHHERASE
operating lease arrangements. Leases for buildings TEF BFNONHEHRBEN
were negotiated for initial terms ranging from one to T —ZFE + F - R20185F12A31
ten years. At 31 December 2018, the Group had total A XEEREN T BB
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR B EEHE RN KRR
operating leases falling due as follows: =EESBBOT -
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Within one year —&FR 987 2,372
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRTF HEMTF
BREEA 1,454 276
After five years hF® 7,272 —
9,713 2,648
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FA MR 5L (#8)
37. COMMITMENTS 37. EiE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed BR | BT 3E36(b) AT aF it HY 48 & 70 & &
in note 36(b) above, the Group had the following capital EGN - REB P IRE BREA R A E RNAFEE
commitments at the end of the reporting period: mr
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR¥EFTT
Contracted, but not provided for: ERHENEESZIE
Equipment BeLi] 10,887 7,653
Buildings BF 110,595 19,364
Loans committed to a third party ME = HEENER 400,000 -
Loans committed to an associate ] — R & A Bl R BB K - 8,359
Acquisition of private schools W HE R 591,800 500,000
1,113,282 535,376
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have REEHR - AEETES AEHEE
significant capital commitments that are authorised but not RETHEREPE (20174 : &) ©
contracted for (2017: Nil).
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEAIRS
(a) Name and relationship of related parties (a) BEEFHATE&EER
Name Relationship
Minsheng Group Company Limited (formerly known as the ultimate holding company
Honest Cheer Investments Limited)
RESHBRAR(FIEHUIREBRAR) 53 Sl /N
UCMG Management Limited fellow subsidiary
Bt EREIFR B R AR EEIGI=YNS
Yangguang Healthcare Group Company Limited fellow subsidiary
BhBEEERR AR EES)=PNS)
Yangguang Healthcare Education Company Limited fellow subsidiary
BRBEXERERAF EENI=YNG)
Yangguang Healthcare Education (Hong Kong) Company Limited  fellow subsidiary
BRBERE (HH)ERAA CEN= NG
Yangguang Healthcare Company Limited fellow subsidiary
BHEERARAT EEL)=PNS)
Yangguang Healthcare (Hong Kong) Company Limited fellow subsidiary
BHEBEBE(RE)BRAR CES )= YNS)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI MTEE (1)
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 38. BEFRS(E)

(b) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (b) BRAA B 7S 2% H fth 3b 75 BT &F 4t B9
the financial statements, the Group had the following REHIN KREBEFNERRETR
transactions with related parties during the year: EITUTRS -

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETFTT
Interest expense to: ERTHEAMERAR :
Minsheng Group Company Limited RESHARRAR]

(formerly known as Honest Cheer (RIfEEGIRERRAR])

Investments Limited) - 439
UCMG Management Limited R B BR A R 2 ] - 32
Yangguang Healthcare Group Company BXEEEEHRLHE

Limited - 2
Yangguang Healthcare Education BABEHREERAR

Company Limited - 2
Yangguang Healthcare Education (Hong BtBEHE (FE)

Kong) Company Limited BRAT - 2
Yangguang Healthcare Company Limited B tEERR LA - 12
Yangguang Healthcare (Hong Kong) GHBE(BEB)BRAR

Company Limited - 2

- 491

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) AEBFEFTEBAEREH :
Group:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBTIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2B R EWHZE 12,624 11,677
Discretionary bonuses BE M TEAL - 115
Equity-settled share option expense AR EE IR EE R 11,578 3,120
Pension scheme contributions RIREFHEIHR 201 61
24,403 14,973

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included BEEMENE—SHBEHNTB

in note 8 to the financial statements. WEHTEES o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI (1)
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. EMIEDE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RI|EER - SESHTAMNREED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as TS @
follows:
2018 2018
Financial assets EHEE

Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
Financial assets at fair value  comprehensive
through profit or loss income
BRAVETAR
t2ERENS
BAVETARBNEREE mEE
Designated
as such Financial
upon initial Equity assets at
recognition Held for trading investment amortised cost Total
RS ERERE
BAREE BEEE RERE HENEREE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARMTR ARWTR ARBTR ARETT

Equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive AP ARt 2E

income T RAER - - 6,380 - 6,380
Trade receivables 2 S RWEE - - - 5,510 5,510
Financial assets included STABRIFE - Bt

in prepayments, other TERAMEEN SR

receivables and other assets  ZE - - - 27,120 27,120
Financial assets included in ~ stAEfIEREBEEN

other non-current assets BEE 43,810 - - 2,120 45,930
Equity investment at fair value  RATE: NBR AR E

through profit or loss & - 61,347 = - 61,347
Cash and bank balances BeRRTER - - - 1,505,820 1,505,820
Restricted bank balances TRHIRTER - - - 2,324 2,324

43,810 61,347 6,380 1,542,894 1,654,431
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI MTEE (1)
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 39. £ % T B4 % (&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIFERR  SEeRTANERAEN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™ (&)
follows: (continued)

2018 20184
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

B SH R AT
ENESREE
RMB’000
ARBT T

Financial liabilities included in other payables

and accruals STAREMENRIEBERESEANEREE 645,665
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings —
current FHERITRHEMES — BIH 244,635
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings —
non-current FTERITREMEE —JEBNER 214,099
Put option liability RLHERE 781,332
1,885,731
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 39. &R T 5% ¥ ()

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RRERR S TANREELN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as ™ (&)

follows: (continued)

2017 20174
Financial assets THEE
Available- Financial
for-sale assets at
investments amortised cost Total
1R S AR
AHEERE ENESREE 45t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
Available-for-sale investments AN ERE 472,320 - 472,320
Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA - 807 807
Financial assets included FTATERRIE « EAbfEU
in prepayments, other REREMEERNS
receivables and other assets #&&E - 14,313 14,313
Investment deposits BT = 243,370 243,370
Cash and bank balances We RIRITEER = 1,696,278 1,696,278
Restricted bank balances TR BRI TE R = 20,000 20,000
472,320 1,974,768 2,447,088
2017 20174
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SRR ET
ENEEBE
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAHMERNFIEREAERANSHEE
and accruals 262,590
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings — & BR1T R HAMEE —BIHR
current 144,118
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings — &t BR1TREMEE —IERNER
non-current 30,000
436,708
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M FE <M ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

40. SRMIENAFERATFEER

AEBERMTACRAEEATVESE

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s

financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

HEERIN ERMERAFEDD

2018 2018
Carrying Fair
amounts values
IRMEE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET R ARET
Financial assets tREE
Equity investment at fair value through BAFEFG AHMEERE
other comprehensive income KRR & 6,380 6,380
Equity investment at fair value through BATER ABR R IRE
profit or loss ®E 61,347 61,347
Loan to an associate included in other T AE M IER B E EE A (A1 B
non-current assets ENEEN 43,810 43,810
111,537 111,537
Financial liabilities cHEeE
Interest-bearing bank and other loans — FTRBRITREMER—
non-current FERNER 214,099 225,364
Put option liability RonEEAE 781,332 781,332
995,431 1,006,696
2017 2017
Carrying Fair
amounts values
AREE ~TE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARETT
Financial assets TREE
Wealth management products B Em 466,320 466,320
Financial liabilities EA- =N
Interest-bearing bank and other loans — FFERITREAME K —JEAD
non-current =17 30,000 29,634
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and bank balances, investment deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, trade receivables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair value of the non-current portion of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 was
assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of the put option liability has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

The fair value of listed equity investment is based on
quoted market prices.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

40. ERMTANAFERAFEER(E)

EEECDERES MRITER  KRER
o RTAFRMNR  EEUKRIARE
MEENTREE - BHEKFIR - 5
ARMMENFEREFERNSRAE
KEt BRIT R EMBERHED A
B BEREERS  T2EHARZE
TRRHARE -

EREERRENAFENERR S
CGEREzERIE)EMRXSTZITA
A RS EREAR - W THERBRRA
RSN R FE -

FFRRITREMEEINBLINAT
BB RRAEELUGR - EERR R
BT R EI AR T AR AR KAGIRTE
HARREREFHE - AEER2017
FK2018F12 A31H szt BRIT N EH
fitb & B 892N & T8 40 R B Ty Tl A
BEKXe

b e BN R HERBRAERL
R - EERBRERBTIHANTA
BRI A RBEIRBHAR KR SR ER

s
= o
ZAr
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income, which
were previously classified as available-for-sale equity
investments, have been estimated using a market-based
valuation technique based on assumptions that are not
supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies (peers) based on industry, size,
leverage and strategy, and calculates an appropriate
trading multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/
EBITDA”) multiple and enterprise value to sales (“EV/S”)
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The
multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The
trading multiple is then discounted for considerations
such as illiquidity and size differences between the
comparable companies based on company-specific facts
and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity
investment to measure the fair value. The directors believe
that the estimated fair value resulting from the valuation
technique, which is recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values,
which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income, which
were previously classified as available-for-sale equity
investment, management has estimated the potential effect
of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the
valuation model and has quantified this as a reduction
in fair value of approximately RMB59,000, using less
favourable assumptions, and an increase in fair value
of approximately RMB59,000, using more favourable
assumptions.

40.

EMTANDAFERAFEER(E)

BAFEFARMBEEKEAIEETR
%&ﬁ%ﬁ“@%TTﬁ%%%EE’
HAFEDRAMSHEZETHE

B PR R VS Tﬁmﬁﬁim?
THEH-AHREEBESERTE B
R EREEREEEVEALRARAR]
(A%EAR) LFAEEEHEANTEL
BAGNEEEERE  AUEEE
HERAME - BIE - TERBHEAAAR
([EV/EBITDA ) Z 8 kb X (BB ¥ 85
EH(EVIS])EE - BEEBEIIAA
BB A EEBERARFGE
BEEHEBERARSEEERERM
B mEE R ELLRAFRENREES
BEEZRRAREHAR - FFLTRER
EREAAT G E EASIIRE AR
EAYE - EFMAE - RBHETES
HEEF A FE(REETBRARA
R R ATERNRAZE (REtMEEK
ZAR)DIBAE  TAREHARN
EREE -

HERM D EATHEERERENZA
FEFAHEM 2 E KSR IE TR
BEXRNFE - Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%éﬁT
BERRAANERGEEBILZ2EMNE

. I%ﬁim%ﬂiﬁmdmAE%
59,000 T( AR FEBER) R ATFE
#AN# A R #59,0007T (R B A AR

2) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the loan to an associate included in other
non-current assets has been estimated using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on assumptions that were
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation required the directors to make estimates about
the expected future cash flows including expected future
interest return on maturity of the loan to an associate. The
directors believed that the estimated fair value resulting
from the valuation technique, which is recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, is reasonable,
and that it is the most appropriate value at the end of the
reporting period.

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale investments in
banks’ wealth management products as at 31 December
2017 had been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that were not
supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation required the directors to make estimates about
the expected future cash flows including expected future
interest return on maturity of the wealth management
products. The directors believed that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which
were recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which
were recorded in other comprehensive income, were
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.
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40. TMITANAFERAFEER(E)

AEARAIER B E E R A E QR &K
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MIBHARRME @B EL G - BEF
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(RFEEPBHRRRAR) DBEE - I
RBERRZRENRE -

MR2017F 12 A31 AR 1TIE BT EE R AY
FELEMAHEERENATE - THERA
MR REEBEA G - EPHORE
WERSAIBRMEN L XL - BH
HEAESERERRRESR(B2ERE
B R B HRRS A0 T AR 2R R B B3R ) 1
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a2 E(RERE TR ERAR)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B RAMTEE ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis at the end of the reporting
period:

31 December 2018

40. eRMIENAFERAFLEEBR(E)

TRAZRTAGERREHRNERN
TABR2H R ECHREDTHH
E:

201812A31H

Sensitivity of fair

value to the input

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range

fhER* EXTTERSE BE

Unlisted equity investment Valuation multiples  Average EV/EBITDA  5.04
multiple

FFEMBERE IS TIIEV/EBITDAREE 5,04

Average EV/S 3.10
multiple

THEV/SIER 3.10

Discount for lack of ~ 31.0%
marketability

R ERBILRRE 31.0%

AVEHSUNERE

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in average EV/
EBITDA multiple would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair value by
RMB7,085

THEV/EBITDARRE LA/ (T#)0.5%
FEBATEEN/ (RD)ARE
7,0857C

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in average
EV/S multiple would result in
increase/(decrease) in fair value by
RMB5,823

THEV/SEE LT/ (TH)0.5% K 8K
AEEN/ (D) \R5,8237

0.5%

increase/(decrease) in discount for
lack of marketability would result in
(decrease)fincrease in fair value by
RMB46,244

hemERBERRE LA/ (TH)
05%EERATERD) /AR
46,2440

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 €3 299



300

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis at the end of the reporting
period: (continued)

31 December 2018

Valuation Significant

technique
fhiER &

EXFUBRSE  BE

unobservable input Range

. EMTANAFERAFEER(E)

TRATRITAGENREHRNEKR
TABR2BNELLHRESTHOH
2 (&)

2018512A31H

Sensitivity of fair

value to the input
AHEHSENYRE

Loan to an associate included  Discounted cash flow Discount rate
in other non-current assets method

STARMIERBAENRBERE BRASRE HRE

31 December 2017

2.60%%3.33%

2.60% to0 3.33% 0.5%

increase/(decrease) in interest return
rate would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
RMB1,393,163/RMB1,452,977

MERERE L7/ (TH)0.5%#EHA
TFERD)/EMARE1,393,163
T/ NRH#A 452,9777C

2017%12H31H

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

NFEH2UNGRE

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input  Range
f&ENA EATBEZY  BE
Unlisted wealth management  Discounted cash flow Interest return rate
products method
3 FIEBTE m BRRERNE MERERE

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4AHEEAER A

2.60%%23.90%

2.60% t0 3.90% 0.5%

increase/(decrease) in interest return
rate would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by
RMB41,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FA BRI 5L (#8)
40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. 2RITEAENAFERAFEER(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy NFEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TEREPAEESRTANATEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B4
Assets measured at fair value RAFEFENEE
As at 31 December 2018 M20185F12H31H

Fair value measurement using
AVEHBER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs

REBTENHRE EATERZE EXTURRSY

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(E-&) . (E=8)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR

Equity investment designated at fair valuef ER A FE:T ALt 2 AU

through other comprehensive income  IRIEHR & - - 6,380 6,380
Equity investment at fair value through ~ RATET ABREHRER S
profit or loss 61,347 - - 61,347
Loan to an associate included in other st AZMIERB EER MEE A 7]
non-current assets X - - 43,810 43,810
61,347 - 50,190 111,537
As at 31 December 2017 M2017F12A31H
Fair value measurement using
NTHEEREA
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
RNERMSNRE EATBR2H EATIBR2H @t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%—-1&) (E=%) (E=f)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT ARETTT ARETT ARETT
Wealth management products B Em - - 466,320 466,320
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R EE ()

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. SBMIEMNAFERATFEEBR(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEER(E)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERN - E—REE_R2EANATE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no A g JramEE A EEE = RN
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2017: Nil). B (20174 : &)
The Group did not have any financial liability measured at RIEER - REEWBIRATEAE
fair value at the end of the reporting period. FERemars -
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FRE= NEEFENEFHDOT -

during the year are as follows:

2018

RMB’000
ARBT T

Equity investment at fair value through other AT EFF AR 2 EK S

comprehensive income/available-for-sale iR E AIHEHERE

investment — unlisted —3IE LT
At 1 January M1A1E 6,000
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 PRAN B BR B 15 e 5 HER R ORI & 2,450
At 1 January (restated) MR1A18 (KE5) 8,450
Total losses recognised in other RE M2 IR R

comprehensive income BEER (2,070)
At 31 December M12H31H 6,380
Loan to an associate included in other non- qu)\Ef’@iFmiﬁéfFE’Jﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ

current assets/loan to an associate included B GHAREE QR EH R

in investments in associates HBE N EER
At 1 January M1A1R 33,455
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 FANEIPR I 5 s S R B O o & -
At 1 January (restated) B1B18 (K&E7) 33,455
Additions =T 10,355
At 31 December M12H31H 43,810
Wealth management products BAEm
At 1 January ®1A1H 466,320
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 FANBIRR B 5 3R S B R O o B -
At 1 January (restated) MB1A18 (&E5) 466,320
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FA BRI 5L (#8)
40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40. 2RITEAENAFERAFEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) N FEER(E)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EEATENAE
As at 31 December 2018 #2018 12H31H

Fair value measurement using

DFEHERR

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total

REBTENHRE EXATHERZE EXTURRSH a:
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%-8) (%=8) ($=8)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR

Interest-bearing bank and other loans - & 88817 RH M EH

non-current —JERNER - 225,364 - 225,364
Put option liability AhBEaR - 781,332 - 781,332
- 1,006,696 - 1,006,696

As at 31 December 2017 B—/\\\2017ﬂg12ﬁ]31 H

Fair value measurement using

AFEHBHA
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
active markets inputs inputs Total
REETZNERE BATERZH BXTIEESY @5t
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%) (B=1) (£=R)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other loans st BRITREMER
- non-current —3EANE - 29,634 - 29,634
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
bank loans, finance leases, other interest-bearing loans
and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables, other receivables
and other payables and accruals, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans
with floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to
keep certain borrowings at floating rates of interest so
as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The Group
currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the directors of
the Company will consider hedging significant interest rate
risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable rate
bank borrowings at the end of years 2017 and 2018 and
assumed that the amounts of liabilities outstanding at
the end of years 2017 and 2018 were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

41.

TREAREEBRERBEK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profits for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018
would decrease/increase by RMB149,000 and RMB440,000,
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to variable interest rates on its bank loans.

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the
Group’s operating expenses are denominated in RMB,
which is not a freely convertible currency. The PRC
Government imposes controls on the convertibility of
RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the
remittance of currency out of Mainland China. Shortages
in the availability of foreign currencies may restrict the
ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient
foreign currencies to pay dividends or other amounts to
the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the US$ exchange rate, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity.

Effect on profit before tax and equity

4. cHEAKREEBERBEE(E)

FFE =2 (F)

fHFIR EF T RRSOMEE 2 & A H At
E#ERERTE  AEEEZE2017F
2018124318 1EF & /M Fi 18 4 7l
15 BR800 A R #149,0007T &
}\Eﬁ%4400007c EXEHRAEE
IRITERAZENF R R RFTE ©

S B

AEEPEEBRET2HEERST
EEAE%&@ ﬁAE%I%TEm
HIREH o b B AT G A RS BN
B - WS TIER TG E%E D
A B K RE o HNESRT R B2 IR B AR E
BB A RIE X B SINE R AR B 2
AR B H A FIBRIEE ST -

NREHINMEHER - EAAEMA]
BRZREFTENBERT » AEENH
AR N MR AR S R T E RS R A R E)
RS o

HERBARNRREANTE

Increase in the US$ rate by 3% T IE R IN3%
Decrease in the US$ rate by 3% ETEET%3%

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR ARBEFIT
681 22,376

(681) (22,376)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise bank balances, trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.

=ERER

AEBeREE(BRRITER E5
FEMCRIRIA Re 32 & I B At RE U R IR ) B9
EERBRREHFHELD Eﬁmﬂﬁﬂfﬁ
ERZETAMNEEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MB KM ()

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Most of the bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default. The expected credit loss is approximately zero.

Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables are due from a number
of individual students, credit quality of each student
is assessed and outstanding receivables are regularly
monitored.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on financial situation
and historical payment records for groupings of various
student segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off after one year
of the graduation of the specific students and are not
subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of
each class of financial assets disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements. The Group does not hold collateral as
security.

Deposits and other receivables

As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, except
for default receivables, deposits and other receivables
were categorised in stage 1 for measurement of expected
credit losses at the end of the reporting period. In
calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-
looking macroeconomic data. During the current year,
except for the default receivables, the Group estimated the
expected loss rate for the other receivables is minimal.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 HBEEHGIR LD T

1. SREREEBERBE(HE)

=ERER(E)
RERBESEEY

REBD SRITAEER I B IR SR F T
HAYP #8528 400 ok B L ERVERTT - TAH
EEBRORT -

B2 BYRE

A E SR HE B T (B
B MHIE o AREFEGERED
RREE - AR R AR
1B o

REHRE B HRARBRREETRED
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BEEARLUEBERANZELD AR
BN SR E X NCERERE - A
AAERBREBIRIIEAR EREHEE
ERHE BRI RGERBESN - R
AR AR BRI RS IR 5EE
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BE R H WA
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ABRERRFTERREEHRNFE 1M
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Deposits and other receivables (continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Long
ageing balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the fact that the Group’s
deposits and other receivables relate to a large number
of diversified counterparties, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its deposits
and other receivable balances. Deposits and other
receivables were mainly loans to employees, loans to third
parties and other receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
internally generated cash flows from operations and other
borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources
in meeting its financial obligations.

1. SHEAKREERERBEEE(E)

=EmERR (&)
B R HE MR R (8)

IR ER B B e R EL R SO IR MR IR
HBRRIES] - LOREEERR - Bk
ROERHEREBEETHEN - ERX
REE NI S N E M EBRIRS R AR
FEAMA NS T A EBEKREE
R EEp - NEEWEREZS MEAM
FEW IR SR A E AR m R EAME
FRIEAR - me REMBRFIEEERMA
BEENR - ME = ERRHE R
H o

HEE L m R

AEENBEESBRBEREENBES
ZREREREMERERFESFEHR
FEEETR T 2 T - NEEE R
W EBE SR AERE RHMBEER
BITHMBEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI (1)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMREEEERBEKR(E)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEBELEE ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REECHABENRNRERRERESLE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRIR R BAE R T

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

As at 31 December 2018
12018512A31H

3to
On Lessthan less than 1t05 Over 5

demand 3 months 12 months years years Total
BEX TRB =EZTHEB
REE =R =R -Z5% RBEIF At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR%TR AR¥TRn

Financial liabilities included in other STAE B E

payables and accruals STERNERAR 645,665 - - - - 645,665
Interest-bearing bank and other sTERTREAMEE

borrowings 12,310 27,451 200,389 206,054 28,732 474,936
Put option liability EORE 3L - - - 981,500 - 981,500

657,975 27,451 200,389 1,187,554 28,732 2,102,101

As at 31 December 2017

2017412318
310
On  Lessthan  lessthan 1105 Over
demand  3months 12 months years 5 years Total

REL TRl —ET88
REE =EA A -E5if H#ALF &zt
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Financial liabilities included in other TR TSR R E
payables and accruals STERMERER 26259 - - - 262,590
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FtRRTREMESE 118,354 24,403 4,789 11,120 31,691 190,357

380,944 24,403 4,789 11,120 31,691 452,947

308 Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4&%EEFHERA =



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBI EE (8]8)

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base
so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of business.

The directors review the capital structure on a continuous
basis taking into account the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through raising new debts as
well as redemption of existing debts. The Group’s overall
strategy remained unchanged during the reporting period.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio
which is total liabilities divided by total assets. Capital
represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
debt-to-asset ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

4. TRAREEEEREE(E)

BAEHE

AEEHBER SEFISEEARER - N
RFEFERARTIZNEL - RFERR
KEEMER

%%T%ﬂ A EARRE - EEREARKA

REEBENERNER - RIEZESH
HBEES  ~AKEeERERMENE
CERAEBE FEERENEE - AEH
MEBRBEN RS HEERTE -

AEERAEEREXENES BE
BEXEAGEERINEERE - EX
BRI RREAE ARGRRE - RIS MR
MEERBHLEET

Total liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEAT
Debt-to-asset ratios BEAEX

The Group did not have any unutilised banking facilities at
the end of the year.

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARS T NS R
3,095,077 1,075,162
6,624,472 4,221,845
47% 25%

RER AEBEILETAERKRTE

B o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B WARMIEE ()

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

42, KA T2 BHEMRRE

RBEMR - KRRMBIRAKRZEHR

Information about the statement of financial position of the

310

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

WTRAR

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries MBAREE 789 789
Other non-current assets HEMIEmEEE 3,764 =
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 4,553 789
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries i ENGIE 1,247,220 492,763
Prepayments, other receivables and other TARTHR ~ Hfh U GRIE R A
assets & E 1,682 857
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTAARR 5,251 724,801
Total current assets MBEERE 1,254,153 1,218,421
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals H {th e B R BT B A 2,645 3,931
Due to subsidiaries FEATP B A RIFRIA 20,252 25,678
Total current liabilities mEaEEE 22,897 29,609
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEZRE 1,231,256 1,188,812
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABERE 1,235,809 1,189,601
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Due to a subsidiary LN NEINGIE S 102,886 97,460
Total non-current liabilities ERBaEERE 102,886 97,460
Net assets HEE 1,132,923 1,092,141
EQUITY R
Share capital &N 307 307
Reserves (note) & (MIEE) 1,132,616 1,091,834
Total equity 1BREZS 1,132,923 1,092,141
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
=85 MR RE
Director Director
- E-

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAEHRBEHER L 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

ARSI MTEE (1)
42, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42, RAT 2B BEMRRR(E)
COMPANY (continued)
Note: Mzt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARARFEBZBRBENOTAUR
Share
Capital option  Accumulated Exchange Total
reserve reserve losses fluctuation reserves

BAGERE  BREREA RitER  EXREERE ER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETr ARETR ARETR ARET:

At 1 January 2017 R201745151A - - (12,188) (2,141) (14,329)
Loss for the year FEER = = (53,945) = (53,945)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMEZENE :
Exchange differences on translation of foreign #E/EINER 2 [E L =5

operations - - - (60,317) (60,317)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEANREER - - (53,945) (60,317) (114,262)
Capitalisation issue of shares BERBEIRG (28) = = = (28)
Issue of shares pursuant to IPO REERDREERTRG 1,245,683 - - - 1,245,683
Share issue expenses RiDETER (28,530) = = - (28,530)
Recognition of share-based payment expenses MM AER 2 HHHNER = 3,300 = - 3,300
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R2017F 124318 %2018F1A1H 1,217,125 3,300 (66,133) (62,458) 1,091,834
Loss for the year EEEE = = (27,299) = (27,299)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREAM2EE :
Exchange differences on translation of foreign & BN EHK 2 EH 258

operations - - - 54,973 54,973
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZENGESR = = (27,299) 54,973 27,674
Recognition of share-based payment expenses BRI A& 2 O ER = 13,108 = = 13,108
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31R 1,217,125 16,408 (93,432) (7,485) 1,132,616
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options BN AR RIS R TEE ISR AT
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the B RETFEREMT 2. 440815 AR B 2k
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the SH BN o ZEEEN AR IR TS
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the Bl A E AR o X AR R R B HR RS B A
capital reserve account when the related options are exercised, or be RIZ%F o

transferred to retained profits should the related options expire.
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|IAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(&)

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Loan from Bank of China (Hong Kong) Company
Limited

In February 2019, according to a USD50 million banking
facilities agreement (the “Facilities Agreement”) signed
between the Company and Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, the Company withdrew HKD250 million
for 5 years, which was mainly used for the Company’s
mergers and acquisitions.

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 14 March 2019.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 #E SR ER A 7
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44.

BREMR2EH
[ EIRTT (B E)BR A AEH
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